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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EREHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of Royal China International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2018, the turnover of the Group increased by HK$29.9
million from HK$157.4 million for the fifteen months ended
31 December 2017 to HK$187.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2018. The overall gross profit decreased by
HK$6.4 million from HK$51.1 million for the fifteen months
ended 31 December 2017 to HK$44.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The increase in revenue was
mainly due to the increase in revenue from construction and
ancillary services of non-residential projects and the business
of aviation and traveling business, while the decrease in gross
profit was mainly due to the decrease in gross profit margin
from construction and ancillary services.

However, the Group recorded the loss attributable to the
owners of the Company of HK$17.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018, representing an increase of
approximately HK$7.2 million as compared with the loss
attributable to the owners of the Company of HK$10.2
million for the fifteen months ended 31 December 2017. The
increase in the loss attributable to the owners of the Company
was mainly due to decrease in gross profit margin from the
construction and ancillary services business which includes
design, fitting-out, decoration, alteration and addition,
construction and other related business and the increase in
operating expenses of the Group.

On 14 March 2018, the Group has obtained the licenses for
regulated activities under Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type
4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities (as defined in the SFO).

In order to alleviate the possible impact from the uncertainty
in Hong Kong property development industry on the segment
of construction and ancillary services business, the Group has
explored business opportunities for non-residential business
of construction and ancillary services and financial services.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

PROSPECT

In February 2019, the plan for the Greater Bay Area
development was released. The plan targets to transform
Hong Kong and 10 cities around the Pearl River Delta into a
thriving global center of technology, innovation and economic
vibrancy. The blueprint planned to consolidate and enhance
Hong Kong’s status as an international finance, transportation
and trade center, as well as an international aviation hub.

Under this favorable environment, the Group will continue
to broaden its customer bases of construction and ancillary
services to non-residential customers in order to reduce
our reliance on residential projects of Hong Kong residential
projects of Hong Kong based property developers and
uncertainty of Hong Kong property market. The Group will
also explore business opportunities of construction and
ancillary services in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area and financial services including dealing in securities,
advising on securities, asset management, financing business
and other business/investment opportunities for enhancing
our future development and strengthening our revenue bases.

APPRECIATION

We would like to thank our committed staff for their
contributions, our customers, business partners and
shareholders of the Company for their continued support to
the Group.

On behalf of the Board

LEONG HING LOONG RUDOFF
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R e B AT

The Board is pleased to present the results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (“FY2018”), together
with the comparative figures for the fifteen months ended 31
December 2017 (the “Relevant 2017 Period”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the FY2018, the revenue of the Group increased by
approximately 19.0% to approximately HK$187.3 million
mainly due to the increase in revenue from non-residential
projects of construction and ancillary services and aviation
and traveling services. The loss attributable to the owners of
the Company increased by 70.4% to approximately HK$17.4
million for the FY2018 mainly due to the decrease in gross
profit margin from the construction and ancillary services and
the increase in operating expenses of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business segments include three major
segments, namely construction and ancillary services, aviation
and traveling services and financial services.

During the FY2018, the revenue of the Group was increased
by 19.0% to HK$187.3 million (the Relevant 2017 Period:
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Aviation and traveling services 22 R 352 AR 155 36,482 19.5 28,010 17.8
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Revenue Uz 187,314 100 157,397 100
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R o B AT

CONSTRUCTION AND ANCILLARY SERVICES

Construction and ancillary services which include design,
fitting-out, decoration, alteration and addition, conduction
and other related businesses were the focus of our Group
business during the FY2018. During the FY2018, the revenue
from construction and ancillary services increased by 17.6%
to HK$150.8 million (the Relevant 2017 Period: HK$128.3
million). The increase in the revenue from this segment mainly
due to the contribution from non-residential projects of
construction and ancillary services.

In the FY2018, the major customers of the Group were
mostly well-established listed property developers based
in Hong Kong. Since the second half of 2018, Hong Kong
resident property market was affected by unfavorable market
conditions such as trade war between United States of
America and China and interest hikes in the United States
of America. In order to reduce the reliance on Hong Kong
property market, the Group has started to broaden customer
base to non-residential customers and explore business
opportunities of construction and ancillary services in
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.

AVIATION AND TRAVELING SERVICES

During the FY2018, the revenue from aviation and traveling
services recorded HK$36.5 million (the Relevant 2017 Period:
HK$28.0 million).

Aircraft management service

The Group provided aircraft management service for our
customers including flight scheduling, aircraft maintenance
and crew management. During the FY2018, the revenue
from aircraft management service was HK$36.5 million (the
Relevant 2017 Period: HK$20.0 million).

On 13 April 2018, Smart Empire Global Limited (“Smart
Empire”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, BAA Jet Management Limited (“BAA”), a top
business jet management company in China and Himalaya
Business Aviation Limited (“HBA”), an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into the
conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 13 April
2018 (the “Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which Smart
Empire conditionally agreed to acquire 49% equity interest
in HBA from BAA, for consideration of HK$4,900,000. The
completion of the Acquisition Agreement (the “Completion”)
has taken place on 20 April 2018. Upon the Completion, BAA
ceased to hold any equity interests in HBA and ceased to be
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R e B AT

a connected person of the Company in subsidiary level of the
Company. For details of Acquisition Agreement, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 13 April 2018
and 20 April 2018.

In July 2018, all the aircraft management agreements of the
Group were terminated.

FINANCIAL SERVICES

During the FY2018, there is no revenue generated from the
segment of financial services (the Relevant 2017 Period:
HK$1.1 million).

Precious metal trading

The Group obtained the ordinary membership (the
“Membership”) of The Chinese Gold & Silver Exchange
Society (the “CGSE”) in September 2017. Found in 1910,
CGSE is the sole exchange in Hong Kong which trades
physical gold and silver. Run on a membership-based system,
CGSE provides an exchange, facilities and related services
for its members or transaction of previous metals. The
Membership allows its holder to provide trading services of
gold, silver and precious metals for its customers and molding
of physical gold/silver bullion under physical gold and silver.

During the FY2018, there is no revenue generated from
precious metal trading (the Relevant 2017 Period: HK$0.6
million).

Financial service

On 14 March 2018, the Group obtained the licenses for
regulated activities under Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type
4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities (as defined in the SFO). The Group is
exploring and developing business opportunities in financial
services including dealing in securities, advising on securities,
asset management and financing business.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by HK$2.1 million
from HK$57.0 million in the Relevant 2017 Period to HK$59.1
million in FY2018. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in operating expenses of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R o B AT

Loss for the year

The Group recorded the loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of HK$17.4 million in FY2018 as compared
to the loss attributable to the owners of the Company of
HK$10.2 million in the Relevant 2017 Period mainly due to
the decrease in gross profit margin from construction and
ancillary services and the increase in operating expenses for
the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 26 employees (31
December 2017: 40) in Hong Kong and the PRC. The total
remuneration paid by the Group to its employees (including
Directors) for FY2018 was HK$30.5 million (the Relevant 2017
Period: HK$24.7 million).

The objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business
requirements and industry practice. In order to determine
the level of remuneration paid to its employees (including
Directors and senior management), the following factors are
considered:

° workload, responsibility and job complexity;

° business requirements;

° individual performance and contribution to results;

° company performance and profitability;

° retention considerations and the potential of individuals;

° corporate goals and objectives;

° market rates and changes in relevant markets, including
supply and demand fluctuations and changes in
competitive conditions; and

° general economic situation.

In addition to salaries, provident fund scheme and medical

insurance coverage and discretionary bonuses are available

to employees. Level of remuneration is reviewed annually.

During the review process, no individual director is involved in
decisions relating to his/her own remuneration.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R e B AT

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total cash and
bank balances of HK$105.8 million (31 December 2017:
HK$134.5 million) mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group continued to maintain a healthy liquidity position.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current assets
of HK$117.0 million (31 December 2017: HK$136.3 million).
The Group had current ratio of approximately 4.99 times as at
31 December 2018 compared to that of approximately 3.76
times at 31 December 2017.

The gearing ratio of the Group is defined as a percentage
of interest-bearing liabilities divided by total equity. As at 31
December 2018, the Group did not have any borrowing (31
December 2017: nil). Hence, as at 31 December 2018, the
gearing ratio was nil (31 December 2017: nil). The Group’s
working capital requirements were mainly financed by internal
resources.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi and also incurs cost in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk with respect mainly to Renminbi which may affect the
Group’s performance. The management is aware of the
possible exchange rate exposure due to the continuing
fluctuation of Renminbi and will closely monitor its impact on
the performance of the Group to see if any hedging policy is
necessary. The Group currently does not have any foreign
currency hedging policy.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

There was no pledged asset as at 31 December 2018 (31
December 2017: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R o B AT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE
OFFER

The net proceeds from the Company’s Share offer in
September 2015 amounted to approximately HK$100.0
million (after deducting underwriting commissions and all
related expenses).

With reference to announcements dated 16 October 2017, 7
November 2017 and 15 November 2017, the Group awarded
contracts of HK$123.5 million for design and build works for
residential property projects and office premises. In order to
better deploy the resources of the Group, the Board decided
to re-allocate HK$45 million which is originally planned for
financing the potential acquisition of companies and or/
businesses which are primarily engaged in DFD works and
the complement our existing business so as to expand our
contracting capabilities (the “Potential Acquisition”) to working
capital for awarded, ongoing and future construction and
ancillary services projects of HK$25 million and to additional
working capital and other general corporate purposes which
include rental expenses, directors’ remuneration, staff salary
and other corporate expenses of HK$20 million. The original
plans for the Potential Acquisitions will be withheld and/
or financed by internally generated resources of the Group.
Further details are set out in the announcements dated 13
April 2018, 12 July 2017 and 9 May 2017 respectively.

The proposed use of new proceeds from listing, and details
of the original allocation of the net proceeds, the revised
allocation of the net proceeds and the utilisation of the net
proceeds as at 31 December 2018 are set out below:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE T HEH N

Original Revised Remaining

allocation allocation  Utilisation balances

A

Planned use of proceeds FeRENEAE RESE ®ETSE CBHERE BARE

HKS$ million  HKS$ million  HK$ million  HK$ million

BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT

Financing the potential acquisition  FA{E&&EWEE 21 45.0 - = =
of companies and or/businesses ~ EHxit - EENEH
which are primarily engaged in IRREREMERE
DFD works and the complement B8 E &3

our existing business so as BRNES - WEE
to expand our contracting BRI AGERE
capabilities
Financing the establishment of new F{E &R A BT & 20.0 20.0 - 20.0
regional offices in the PRC NERBENES
Promoting our brand by REEBIMARMAE 156.0 - - -
strengthening our marketing 577 E SR HE BRI
efforts to increase our market o R TG INTI5 1
share #
Recruiting high caliber talents RERERER - & 10.0 4.9 4.9 -
in management, design, FF - K 95 88
decoration, finance, sales EREHITANSER
and marketing and enhancing BT A nsg A EDE
internal training to support future LA AR KIL K
growth
Additional working capital and REENEEESRHE 10.0 30.0 30.0 -
other general corporate fth—R AR AiE
purposes
Precious metal trading business  B4BX S EH - 15.0 12.3 2.7
Payment of subscription YRHEHA=T—tF - 5.1 5.1 -
agreement of HBA dated 12 Juy  +A+-BHEHRA
2017 BHRABHBARTZ
REE
Working capital for awarded, BER - BITRRERRK - 25.0 25.0 -

ongoing and future construction ~ HIAEEZEZNEE
and ancillary services projects of RISIBEZEEES

the Group
100.0 100.0 77.3 22.7
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES RARAR/
The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 RZ-ZZ—NFE+_A=+—0 REFITE
December 2018 (31 December 2017: nil). EAFAREBEB(ZE—+E+_A=+—8:
') o
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS SEKIE
The Group had no significant outstanding capital commitment W—-_ZT—-N\F+-_A=+—H KEFL
as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: nil). MEARBITEAAE(ZE—+F+-A
=+—H8:&)-
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTWME

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) submit their
report together with the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in construction and ancillary
services which include design, fitting-out, decoration,
alteration and addition, construction and other related
businesses, aviation and traveling services and financial
services. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and an analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2018 are provided in “Chairman’s Statement” on page 4
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 6.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group is facing can be found in “Chairman’s Statement”
on page 4. Also, the financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group can be found in note 5(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. The environmental policies
and performance are provided in “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on page 48.

The Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations
that have significant impact on the operations of the Group.

No important events affecting the Group have occurred
since the end of the financial year ended 31 December
2018. The Group’s future business development is set out in
“Chairman’s Statement” on page 4.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for FY2018 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 66.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five years is set out on page
183.

ARFER([EF)REREZIHRE  EF

AEEBE_T-N\Ft-A=+—ALHF
EZEERMERE -
ETBERE

ZAN/N TZI%%W%&%T B e $’$I££

(I 7= &HEEHE&‘“(,\&%
&~ K& - SBARM &ﬁ@ﬁ FEJ%
%) Mz ERLEHW“&%MHW“ ZN/NCTI

BRAZEBZEHHNGEVBRERME
27 °

REEE

BE_T-A\F+_A=+t—RHLEFEZAX
SEXBRBEELAEERBAZON - HER
FAEEFEREINFOE[ERENRED
frle AEEEH 2T ERBR M TABREER
REABTETFERE | AR - 5 NEE
ZHERAREREBRMBRENGEEMBR
KM EES(D) - RIMBER R RIRNE N F48H 2
[RiE e kE/r®E] -

AEEDET
FERER -

HBAKEZEEREZE N

BEE-T-N\F+-_A=+—HILMEF
EHERARLGEBZLZEAEECEES
o ARBZRREBERINFIATER
W& -

KRR 7K
AEE-_ZF— ) \FHRFREZEZEHNF66H
ZiEABEMEMEEBERA -

EETERERNHEE-_ZT-NF+ A
=t HALEFEZEMRYEE -

MGEE

AREEBERAF 7R EENEEREE
2B N E183E -
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December
2018, calculated under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands amounted to approximately HK$73.6 million (as of 31
December 2017: HK$85.1 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement’s in the share capital of the Company
during the FY2018 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during FY2018.

] it 53 i 5 O

RZZE—NE+-A=+—H X2 FEE
FAEREARENFE ARSI RFEELN A
736BE8ABL(ZE—+tF+=-_A=1+—8:
85.1E8EIL) °

MR BERXM

AEBZME BELRBFEEARGSH
BRI 14 -

B &

ARAR-ZFE—\MBFEABREKZ ZEF5F
BEN 4R A M I HAR M 23

REMEE

ARRZEABERANAHAEREEARLE
BRBEE G EM<SARRARLLA
3R A R % A -

ME HEXRRMOFLFZLE
=5
RoZ— \BBFE - AR R E T E

AFBEEE L S E AL R £
B
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff (Chairman)

Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 10 April 2018 and reappointed on 27 August
2018)

Mr. SHIH Steven Chun Ning (appointed on 27 August 2018)

Ms. GAO Jinyi (appointed on 2 January 2019)

Mr. DENG Kui (resigned on 26 September 2018)
Mr. LIU Yong Sheng (resigned on 10 April 2018)
Mr. ZHOU Hucheng (resigned on 10 April 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. HO Hin Yip (appointed on 27 August 2018)

Mr. CHAN Kwong Ming Johnny

(appointed on 27 August 2018)
Mr. LU Zhuohui (appointed on 1 January 2019)
Mr. LEE Frank King-ting

(appointed on 27 August 2018

and resigned on 31 December 2018)
Mr. LIU Gang (resigned on 26 September 2018)
Mr. YU Haizong (resigned on 26 September 2018)

Ms. AN Yiging (resigned on 26 September 2018)

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his or her
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all of the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

In accordance with article 83(3) & 84(1) of the Articles of
Association, Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong, Mr. SHIH
Steven Chun Ning, Ms. GAO Jinyi, Mr. HO Hin Yip, Mr. CHAN
Kwong Ming Johnny and Mr. LU Zhuohui shall retire from
office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EF
AEERBEAREABUEAADEEMT -

BITEE

REE L (FE)

ErgE Lt (7T AEE)
(RZFE-\FOATEBRERR -F
—NFENAZ+LBEEEZME)

ERELEE(R-_T-\FANA-_+LtBE
EE)

SHELL(R_T-NF-A-REZE)

BEXE(R-ZE-N\FAAZ+AEIE)

BokELRE(RZT-N\FHA+HEE)

BRBEE(R_T—-N\FMEHA+HET)

BWIUFRITES

MERE(RZTE-—NFNA-_TLHE
=)

RAEBREER-_Z-NFNA-_+LBE
Z1E)

EEEAE (R T NF-A—REZME)
FMREEMR_ZE-NFNA-_+LHE
RERR-_ZE-NF+A=1+—HEE)

Bt (MR- N\FAAZ+RABE)

REREE(RZE—NFAAZFBE
)

ZAELT (R-F-A\FAA-+ AE
=)

ARRIDBEBUIFATEFEEREEZA
BREBXMES EHRANTETRANDH
BABKIEH Z B M FERR - AR ARR
EEBIUFATEFHR/BILAL -

R4 2 = A2 48 B 5 83(3) K 84(1) ik - AL
Lt miRELE SHRELL - {ATEE
£ BREBEERESELEEFRE LK
BEBMRERERRBEFAG LEREET-
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CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors’ Position Held
On 10 April 2018:

- Mr. LIU Yong Sheng resigned as an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

- Mr. ZHOU Hucheng resigned as an executive Director.

- Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong resigned as an
executive Director.

On 27 August 2018:

- Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong was appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

- Mr. SHIH Steven Chun Ning was appointed as an
executive Director.

- Mr. HO Hin Yip was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

- Mr. CHAN Kwong Ming Johnny was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

- Mr. LEE Frank King-ting was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee.

- Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff was appointed as
a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

- Mr. DENG Kui resigned as chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

16 Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE
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= Mr. LIU Gang resigned as chairman of remuneration
committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

= Mr. YU Haizong resigned as chairman of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

- Ms. AN Yiging resigned as a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

On 26 September 2018:

- Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff was appointed as
Chairman of the Board.

- Mr. DENG Kui resigned as an executive Director and
Chairman of the Board.

- Mr. LIU Gang resigned as an independent non-executive
Director.

- Mr. YU Haizong resigned as an independent
non-executive Director.

- Ms. AN Yiging resigned as an independent
non-executive Director.

On 31 December 2018:

- Mr. LEE Frank King-ting resigned as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

On 1 January 2019:

- Mr. LU Zhuohui was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

On 2 January 2019:

- Ms. GAO Jinyi was appointed as an executive Director.

R AEEBRTFHNZESEEREX
ZEEKE °

REFRTERTERZEE®E
FHEZEERERRBEXE -

F& LA B

RZE—NFLAZ=Z+H:

n=

n=

n=

PHER L ERTREESEE -
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B EBIBYIENTES -
REFEABEEIERTES -
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—NFE—HF—H:
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Director’s Emoluments ESE

The Board approved (as recommended by the Remuneration EZEZ &2 /& (BHEMEESMES) U T
Committee) the following: HI8

- The remuneration of Mr. LIU Gang, Mr. YU Haizong and  —
Ms. AN Yiging was revised from HK$120,000 per annum
to HK$240,000 per annum with effective from 10 May
2018.

- The performance bonuses of HK$1,130,000 was —
granted to Mr. DENG Kui and HK$60,000 was granted
to each of Mr. LIU Gang, Mr. YU Haizong and Ms. AN
Yiging.

- The remuneration of Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi  —
Chong and Mr. SHIH Steven Chung Ning was fixed at
HK$2,000,000 per annum and HK$950,950 per annum
respectively with effect from 27 August 2018. The
remuneration to each of Mr. HO Hip Yip, Mr. CHAN
Kwong Ming Johnny and Mr. LEE Frank King-ting was
fixed at HK$240,000 per annum effect from 27 August
2018.

- The remuneration of Mr. LU Zhuohui was fixed at —
HK$240,000 per annum effect from 1 January 2019.

- The remuneration of Ms. GAO Jinyi was fixed at —
HK$780,000 per annum effect from 2 January 2019.

2L E REREERLZPS LT
2 B& T A S F120,0008 TIEE] A
FF240,0008 L WA ZZFE—N\FH
BT+H®EBEMR-

1,130,000/ 70 2 FRILIEAL B M B = 5%
A B R M60,0008 T 2 RIBIEALE o
BlEBIMEE REREERTHT
LR -

ARt RERELEZHES T
2 B E] A& 2,000,000 T & FF
950,950 T TR =ZZF— NF/)\A
Tt RRBERMITELAE R
BAEERFTWMAEESEZEHE T
B F240,0008 7L YR =T —N\F
NAZ++BBER-

Fre @i 2 B & ThET A S F240,000
Bt YR -_T-AF—F—B#E4L
B e

B8 1 L+ 2 Bl 733158 4780,000
BT AR A AL
2

Saved as disclosed above, there is no other information % EXFr#EEZEI - HEEMIEE FTHREIS
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the 13.51B(1{&B ¥ E 2 E Kl -

Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or were interested in
any business which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 29 to 32.

EEZRBEN

BREERRBFRGLERET EES
B EA KB B AR L ERREE
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BMESEUFEN RN EREREESX
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interest and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares and dentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong, the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Divisions
7 and 8 of the SFO; as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as
follows:

EERESITHRARRKHGRHE
Mk z@ERIXE

R-E—N\E+-_F=+—H8 BENES
TERABRARARSKETEMAEEE (F&
REBENET1EFF LS G ([FFH
MEAEIEHI]) EXVED) R 5 AR D
BEHFETREBRIEFES R EIEGIHE7RED
MEBAMGARARBINER AR
FARIR F 5 M E K0 5535216 AR 8 R 7%
AT E R MMERS AR RE TR
BIB SR +FTS B ITAZFHITELRRS
FIZESF R ([T R EMEg RNAE R
RS FOABR T

Approximate
percentage of

Number issued Shares
Name of Directors Nature of interest of Shares HERTERA
EFEnEa HaHE K& H @Bivaastt
Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff Interest of controlled 375,000,000 75%
(“Mr. LEONG”) corporation
REELE(TREE]D REEER R
Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong Interest of spouse 375,000,000 75%
(“Ms. CHEW?”)
Azt (TAZL]) fic (B 7 =
Notes: Hiat -
1. Percentage figures were calculated based on 500,000,000 ordinary 1. BAOLBFIRER-_Z-N\F+=A EJFfa

shares (“Shares”) of the Company having a par value of HK$0.01 each in
issue as of 31 December 2018.

2. Each of Mr. LEONG and Ms. CHEW was beneficially interested in 75%
and 25% of the issued share capital of Starcross Group Limited (“SGL”)
respectively. SGL was the registered holder of 375,000,000 Shares.
Under Part XV of the SFO, Mr. LEONG was therefore deemed to have
interests in 375,000,000 Shares in which SGL was interested.

3. Ms. CHEW being the spouse of Mr. LEONG was therefore deemed to
have interests in the same parcel of the Shares in which Mr. LEONG was

interested under Part XV of the SFO.

4. All interests stated above represented long positions.

78 A H]500,000,000/% & i% E E0.018 7T 2 B AR
(TR aTE -

2. R K EZ 4 5 Bl B % ¥ B Starcross Group
Limited ([ SGL J) 75% % 25% 2 & 3% 17 & A& » SGL
/875,000,000 &7 2 B A A - Bt - BIE
BH RS G H EXVED - 25k & AR A RSGLE
A # 25 #9375,000,0000% f% 17 7 A HE 2 o

3. ALt AREENER At REEFRHE
BOIXVER - AR LTHRE RN RELEHEEENHRE
BRI h A

4. Lt FREREIIETR -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors and chief executive had any interests or short
positions in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Division 7 and 8 of the SFO or which were required to be
entered in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the following person (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

BREXHEREEN R-2ZF—N\FE+-A
=t—B BMEBEEERKSTBRAERAR
A EEMAREZE (EE AR5 MAEKF
{FIEXVED) B EM AL - B HEFF
BEECARIEER MRERIIFE7 28D ER
EAMEGARRNR LB RO ERIORE » X
R IB 78 5 M B 15 D) 535216 78 70 85 10 7% 1
PRIEE R MEERIORE  HARBRESTR
BHEARRA LB FAOEDIOXE

ERERAMATRENRA
B0 iz &2

RZF-NF+=A=+—B  UFAL(E
RAMEEARBTRABRIN RADF
B9 AR B IS R 8 1 AR 1B 5B 5 T AR
EXVI B2 R3D WHEAAAD FHE MR
FHAR  RERFRFAAREES RS
B {6 ) 30615 A B 2 B M2 M K

) I

Approximate
percentage of

Number issued Shares
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest of Shares HERTRHA
BRBE BaEME Bir& A BvES Lt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(H1aE1) (Kist2)
SGL (Note 2) Beneficial owner 375,000,000 75.0%
SGL (A7z22) E=EAA
Chance Achieve Limited Person having a security 151,111,111 30.2%
(“Chance Achieve”) (Note 4) interest in shares
Chance Achieve Limited BAERMDAOREBEEZDA
([Chance Achieve ) (K#t:t4)
Voice Chosen Investment Limited Person having a security 118,645,358 23.7%
(“Voice Chosen”) (Note 5) interest in shares
Voice Chosen Investment Limited BAERNBREFEEZRDA
([Voice Chosen ) (#77%5)
Notes: Kiat -
1. All interests stated above as at 31 December 2018 represented long 1. FER - E-NE+_A=+—H %Y
positions. BiFE -

2. The percentage figures were calculated based on 500,000,000 Shares
in issue as of 31 December 2018.

3. SGL was registered holder of 375,000,000 Shares. The issued share
capital of SGL was owned as to 75% by Mr. Leong and 25% by
Ms. Chew.

4, According to the information available to the Company, the 151,111,111
Shares held by SGL were pledged to Chance Achieve pursuant to a
facility agreement entered into between SGL and Chance Achieve dated
15 November 2018.

5. According to the information available to the Company, the 118,645,358
Shares held by SGL were pledged to Voice Chosen pursuant to a facility
agreement entered into between SGL and Voice Chosen dated 15
November 2018.

2. BB ENRER-_Z—N\F+_A=+—8
2500,000,000/% B #1751 & -

3. SGLA375,000,000% % 7 #) & 5 B A ° SGL
WEBTRABRREERALZ LD REET5%R
25% °

4. RIBEAR AR EFSHER - SGLIFE 151,111,111
% f% 17 2 18 #E SGLEChance AchievePTs] 37 B £§
BT N\E+—A+RABNREHEMEET

Chance Achieve °

5. RIEA QA RESHE R SGLIE A #9118,645,358
A% B% 17 2 1R #ESGLEEVoice Chosenffiz] 32 H 81 &
CE-NFE+-A+RABENREAREMERT

Voice Chosen °
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the
Company had not been notified of any other persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted on 13 August
2015 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant
share options to any directors, employees, consultants,
customers, suppliers of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interests (“Invested Entity”) who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group so as to provide incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the success of the Group’s
operation. During the year ended 31 December 2018, no
share option was granted by the Company under the Share
Option Scheme.

Summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme is as
follows:

(@) Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible participants to
(i) motivate them to optimise their performance efficiently
for the benefit of the Group; and (i) attract and retain or
maintain on-going business relationship with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group.

R EXFHEEN R_B—-AF+H
=+—H AARLEEEHEMEMAL
(ARFMNEFHRSTHRAEBRIN RALRQ
A AR NP EERERE S LB E K
I SEXVER 552 R 370 BB R X AR R AN 1 B 3 B8 A9
BEIAR  RELBRARRREBEESFK
HERHIEIBCIRATECECM 2 ERERK
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KA o

RS AR #E Bt &

RER-F—AFN\A+=RKRM2BEE
8 ([BRERTE)) - ARBAIRESE S
BEBERARECIBRAREERRERER
ERMASEERKE AR ARERFAE
MEEzZEAER ((RKREER] 2EM
EF EE ERH TP EmaRBHE
BRTEERE UARRERAEE 2 EEN
RIEHBERIR KRR B kR - RBE—F
—NF+ZA=+t—HLFE XRABALE
AR AR AT 813 o ) P BEOHE
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(a) HEY
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Eligible Participants

Any employees (whether full time or part time), directors
(including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any subsidiary
of the Group or any Invested Entity, any customers,
suppliers of goods and services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity and such other
persons or entities (“Eligible Participants”) who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the Group
or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time. The
total number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as
at the date of listing of the Shares unless the Company
obtains the approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting for refreshment.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options (whether exercised or
outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Participant must not exceed 1.0% of
the total number of Shares in issue; and

(i)  a substantial Shareholder or an independent
non-executive director must not exceed 0.1% of
the total number of Shares in issue and not exceed
HK$5.0 million in aggregate value.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the
date on which it is granted or such shorter period as the
Board may specify at the time of grant.

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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(f) Minimum period, if any, for which an option must
be held

No minimum period for which the option has to be held
before it can be exercised is specified in the Share
Option Scheme.

(g) Period open for acceptable of an option and
amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an
Eligible Participant within 21 days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00
is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an
option.

(h) Basis of determining the subscription price of an
option

The exercise price must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant;
(ii) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

(i) Validity of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will
expire on 12 August 2025 unless otherwise terminated
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASES SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year and up to the date of this report
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the FY2018.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s five
largest group customers by related groups in aggregate
accounted for approximately 91% of the Group’s total
turnover. The largest group customer accounted for
approximately 34% of the Group’s total turnover.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s five
largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately
70% of the Group’s total purchases. The largest supplier
accounted for approximately 31% of the Group’s total
purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their respective associates or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major
suppliers or customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
by the Group during the year in ordinary course of business
are set up in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

On 14 September 2017, Himalaya Business Aviation Limited
(“HBA”), an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and BAA Jet Management Limited (“BAA”), a
shareholder of 49% of the equity interest of HBA, entered into
the Services Framework Agreement in relation to the provision
of the Business Jet Management Services by BAA to HBA, for
a period commencing from 15 September 2017 and ending
on 31 December 2019. As such, BAA is a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level under Rule 14A.06(9)
of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Business Jet Management
Services contemplated under the Services Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. HBA
decided to subcontract part of such aircraft management
service to BAA in order to reply on the expertise in aircraft
management of BAA and thus improve efficiency and cost
effectiveness of the provision of such services of the Group.
For each of the financial years ending 31 December 2017,
2018 and 2019, it is expected that the amount of service
fees which may be charged by BAA for the provision of
Business Jet Management Services to HBA shall not exceed
US$3.1 million, US$11.2 million and US$11.8 million (which is
equivalent to approximately HK$24.0 million, HK$87.6 million
and HK$91.9 million) respectively pursuant to the Services
Framework Agreement. Further details are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 14 September 2017,
On 13 April 2018, Smart Empire, BAA and HBA entered
into the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 13
April 2018 (the “Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which
Smart Empire Global Limited conditionally agreed to acquire
49% equity interest in HBA from BAA, for consideration of
HK$4,900,000. The completion of the Acquisition Agreement
(the “Completion”) has taken place on 20 April 2018. Upon
the Completion, BAA ceased to hold any equity interests in
HBA and ceased to be a connected person of the Company
in subsidiary level of the Company. For details of Acquisition
Agreement, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 13 April 2018 and 20 April 2018. From 1
January to 20 April 2018, the service fees charged by BAA
for the provision of Business Jet Management Services was
HK$16.3 million (the Relevant 2017 Period: HK$13 million).

The amount of service fees charged by BAA for provision
of Business Jet Management Services did not exceed the
corresponding annual cap for the FY2018 as announced by
the Company on 14 September 2017.

The independent non-executive Directors has reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the transaction has been entered into ordinary course and
usual course of business of the Group, on normal commercial
terms and that the terms thereof and the relevant annual caps
thereto are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing the
auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions have
not been exceeded the annual cap, in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditors’ letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Corporate Governance Report are set out on
page 33.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at 26 September 2018, immediately following the close of
the Offer, 117,282,000 Shares, representing approximately
23.46% of the entire issued share capital of the Company
were held by the public (within the meaning of the Listing
Rules). Accordingly, following the close to the Offer, less
than 25% of the issued Shares are held by the public and
the Company did not satisfy the minimum public float
requirement as set out under Rule 8.08 (1) of the Listing
Rules. An application was made by the Company to the Stock
Exchange for a temporary waiver from the strict compliance
with Rule 8.08 (1) (a) of the Listing Rules for the period
commencing from 26 September 2018 to 19 October 2018
(the “Waiver”). On 5 October 2018, the Stock Exchange
granted the Waiver to the Company.

On 10 October 2018, Starcross Group Limited as Offeror
entered into a placing agreement with Guotai Junan Securities
(Hong Kong) Limited (the “Placing Agent”) for placing of up to
7,718,000 Shares held by the Offeror on a best effort basis to
independent placees (the “Placing”).

Immediately after completion of the Placing on 15 October
2018, 125,000,000 Shares, representing 25% of the entire
issued Shares of the Company, was held by the public. As
such, the minimum public float of 25% as required under Rule
8.08 of the Listing Rules has been restored.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 23 January 2019, Thousand Profit International Limited
(“Thousand Profit”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into the sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party pursuant to which Thousand
Profit and the independent third party agreed to acquire
the entire issued share capital of Smart Empire Global
Limited (“Smart Empire”) for an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$13,579,000. The completion of the sales
and purchase agreement has been taken place on 28 January
2019 (the “Completion”). Upon the Completion, Smart
Empire had ceased to an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and the Company had ceased to have any
interests in Smart Empire and the results of Smart Empire
and its subsidiaries had been no longer be consolidated with
results of the Group. For details of the sales and purchase
agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 23 January 2019.

On 28 February 2019, Sincere Sword International Limited
(“Sincere Sword”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and a borrower entered into the loan agreement
pursuant to which Sincere Sword has agreed to grant the
loan in the amount of HK$40,000,000 to the borrower for a
term of twelve months from the effective date. For details of
the loan agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 February 2019.

Details of the events after reporting period are set out in Note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS
The consolidated financial statements for FY2018 have been
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who will

retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

LEONG HING LOONG RUDOFF
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff, aged 51, was appointed
as a Director on 19 January 2015, and was re-designated
as an executive Director on 24 April 2015. Mr. LEONG is
primarily responsible for managing business operation and
client relationship in the business of design, fit out and
decoration. Mr. LEONG is the spouse of Ms. CHEW Christina
Mooi Chong, an executive Director of the Company.

Mr. LEONG has over 29 years of experience in architectural
design, and interior design and fit out with most of such
experience gained in Hong Kong. Prior to the establishment
of the Group, Mr. LEONG had developed his career in
architectural practices in both Australia and Hong Kong.
Mr. LEONG has worked for our Group for over 20 years since
the commencement of business of LCL Architects Limited in
1996.

Mr. LEONG obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Architecture
from the University of Western Australia in Australia in
December 1989. He has been a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Architects and an Overseas Member Level 1 of
the Royal Australian Institute of Architects (formerly known as
the Australian Institute of Architects) since April 1992. He has
been a registered architect in Hong Kong since 1992. He was
also a Chartered International Member of the Royal Institute
of British Architects from 1992 to 2012. He is also currently a
Hong Kong authorised person (architect).

Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong, aged 52, was
reappointed as an executive Director on 27 August 2018
after her resignation as an executive Director on 10 April
2018, Ms. CHEW is primarily responsible for overseeing the
daily operation of our Group’s business of design, fit out
and decoration (“DFD”), including generating and guiding
design concepts, and supervising the sales department of
our Group’s DFD business. Ms. CHEW is the spouse of
Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff, Chairman and an executive
Director of the Company.

Ms. CHEW has over 29 years of experience in architectural
design, and interior design and fit out with most of such
experience gained in Hong Kong. Prior to the establishment
of the Group, Ms. CHEW had developed her career in
architectural practices in Australia and Hong Kong. Ms. CHEW
has worked for our Group for over 20 years since the
commencement of business of LCL Architects Limited in 1996.
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Ms. CHEW obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Applied
Science (Architectural Science) and a Bachelor’s Degree in
Architecture in February 1988 and February 1990 respectively
from Curtin University of Technology (Western Australia). She
has been a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects
since June 1994. She has also been an Overseas Member
Level 1 of the Royal Australian Institute of Architects (formerly
known as the Australian Institute of Architects) since April
1994, a Chartered International Member of the Royal Institute
of British Architects since March 1995, a registered architect
in Hong Kong and an authorised person (architect) in Hong
Kong since January 1995.

Mr. SHIH Steven Chun Ning, aged 55, was appointed as
an executive Director on 27 August 2018 after his resignation
as an executive Director on 10 February 2017. He is mainly
responsible for business development for our Group in the
PRC, managing client relationship and exploring new business
opportunities of DFD. He also coordinates drafting services
for our Group.

Mr. SHIH joined our Group in 2011 to develop our Group’s
DFD business in Hong Kong and the PRC and later provided
drafting work service to our Group. He was appointed as
our Director on 24 April 2015, and was re-designated as
our executive Director on 24 April 2015 and resigned on
10 February 2017. Mr. SHIH has over 10 years of banking
experience with a number of investment banks in Hong Kong
from 1988 to 1999. Mr. SHIH left the banking field in 1999
and invested a majority stake in a listed company that was
principally engaged in the telephone handset design and
manufacturing in July 1999 which was formerly listed on the
Stock Exchange and he became the chairman in September
1999. He later disposed of his shareholding interests of
that company in 2000. He is currently a director of each of
Tung Mei Design (H.K.) Holding Co. Limited (“TM Design”)
and FYITHEZZ TIEAR A F(Shenzhen Meike Design
and Construction Company Limited*) (“SZ Meike”), and a
50% shareholder of TM Design and a legal representative
of SZ Meike. TM Design and SZ Meike are principally
engaged in providing design and fit out work for retail
shops and a number of commercial offices, and providing
drafting services, respectively. The business of TM Design
and SZ Meike may compete with business of the Group
and the potential competing interests have been disclosed
in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management
— Potential Competing Interests” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 21 August 2015.

* For identification purpose
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Mr. SHIH obtained his Bachelor’'s degree in Science from
the University of British Columbia in 1986 and his Master’s
degree in Business Administration from the same university in
1988.

Ms. GAO Jinyi, aged 36, has extensive experience in
fund management and investment. Ms. GAO is primarily
responsible for managing operation of the Group’s financial
services business. She is a responsible officer under the
SFO for Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising
on securities) and Type 9 (asset management). Ms. GAO
has held various senior management positions in financial
institutions of Mainland China and overseas. Prior to her
appointment, Ms. GAO was Senior Investment Director of
China Region in Ping An Securities Limited and Investment
Director and senior management of private equity fund of
Zhongrong Huixing Asset Management Co., Ltd. From 2010
to 2012, Ms. Gao was appointed as a member of Financial
Professional Committee of the Guangdong’s Association for
Promotion of Cooperation Guangdong, Hong Kong & Macao
which conduct research on key projects in Guangdong,
Hong Kong and Macau and provide professional advice to
the government on financial development for promoting the
cooperation among enterprises in Guangdong, Hong Kong
and Macau and closely cooperation among the three regions.
Ms. GAO has obtained Master of Business Administration
from the University of Hong Kong and a qualification of fund
professional by Securities Association of China.

Mr. HO Hin Yip, aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 27 August 2018 and has more
than 20 years of financial and auditing experience. Since
April 2012, he is the financial controller and joint company
secretary of Dukang Distillers Holdings Limited (stock code:
BKV), a company listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited,
where he is responsible for the finance and accounting
functions, statutory compliance and corporate governance
affairs. He had been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company from 13 August
2015 to 10 February 2017. He was also appointed as an
independent non-executive director of each of China Ever
Grand Financial Leasing Group Co., Ltd (formerly known as
PME Group Limited) (stock code: 379), Xinhua News Media
Holdings Limited (stock code: 309), and Jiyi Household
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1495), all are
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
since December 2012, December 2014 and October 2015
respectively.

Mr. HO received his bachelor’s degree in business
administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in December 1997. He was admitted as a member and a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in August 2000 and August 2005, respectively.
He is registered as a certified public accountant (Practising) of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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EENERERERE

Mr. CHAN Kwong Ming Johnny, aged 47, has founded
Titan Works Limited. He received his Bachelor of Arts
degree from the University of Toronto in 1994. He is serving
as a Director of University of Toronto (HK) Foundation,
Standing Director of Hong Kong Chinese General Chamber
of Commerce and Chairman of External Affairs Committee.
He had been appointed as part-time member from January
2009 to December 2010 and associate member from
February 2014 to June 2017 of Central Policy Unit of the
HKSAR Government. He had been appointed a member of
sub-committee on promotion of corporate volunteering of
Social Welfare Department the HKSAR Government from April
2012 to March 2014 and from April 2016 to March 2018.
Since June 2018, he had been appointed as a member of
Central & District Coordinating Committee on New Arrival
Services.

Mr. LU Zhuohui, aged 35, has extensive financial
management experience. Mr. LU had served KPMG Huazhen
Certified Public Accountants for more than 10 years and
provided services to numbers of large Chinese companies
and multinational corporations and international organizations.
Mr. LU is currently the Chief Financial Officer of Guangzhou
711 Electronic Information Technology Company Limited
which is mainly engaged in finance lease, intelligent travel
platform and data management business. Mr. LU holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Public Affairs and Administration from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHU Ben Yu, aged 46, was appointed as Chief Financial
Officer, Company Secretary and authorised representative of
the Company since 27 February 2017. Mr. ZHU is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall financial management of
our Group and company secretarial matters.

Mr. ZHU obtained a Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration and Executive Master of Business
Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. ZHU is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a Chartered Accountant of
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. Mr. ZHU
has over 20 years of experience in financial management,
corporate finance and auditing. Mr. ZHU was chief financial
officers, financial controllers and company secretary of several
companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and to enhance corporate
value and responsibility. The Board comprises four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The Board has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2018
and up to the date of this report, the Company has complied
with the code provisions under the CG Code, except for the
following deviation:

Mr. LIU Yong Sheng (Mr. “LIU") resigned as an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company on
10 April 2018. For the period between the resignation of
Mr. LIU on 10 April 2018 and the appointment of Ms. CHEW
Christina Mooi Chong (“Ms. CHEW”) as an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 27 August
2018, no individual was appointed as chief executive officer
of the Company. The role of the chief executive officer has
been performed by the Chairman and executive directors of
the Company. With effect from 27 August 2018, Ms. CHEW
was appointed as an executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. The code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code is therefore complied with.

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure that it continues to meet the requirements
under the Code Provisions.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for
Directors in dealing in the Company’s securities. Specific
enquiries have been made to all Directors and all Directors
have confirmed that they have fully complied with the required
standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

ARB—BERARFRKFEEER - R
BARARREaMREACEEEREE-
EEeHUENTESER=ZR2BIIFRNTT
EFMAK-EFECRMEMARRIME T
e ceExERTA ([REERTA Z
STAMEX - RARRBE-_FT—N\F+=A
=t —BUEFEREERAREAHILCEST

EEEBTRTZTRMEI - AT 2 mBE
BEER S -
BoxaERE(RRENDR T NFHA+

BEEARARRMITESREFATE - £
EER-_ZF—/\FOATHEEERBERL
T(RAXEDRZZE-N\FNA-_TLAE
ZERRRARITESRITRARSNH I
BEMATEZERARBITHRAR - 7T
BEZACHARAEERRITESET
AXER—_FE-NFNA-_TLAEZER
RAFTRTEEHRITEAE - AR BT
EEERATZ TR EA2. 1M -

ARAERBASEACRERER  BREMA
BATRRNZMATE -

EFETESXACRETR

EECHEMETRAIME T B 2T EST
A EREFEEARAER 2BETTAl

ﬁ%%ﬁ%”ﬁﬁ%gﬁ& PREZCHE

REEREBEZ2_Z— ) \F+_A=+—81L
igaiﬁhﬁﬁ+7%ﬁﬁZM#X%£
Al o

Annual Report 2018 fE4R

33



34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

;LI/_/\-/\—\

1FE 3= /D#&m

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board has established
three board committees, being the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
(each a “Board Committee” and collectively the “Board
Committees”), to oversee different areas of the Company’s
affairs.

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors,
namely Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff, Ms. CHEW Christina
Mooi Chong, Mr. SHIH Steven Chun Ning, and Ms. GAO
Jinyi and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. HO Hin Yip, Mr. CHAN Kwong Ming Johnny and
Mr. LU Zhuohui. The posts of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company are separately held by Mr. LEONG
Hing Loong Rudoff and Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong
respectively, to maintain an segregation of duties between
the Chairman’s responsibility to manage the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility to manage the Group’s
business and oversee the management.

Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 29 to 32 in this
annual report. A list of the Directors identifying their roles
and functions is available on the Stock Exchange’s and the
Company’s websites.

The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives and
strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating and financial
performance and reviews the corporate governance standard
of the Group. It also decides on matters such as annual and
interim results, major transactions, director appointments or
re-appointments, investment policy, dividend and accounting
policies. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for implementing its business strategies and
managing the daily operations of the Group’s businesses to
the executive Directors and members of senior management.
The functions and power that are so delegated are reviewed
periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate.

All Directors are required to declare to the Board upon their
first appointment, the directorships or other positions they
are concurrently holding at other companies or organisations.
These interests are updated on an annual basis and when
necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Company’s corporate governance function is carried out
by the Board pursuant to provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
which include (a) to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the board; (b) to review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) to
review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the
Group and the Directors; and (e) to review the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and relevant disclosure in
the corporate governance report of the annual report of the
Company.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS

Regular board meetings are held at quarterly intervals with
additional meetings convened as and when necessary
to discuss the overall strategic directions, the Group’s
operations, financial performance, and to approve interim
and annual results and other significant matters. For regular
meetings, Board members are given at least 14 days prior
notice and agenda with supporting papers are sent to
Directors not less than 3 days before the relevant meeting is
held. Directors may propose to the Chairman or the Company
Secretary to include matters in the agenda for regular board
meetings.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect
interests, if any, in any proposals or transactions to be
considered by the Board at board meetings and abstain from
voting on the related board resolutions as appropriate.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees
are kept by the Company Secretary in sufficient details of
the matters considered and decisions reached, including
dissenting views expressed, and are open for inspection on
reasonable notice by any Director. Draft and final versions
of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board
meeting is held.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring the Board
procedures are followed.

ERELSWEE

EEeREBEHELCXREATAEDIMURET
ARAHEERERARBE  HPBE@QHE R
mEARR Tmmﬁamﬁ &ﬁﬁiﬁ%%
SRALEBRZ  ORIMEEEAEEES

=&EEEWEM&%K§%¥@ (o)
ARERARAREETERREERET @
MBREER  (AFE R RERAEE
BENMEFNRTEAERARFTMNA)
Ke)at AR B EEERTANETERR
EARRFHNEREAREANBERE -

EEEER

EXESTHSFERTERA URARER
AFENEF  UBESBRERESH  AK
EMEE MHERAERIETRRFEXE

REMEAEE REHREEME EFE
&E\J‘Tﬁﬁi?ﬁﬁf‘ﬁ?%ﬁa MARZEBRA

A2 CERMEXH) REBEHRTAH
Eﬂ%iti EZ-EFARAEIFEALA
WEEZBNENEFTSSRARANIEMEE -

EFERHEFEERERAEMNPRIRR

B ERARREERAFEENS (ZZWE)
VHEBEBRTHREBESTSRERZNER

EXeNEFZREENERCEARANE
BERE HTBHERMERFHENMME
HARAENEAHE  BREARERYER
MmABBLSEA AFAEAEERAEEMT
EH -REFEERORARAEBRAAN 2
“%%ﬂﬁ%ﬁég%uafﬂ’ﬁﬂﬁﬂiﬁ » DA
HEFRHUER ML ERTE

ARREFEERER 2REEFTAA
AE BRSBTS -

Annual Report 2018 fE4R

35



36

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

M A S/
ﬁﬁ%%fﬁﬁgl

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board held 13 Board meetings during the year ended
31 December 2018. The attendance of each Director at the
Board meetings is set out in the paragraph headed “Board
Committees” below. During the year under review, the Board
reviewed the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report
to ensure compliance.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance coverage has been arranged in respect
of indemnification against costs, charges, losses, expenses
and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors and
officers of the Company in the execution and discharge of
their duties.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are aware of their responsibilities to the
Shareholders and have exercised their duties with care,
skill and diligence, in pursuit of the development of the
Group. They have to participate in continuous professional
development through internal or external training organised by
the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company organised a training session relating to connected
transactions under the Listing Rules to each of the Directors.
All directors attended the training and complied with the
requirement of the CG Code on continuous professional
development during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business
and operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of his
duties and responsibilities as a director under applicable rules
and requirements.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to
provide independent and objective opinions to the Board,
giving adequate control and balances for the Group to protect
the overall interests of the Shareholders and the Group. They
serve actively on the Board and its committees to provide
their independent and objective views.
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In compliance with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors, representing more than one-third of
the Board. One of the independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. HO Hin Yip, has the appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written confirmation of his
independence and has satisfied itself of such independence in
accordance with the independent guidelines as set out in rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each Board Committee has its
defined and written terms of reference approved by the
Board covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms
of reference are available on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, including access to management or
professional advice if considered necessary.

(i) Audit committee

As at 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. HO Hin Yip, Mr. CHAN Kwong Ming Johnny
and Mr. LEE Frank King-ting. Mr. LEE Frank King-ting
resigned as an independent non-executive Director, a
member of the Audit Committee and Chairman of the
Nomination Committee on 31 December 2018. Mr. HO
Hin Yip who has appropriate professional qualifications
and experience in accounting matters, was appointed as
the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing and supervising the
financial reporting and internal control system. The Audit
Committee also provides an important link between the
Board and the Company’s external auditors in matters
within the scope of the financial audit of the Group.
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There were 2 meetings of the Audit Committee held
during the year ended 31 December 2018. The
attendance of each member at the Audit Committee
meetings is set out on page 40. During the year under
review, the members of the Audit Committee reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2018, and for the year ended 31 December 2018
and discussed the internal controls together with the
management.

Remuneration committee

As at 31 December 2018 and the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee comprised two independent
non-executive Directors and one executive Director,
namely Mr. CHAN Kwong Ming Johnny, Mr. HO Hin Yip
and Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff. Mr. CHAN Kwong
Ming Johnny is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on, among other
matters, our Company’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior managements,
and the remuneration packages for all executive
Directors and senior management.

There was 4 meeting of the Remuneration Committee
held during the year ended 31 December 2018. The
attendance of each member at the Remuneration
Committee meeting is set out on page 40. During the
year under review, the members of the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the existing remuneration policy
and package of all existing Directors and senior
management.

Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set
out in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(ii)
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(iii)
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Nomination committee

As at 31 December 2018, the Nomination Committee
comprised two independent non-executive Directors
and one executive Director, namely Mr. CHAN Kwong
Ming Johnny, Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff and
Mr. LEE Frank King-ting. Mr. LEE Frank King-ting is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. LEE Frank
King-ting resigned as an independent non-executive
Director, chairman of the Nomination Committee, and
a member of the Audit Committee on 31 December
2018. Mr. LU Zhuohui was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 January
2019 in compliance with A5.1 of Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. He was also appointed as Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and the relevant CG Code
has been complied with during the relevant period.
The Nomination Committee has the responsibility to
review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and to identify individuals suitably qualified to
become members of the Board in accordance with the
board diversity policy. It is also responsible for assessing
the independence of independent non-executive
directors and making recommendations to the Board
on relevant matters relating to the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors.

There was 2 meeting of the Nomination Committee
held during the year ended 31 December 2018.
The attendance of each member at the Nomination
Committee meeting is set out below. During the
year under review, the members of the Nomination
Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board and reviewed the objectives set for
implementing the board diversity policy.
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The individual attendance records of each Director at
the physical meetings of the Board, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee and
at the general meeting of the Company during the year
ended 31 December, 2018 are set out below:

REEZE-NF+A=Zt—-HL
FE - BREFEHFEEES EXRZE
g FHZEeRREZBEEGAMN
RARBBERAEG 2 @R ELEE
FIE

Number of physical meetings attended/held during the year under review

REBEEALRE BT eHnE

Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEfa Exg EHZRY FHZRE REZRE TN |
Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff (Note) 2EE R4 () 13/13 N/A NER 0/4 0/2 1n
Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong (Note) BigE L (M) 713 N/A M N/A FE A N/A i N/A FEF
Mr. SHIH Steven Chun Ning (Note) BRERE () 413 N/A T8 N/A g NA MER N/A g
Ms. GAO Jinyi (Note) EfRExT (f) N/A TER N/A T8 NA TR N/A T N/A T8 R
Mr. DENG Kui (Note) BErk (M) 11/13 N/A Mg N/A TE R 212 1h
Mr. LIU Yong Sheng (Note) Bk Rk (s 313 N/A iR N/A FiER NA MR N/A FiER
Mr. ZHOU Hucheng (Note) Bt E () 313 N/A MR N/A M EH N/A i N/A MR
Mr. HO Hin Yip (Note) {75 %4 (Bt 313 0/2 0/4 N/A TiE NA TNER
Mr. CHAN Kwong Ming Johnny (Note) BB L (Hs) 313 072 0/4 012 N/A TR
Mr. LU Zhuohui (Note) Eegrd () N/A T8 N/A T N/A T8 R N/A 15 N/A T8 5
Mr. LEE Frank King-ting (Note) FHRRE(F3h) 313 0/2 N/A T8 R 0/2 NA FiE
Mr. LIU Gang (Note) B854 () 913 202 44 N/A TiE n
Mr. YU Haizong (Note) FEREAE () 1013 22 4/4 22 h
Ms. AN Yiging (Note) ZHELL () 713 0/2 34 12 17

st -

Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 27 August
2018.

Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong resigned as an executive Director on
10 April 2018 and was reappointed as an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 27 August 2018.

Mr. SHIH Steven Chun Ning was appointed as an executive Director on
27 August 2018.

Ms. GAO Jinyi was appointed as an executive Director on 2 January
2019.

Mr. HO Hin Yip was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 27 August 2018.

Mr. CHAN Kwong Ming Johnny was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee on 27
August 2018.
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Mr. LU Zhuohui was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee on 1 January 2019.

Mr. LEE Frank King-ting was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee on 27 August 2018 and resigned as
an independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee on 31 December
2018.

Mr. DENG Kui resigned as chairman of the Nomination Committee on 27
August 2018 and an executive Director and Chairman of the Board on
26 September 2018.

Mr. LIU Yong Sheng resigned as an executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 10 April 2018.

Mr. ZHOU Hucheng resigned as an executive Director on 10 April 2018.

Mr. LIU Gang resigned as chairman of remuneration committee and a
member of the Audit Committee on 27 August 2018 and an independent
non-executive Director on 26 September 2018.

Mr. YU Haizong resigned as chairman of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
on 27 August 2018 and an independent non-executive Director on 26
September 2018.

Ms. AN Yiging resigned as member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 27 August
2018 and an independent non-executive Director on 26 September
2018.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors of the Company has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from the date of appointment
and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party. Each
of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from the date of appointment. Each
of the Directors will be subject to retirement and re-election at
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the Company’s articles of association.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
a person may be appointed as a director either by the
Shareholders in general meeting or by the Board. Any
directors appointed by the Board as additional directors or to
fill casual vacancies shall hold office until the next following
general meeting, and are eligible for re-election by the
Shareholders. In addition, all directors are required to retire by
rotation at least once every three years at the annual general
meeting of the Company, and are eligible for re-election by
the Shareholders.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance and adopted a board diversity policy. The board
diversity policy sets out that the Company should endeavour
to ensure that its Board members have the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that
are required to support the execution of its business strategy
and in order for the Board to be effective.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. ZHU Ben Yu has been appointed as company secretary of
the Company since February 2017. He fulfills the requirement
under rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. He is responsible for
advisory the Board on corporate governance matters. During
FY2018, he has taken over 15 hours of relevant professional
training.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Financial reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Group’s consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, financial
performance and cash flows for the year and in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The Group has selected appropriate accounting
policies and has applied them consistently based on prudent
and reasonable judgements and estimates. The Board
considers that the Group has adequate resources to continue
in business for the foreseeable future and not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
affect the business of the Group or cast doubts on its ability
to continue as going concern.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors with
respect to financial reporting are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

Internal controls and risk management

The Board is of the opinion that sound internal control and
risk management systems will contribute the effectiveness
and efficiency of the operations of the Group and to the
safeguard of the Group’s assets as well as Shareholders’
investments.

The Company improves its business and operational activities
by identifying the areas of significant business risks via a
regular review and taking appropriate measures to control
and migrate these risks. The management of the Company
reviews all significant control policies and procedures and
highlights all significant matters to the Board and Audit
Committee annually.

The Board is responsible for overall ensuring, maintaining
and overseeing the internal control systems of the Group.
The Audit Committee helps the Board to discharge its
responsibilities of ensuring and maintaining sound internal
control functions by reviewing and monitoring the internal
control systems and processes annually so as to ensure that
they can provide reasonable assurance against material errors
of the Group. The Group has an internal audit function.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and considers the
risks management and internal control systems effective and
adequate.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has been appointed
as the external auditors of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2018. The Audit Committee was notified of
the nature and the service charges of non-audit services
performed by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited during
FY2018 and considered that such services did not have
adverse effect on the independence of the external auditors.

During the year, the remuneration paid and payable to HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited is set out as below:

b B8 4% By B
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FY2018

—ZE—)N\

MBREE

HK$°000

THET

Audit services Ei RS 880
Non-audit services IEEET RS 155
Total BET 1,035

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditors during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It
is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to its Shareholders and investment
public.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its annual
and interim reports. The corporate website of the Company
(www.royalchina.hk) has provided an effective communication
platform to the public and the Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION

The Company has adopted Shareholders communication
policy with objective to provide our Shareholders with
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information
about the Company so that they can exercise their rights
in an informed manner. The Company would review the
Shareholders communication policy on a regular basis.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure
its Shareholders are kept well informed of key business
development. These include annual general meeting, annual
report, various notices, announcements and circulars. The
annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between
the Company and its Shareholders. The members of the
Board, Board committees and the external auditors are
present to answer shareholders’ questions at the annual
general meeting of the Company. The Company shall provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolution(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided
shall be reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to
make an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). As
a channel to promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website where information on the Company’s
announcements, financial information and other information
are posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to
the Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong
with any inquiries.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands. However, shareholders are
requested to follow Article 58 of the Articles of Association
of the Company, general meetings shall be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A
DIRECTOR

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company are laid down in Article
85 of the Company’s Articles of Association. No person
other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the directors for election, be eligible for
election as a director at any general meeting unless a notice
signed by a member (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the head office or at the registration office provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that
(if the notices are submitted after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election) the
period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on the
day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available on the Company’s
website.
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PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company,
for the attention of company secretary, by mail to 21st Floor,
Wyndham Place, No.44 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong
Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company has not made any change to its constitutional
documents. A consolidated version of the Company’s
constitutional documents is available on the Company’s
website and the website of the Stock Exchange.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with
the Listing Rules, and publishes periodic reports and
announcements to the public in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to
ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful
and complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors as
well as the public to make rational and informed decisions.
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Royal China International Holdings Limited (hereafter “the
Group”) is governed by the Board which is responsible for
the Group’s ESG Report policies and reporting. The Board
is accountable for sustainable business development in
respect of environmental and social responsibilities while
balancing the financial performance. This Environment, Social
and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) summarizes the
Group’s performance, plans and initiatives in the environment,
social and governance and demonstrates its effort in
sustainable development.

In compliance with the requirements as set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide under
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
reports its commitment and practices of the environmental,
social and governance performance for the year from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting Period”).
The ESG report covers our central office and design, fit out
and decoration business in Hong Kong.

The Group has fully considered and balanced our
stakeholders’ needs and expectations to gain their
supports and trust to make decisions and by establishing
comprehensive communication channels to engage them.

ENVIRONMENT

The Group realizes the importance of environmental
protection and it contributes a lot to sustainable development,
therefore, we have upheld the principles of sustainable
development and longed for a balance between business
development and sustainability. During the Reporting Period,
there was no offence in environmental legislation.

EMISSIONS

The major GHG emissions are generated from indirect
emission of purchased electricity and direct emissions of
company vehicles. Measures of energy saving and paper
reduction are described in the section “Use of Resources”.
Although we purchased 220 reams of paper for our office
use, we did not make a solid record regarding paper
consumption. Therefore, the total GHG emission does not
include the factor of paper disposal. To better understanding
our performance in terms of GHG emission, we will try to
keep a record of it in the future.
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Indicator Nete 1 Total emissions in 2018
Total GHG emissions 60.97 CO2e tonnes

Scope 1 Note2 13.16 CO2e tonnes

Scope 2 Notes 47.81 CO2e tonnes

SOx 0.071 kg

Note:

1 The GHG emissions data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide

equivalent which refer to the latest released emission factors by HKE.

2 Scope 1 refers to direct GHG emissions such as fuel combustion of the
mobile source.

3 Scope 2 refers to indirect GHG emissions such as consumption of
electricity.

Use of Resources

Energy Consumption

In our design, fit out and decoration business, it inevitably
consumes a considerable amount of energy. In the meantime,
we understand energy consumption is one of the key
contributors to climate change. In view of that, we have
implemented the following energy measures to reduce energy
consumption.

° Adopted energy efficient equipment and lightings at the
office;

° Turned off lighting, equipment and personal computer
during non-office hours;

° Switched off idling engines when not in use;
° Utilized natural lighting if applicable;

° Maintained air indoor room temperature at 25.5 Degree
Celsius at the office;

° Placed energy saving reminders at pantry and office;

° Procured energy efficient appliances with Grade 1
Energy Saving Label;

° Offered plantation in office; and

° Avoided consumption of shark fin at annual dinner.

Total consumption Intensity

Type of Energy in 2018 (KWh/employee)
Electricity 60,521 kWh 2,328
Unleaded Petrol of

passenger car  4,859.4 Litres NA
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Waste Management

Apart from energy consumption, waste management is
another environmental aspect of the Group that focuses
on office and in operation. We take waste management
into consideration beginning at design stage from materials
selection to end-user experience with an aim to reduce
waste at source. We have also adopted the following waste
measures to reduce waste.

° Refurnished and reused existing furniture in different
projects wherever possible;

° Procured durable, less packaged and environmentally
friendly products;

° Recycled and reused waste paper;
° Encouraged double-sided printing;
° Encouraged document filling in an electronic mean;

° Recycled waste paper, compact fluorescent lamps, as
well as toners and cartridges; and

° Provided and encouraged employees to use reusable
tableware and containers.

Waste Data

Category of Waste Total discharge in 2018

General Waste Approximately 1.59 tones

Because of our business nature, the Group does not dispose
of the significant amount of hazardous waste during the
operation. Only exhausted cartridges and toners is remained
in our office. They are collected by a registered recycler for
reuse and recycling purposes.

Water Consumption and packing materials

Water discharge is relatively less significant in the office
when compared to the consumption of energy and disposal
of waste. Yet, we have also placed water saving reminders
at a prominent place in office to remind employees to save
water. Hong Kong office is solely managed by the property
management. As a result, the provision of water supply and
discharge data in hot available.

In the concern of packaging materials, in one hand, our fit
out and decoration services always take place in site and
no obvious need to use packaging in daily operation. On
the other hand, we do not consume a significant amount of
packaging materials for final products in operation. Yet it is
inevitably to have packaging materials from our suppliers,
therefore, we strive to purchase raw materials in bulk and
absolutely will continue to find out possibilities to minimize
packaging materials as much as we can.
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

Construction Waste Management

Additionally, the Group realizes that construction waste
is another concern that draws us and our stakeholders’
attention. Design, fit out and decoration service produces
construction waste is unavoidable. This might cause
much suffering to the environment if the waste is handled
improperly. As a result, all construction waste generated from
demolition is handled by licensed and registered suppliers
and must be disposed properly and complied with laws
and regulations. If incompliance is identified, the Group will
reassess the supplier’s performance or even remove it from
the supplier list.

Noise control

The Group tries our utmost to utilize daytime to work.
However, the Group must not schedule loud and noisy
works at night even if the night shift still exists in some
circumstances. Moreover, we will actively communicate with
sensitive stakeholders nearby such as residents regarding the
working schedule to eliminate the impacts on their everyday
life if applicable.

SOCIAL

Employees are our key to success. The Group has not
successfully achieved today’s achievements without their
effort and contribution. Therefore, understanding their needs
and expectations is a driving force to make us better. To
facilitate communication among us, we have established
transparent and open communication channels. It is not only
a channel to disseminate corporate policies and visions, but
also a channel to collect employees’ opinions and feedbacks
to strive for improvement.

EMPLOYMENT

A standard employment handbook, which would be updated
from time to time, is set up with reference to the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance to regulate employment,
promotion, discipline, working hours and benefits. Each
position is clearly defined according to roles, responsibilities,
relevant qualifications and experiences. The Group also
established fair employment and recruitment procedures to
hire and promote employees. All talented employees will be
promoted and/or hired simply based on their experiences,
work performance and business needs, regardless of race,
gender, age, marital status, pregnancy, family status, sexual
orientation, religion and nationality. During the Reporting
Period, there was no non-compliance of laws and regulations
and no discrimination case in respect of employment.
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Total workforce

The Group employs 26 staff members, of which 14
employees are female and 12 employees are male.

EE&®

AEERMB06ZE L ER14Z2 AE 12
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Total workforce by age

BERESNESAE

25-34 years old : 1
25-34p% ¢ 1%

55-64 years old: 5
55-64%% : 5%

45-54 years old: 10
45-5475% + 104

35-44 years old: 10
35-44p% - 10%

Total workforce by employment category

RERERISNHESEH

General staff: 7
—MREI 7%

Supervisor: 2 V
TE 2%

Middle management:6

TREEE : 6%

Addition to the above employment benefits, the Group will
also benchmark employees’ salary against industry norms
and standards to retain talented employees. Employees are
not only entitled to enjoy statutory holidays and various types
of paid leave such as annual leave, sick leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, compensation leave, compassionate
leave and injury leave, but also, they are covered by medical
insurance, in which employees are available to enjoy
dental and clinical benefits. Meanwhile, we realize that the
remuneration package for employees may not fruitful enough,
so additional benefits are offered to enhance employees’
sense of belongings. For example, gifts giving in the festivals,
early leave on special days, parties, an annual corporate trip
and/or team building activities.

Senior management: 11
BRERE 1%
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Turnover R

Turnover by gender

B2 NESRAE

Female : 30

7t 304

Male : 24
B 244

Turnover by age

RFERIDNEERRKE
15-24 years old :1

55-64 yearsold : 6 19-245% 1 14
55-645% : 6%

25-34 years old : 21

45-54 years old : 9 25-34%% 1 2144

45-547% © 9%

35-44 years old : 17
35-445% : 174

In spite of improving employment conditions, we are with EEREBSITENE  ERELABMANES
the deepest regret to confess that a total of 54 employees H54ZE EBERE - L AR R KR E F A7 3|
resigned from employment during the Reporting Period. The # - HRAZHEE HIZXEBE A ERER - &
notoriously reasons behind mainly due to the alteration of the EREEHEKEFNE_ZTELEIH -
shareholder. An economic downturn caused suffering to our

business since the second quarter of the year as our majority

of employees are hired on a project basis.
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

Health and safety of employees are in the top priority of
the Group by providing and maintaining a safe working
environment. We do not only offer suitable and adequate
personal protective equipment (PPE) to the employees to
reduce the exposure of dust and noise, but we also stipulate
and review working procedures and workflow in a timely
manner to avoid any danger. Furthermore, all employees are
required to attend the safety training course and carry a valid
Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate (Green Card)
before on-board. Other than that, only registered skilled or
semi-skilled workers of designated trade divisions are allowed
to conduct construction works independently on construction
sites. Workers and visitors whose entering the construction
sites must register beforehand for safety and emergency
purposes. For those who refuse to follow the guidelines will
be kept away from the site.

Besides, the Group remains highly attentive to the safety on
construction sites and office so various measures have been
adopted.

° First-aid kits are provided on sites;

o An annual body check is available for all employees;
° Carpet cleaning services are scheduled quarterly;

o A regular fire drill is scheduled;

° The evacuation plan is put up at prominent locations;
and

° Accidental insurances are purchased for all workers for
extra protection.

There was no work-related serious injuries or fatalities
happened in the Group and no claims or compensation were
paid due to such events in the Reporting Period. In case of
injuries, we absolutely offer immediate support to the injured
and will undergo investigations to examine the root cause of
the events. Corrective actions will be taken to prevent the
same thing from happening in the future.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

An appraisal is adopted annually with an aim of providing a
two-way communication to employees to review performance
and discuss their needs and expectations with their
supervisors. Moreover, this appraisal system can identify
talented employees and offer them a promising promotion
ladder.
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The Group also actively encourage our employees to attend
technical training and/or examinations to acquire professional
qgualifications and recognitions for the new change and
challenge. Subsidies will be provided. Besides, the human
resources department and business units formulated a
training plan for existing employees to develop professional
skills. In addition to technical training and examinations, the
Group also organized soft skills training to enable the top
management to assist employees to be well-equipped for
the change and achieve their full potential. In the Reporting
Period, a total of 30 training hours were provided for
employees.

LABOUR PRACTICES

The Group strongly believes the importance of work-life
balance as it links to productivity and accidents. We neither
encourage nor force employees to work overtime. In the
matter of the massive amount of overtime work needed,
the production schedule and workflow will be closely
monitored and adjusted accordingly. In addition, child labour
is forbidden in the Group. We must check the personal
document of every single employee to make sure they are
legal to be employed during the recruitment process. Any
issues related to staff benefits and labour practices are
freely discussed among employees and us through emails,
meetings, and hotlines.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

With the efforts of our suppliers and contractors, we have
successfully developed a high degree of valuable design, fit
out and decoration business to our customers over the past
years. In the selection process, the financial performance of
suppliers is not the only factor for consideration, but we take
an equal amount of concerns on suppliers’ service quality and
on-time delivery. We would also state specifically on tender
documents to encourage suppliers and contractors to adopt
environmentally friendly products such as sustainably sourced
timber with eco-labels like Forest Stewardship Council (FSC),
and paints, coating materials, adhesives and sealants with
low Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) content. A yearly
evaluation is carried out to the suppliers who are unable to
meet the requirements and criteria will be disqualified and
removed from the supplier list. We also work closely with
suppliers and contractors regarding environmental, health and
safety issues on site.
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Product Responsibility

Our aim is to provide high quality and value-added interior
design business, mostly to the well-established property
developers based in Hong Kong. We must ensure all matters
relating to our customers are properly addressed as well as
enquires and even complaints since our business is profiting
by clients’ feedbacks and inspired by their expectations. First
and foremost, all our design, fit out and decorations services
meet governmental policies and regulations. Second, we work
tightly and closely with contractors, suppliers and relevant
parties to decrease the possibility of happening unexpected
situation. With our great care to product responsibility,
we did receive enquiries from time to time related to the
products and services, yet no product sold or shipped were
recalled because of safety and health reasons in the reporting
period. Hence, every enquiry will be addressed promptly
and recorded in detail in accordance with the prescribed
procedures. An investigation will be taken and come up with
suggestions if any.

Meanwhile, the Group respects the privacy of personal data
as well as intellectual property rights. Project information
includes clients’ information, drawings, and photos are kept
highly confidential at all times to prevent harm to clients,
suppliers, individuals or other parties that have trusted us
with their information. Under no circumstances, the Group
discloses personal data and confidential information to the
third parties or the public without clients’ consent. Besides,
we refuse to use any outdated and unauthorized software to
avoid data leakage and enhance cybersecurity.

Anti-Corruption

Integrity is the foundation of our business operation. Any form
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering can ruin
the brand image. The Code of Conduct has developed, and
all employees must fully comply with it at all the times. An
internal control system is also set up to monitor and review
the operation and assure the operation is in line with the Code
of Conduct, regulations and compliances.
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Due to the revenue of the projects are substantial, the
Group has set up tender policies to regulate the selection
process of contractors and suppliers to avoid insider dealing
between employees and tenderers. The same set of tendering
documents is sent to all contractors and suppliers during
the procurement process. A copy of the tender policy is
disseminated verbally to the contractors and suppliers to
ensure them their understanding of the Group’s policies.
Project Manager is accountable for the selection process and
the Director is responsible for final approval. Independent
non-executive directors engage to monitor the overall
tendering process of the Group. Employees can remain
anonymous to report any suspicious cases to the Group. The
Group will not condone any unlawful acts and corruption.

Community Involvement

The Group believes helping the needy is a way to build up
a harmonious community and it is our social responsibility
to support the underprivileged. As a result, we are eager to
provide financial support to the Community Chest and World
Wide Fund for Nature. The Group is going to devote our more
resources to the community in the future.
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HL

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ROYAL CHINA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Royal China International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 66 to 182, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
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our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

RBEXER
Revenue recognition

Refer to the accounting policies in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

We identified recognition of revenue from the
provision of design, fitting-out and decoration service
as a key audit matter due to significant judgments
involved in the management’s assessment process.

The revenue of design, fitting-out and decoration
service contracts amounting to approximately
HK$150,832,000 were recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Revenue from design, fitting-out and decoration
service contracts which are fixed price contract
work, is recognised progressively over time using
the input method in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue for Contract with Customers. It is based
on Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation. The revenue and profit recognised in a
year on these projects is dependent, amongst others,
on the assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the projects (ie. contract cost incurred for work
performed) relative to the total expected inputs to the
projects (ie. estimated total budgeted contract cost
committed for the projects).
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Our procedures in relation to the recognition of
revenue of design, fitting-out and decoration service
contract and contract assets and contract liabilities
included:

° obtained an understanding of the projects,
evaluated the design and implementation of
relevant controls and tested the operating
effectiveness of the controls relating to revenue
recognition and partially completed projects;

° assessed the Group’s revenue recognition
practice to determine that they are in
compliance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, including the
assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for work
performed) relative to the total expected inputs
to the projects (i.e estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects);

° agreeing projects contract sum to signed
contracts and variation orders on sample basis;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B2 BEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

FRERER

Variations in contract work are recognised as
contract revenue to the extent that the modification
has been approved by the parties to the contracts
and it is highly probable that a significant reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

The uncertainty and subjectivity involved in
determining the cost to complete and foreseeable
losses may have a significant impact on the revenue
and profit of the Group.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EENERNMEERRERER

o obtaining contracts from management and
reviewed for any specific or special performance
obligations and conditions during the financial
period;

° vouching the actual cost incurred during
the year to details of supplier invoices and
subcontractors on sample basis to check the
validity and accuracy of the costs;

o performing cut-off testing to verify contract
costs were taken up in the appropriate financial
year;

° performing retrospective review by comparing
the total actual contract costs incurred at
completion against the total budgeted contract
costs to assess the reasonableness of the
estimates used by the management;

° for projects in progress, we further recomputed
the percentage of the progress of the contract
based on input method to test the accuracy of
the percentage of the progress to determine the
revenue; and

° comparing total contract revenue to actual cost
incurred plus estimated cost to complete, and
assessed for foreseeable losses.

We consider the management conclusion to be
consistent with the available information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B2 BEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

HEFERER
Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had gross trade
receivables of approximately HK$14,982,000 (2017:
HK$28,602,000) and allowance for expected credit
losses of approximately HK$202,000 (2017: nil).

In general, the credit term granted by the Group
to the customers is, in general, 7 to 45 days.
Management performed periodic assessment on
the recoverability of the trade receivables and the
sufficiency of allowance for expected credit losses
based on information including credit profile of
different customers, ageing of the trade receivables,
expected future receipts from customers based
on past payment trend, subsequent settlement
status and on-going trading relationships with the
relevant customers. Management also considered
forward-looking information that may impact the
customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances
in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.

We focused on this area due to the impairment
assessment of trade receivables under the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant
management judgements and estimates.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EENERNNEEMAEERXER
B 5 M U 3R IA B R B AT A
BRHEL AT EHRERM 16

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on trade receivables
included:

o Discussing the Group’s procedures on credit
limits and credit periods given to customers
with the management;

o Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile
of the trade receivables as at 31 December
2018 to the underlying financial records and
post year-end settlements to bank receipts;

o Evaluating the management’'s impairment
assessment of trade receivables; and

o Assessing the appropriateness of the
expected credit losses provisioning
methodology, examining the key data inputs
on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine
the expected credit losses.

We consider the management conclusion to be

consistent with the available information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

H1 2B EM S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon (“the Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B2 BEN RS

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B2 BEN RS

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B2 BEN RS

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Ng Ka Wah.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Ka Wah
Practicing Certificate Number: P06417

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

=IAN

™IN (3
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

B 2 AN A D & [ R 2R

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE H=E
—E-N\F —ET—+F
+=ZB=+—H +t=-A=+—H
ILFEE IE+HREA
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E THET FHET
Revenue W = 6 187,314 167,397
Cost of sales 5 AR (142,636) (106,258)
Gross profit EF 44,678 51,139
Other revenue and other gains H 4th Yo 28 K2 E fth & F) 7 1,393 1,623
Other operating expenses Hip @M (1,167) (1,954)
Administrative expenses THAX (59,052) (56,998)
Loss before taxation TR SR 8 (14,148) (6,290)
Taxation I 9 (2,478) (2,982)
Loss for the year/period F /HRNEE (16,626) (9,272)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income & "HiAHE 2@
for the year/period, (B#]/), Yz
net of income tax: HIBRER &1 :
Items that may be reclassified AJBER A EF 7 FEE
subsequently to profit or 10ss: HBam2IEA -
Exchange differences on HE SN 7 B T Rk
translating of financial statements ZIER =58
of foreign operations (6) 1
Other comprehensive (loss)/income % "HIREf2EH
for the year/period (BR) s (6) 1
Total comprehensive loss for the £ /HR2EGERESE
year/period (16,632) (9,271)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period £ WA (BR) i
attributable to: R -
Owners of the Company RABER A (17,373) (10,193)
Non-controlling interests FEFE RS A 2 747 921
(16,626) (9,272)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
#r e 18 A 0 5 T W o

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
S Hz
—E—)\F —E—+F

+=A=+—B t=A=+—~
LFEE I HEMEA

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E TET FET
Total comprehensive (loss)/income F "HIA2E (5iE),
for the year/period attributable to: UZS#@FAELBE :
Owners of the Company ZiN/NESTEF SN (17,379) (10,192)
Non-controlling interests 1R IR M A 747 921
(16,632) 9,271)
Loss per share: FHREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) R R #5E (BL) 13 (3.47) (2.04)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BaMIMisEEm S EGAMTEHE 2 HK IS ©
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SR ISR R

As at 31 December 2018
RZZE-—NF+=A=+—H

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017

R-B—N\F R-T L+
+ZA=+—B +=A=+-~

No‘ges HK$’000 HK$’000
B T#TT FET
Non-current assets ERBHEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEREE 14 3,688 5,895
Trading licence R 15 10,000 10,000
13,688 15,895
Current assets mMBEE
Trade receivables 2 5 e RIA 16 14,780 28,602
Amounts due from customers for JEREFE#HTIEHIA
contract work 17 - 5,007
Contract assets BHEE 18 3,964 -
Deposits, prepayments and e BENRERE
other receivables E tb it kI8 19 21,613 16,344
Income tax recoverable AT PR ISR 177 1,215
Cash and bank balances B RIRTER 20 105,783 134,524
146,317 185,692
Current liabilities mEER
Trade payables g 5 N FIE 21 16,021 22,774
Amounts due to customers for EREFPAE#HITIEFHIA
contract work 17 - 374
Contract liabilities aHaE 18 873 -
Accrued expenses and JERTR S M A e
other payables I8 22 12,401 26,197
29,295 49,345
Net current assets mBEERE 117,022 136,347
Total assets less current liabilities #BEERTBAR 130,710 152,242
Net assets EESRHE 130,710 152,242
Capital and reserves BEFRER
Share capital %N 23 5,000 5,000
Reserves i 125,710 142,151
Equity attributable to owners KAEHB AELER
of the Company 130,710 147,151
Non-controlling interests PR RS - 5,091
Total equity s 130,710 152,242

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors R-ZE—HQFE=ZA-F+~BESZTESHER

on 26 March 2019, BRETIEE o

On behalf of the board REEZS

LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff CHEW Christina Mooi Chong
REE Aigix

Director Director

EFE EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMIMIiEEKZEEAMIEHRER ZAKID °
consolidated financial statements.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

2 A L a4
A EDE IR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FLANRARY

Non-

Share Share  Exchange Other  Retained  Sub-total ~controlling

capital  premium  reserve  reserve  earings interests Total
ks ROER ERGE KNGS REEY it EBRRE @it
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tén TET 2 TET 2 TERT TR 2 TER @ TER 0 TEn
(Note 23) (Note)
iE2) iR
As at 1 October 2016 R-E-7"ETA-H 5,000 109,834 - 2,170 39,009 156,613 - 156,613
(Loss)/proft for the periad Bn(ER) /& - - - - (10193 (10,199 91 9,272
Other comprehensive income BREHEENE
for the period, net of income tax; NRHER:
Exchange differences on fransiation of ~ ESN R £ KB RE
financial statements of foreign operation [ § £ % - - 1 - - 1 - 1
Total comprehensive profit/Joss) SnzEkE/ (BB LE
for the period - : w S04%9) (1019 Q)
Change in ownership interests in FERER BRRERRY
non-controlling interests - - - 730 - 730 4170 4,900
As at 31 December 2017 and RZE-tE+-A=1-HR
and 1 January 2018 “2-\5-5-H 5,000 109,834 1 3,500 28,816 147,151 5,091 162,242
(Loss}/proft for the year 2n(E8) /&5 - - - - (17313 (17379 M (16626)
Other comprehensive loss FNAn2EER
for the year, net of income tax: MBFEH -
Exchange difierences on BENRERIBEREL
iranglation of financial statements EiEE
of foreign operation - - 6) - - 6) - (6)
Total comprehensive (loss)/profi BhaE (B8)/ haEe
for the year - : 6l -a ) W (166%)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF - - - (14 1442 - - -
Change in ownership interests #‘@Hﬂgﬁ JEEEELE
in non-controling interests (Note 26) ~ (#/226) - - - 938 - 938 (5,839) (4,900
As at 31 December 2018 RZS-NE+ZA=+-H 5000 109,834 (5) 2,996 12,885 130,710 - 130,710
Note: it -
Other reserve H fth % &

Other reserve represented (i) the difference between the Group’s share of
nominal values of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries acquired over the
Group’s cost of acquisition of the subsidiaries under common control upon
the completion of the Group’s corporate re-organisation in the preparation
of the Company’s listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited; and (i) the changes in the Group’s ownership interests in its

subsidiaries that do not result in the loss of control.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN PN S 7=l
%/Tw: Eﬁi//lbi%%
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

Fifteen

Year ended months ended
31 December

31 December

2018 2017
BE H=E
—E-N\F —ET—+F
+=-R=+—8 +=ZA=+—H
ILEE IE+R@EA
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHT FHET
Cash flows from BEITDHEEZRERE
operating activities
Loss before taxation B iRl 1R (14,148) (6,290)
Adjustments for: UATIEEEL A%
Allowance for expected credit TEHEEBERG
losses 8 217 -
Impairment loss recognised on B ZEWGIEZ EER
trade receivables B EE 8 - 1,091
Bank interest income HRATH B YA 7 (271) (623)
Depreciation of property, ME - BENMRENTE
plant and equipment 8,14 2,937 2,619
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME « BELEEZ
plant and equipment (Uzk) /1518 8 (150) 168
Operating cash flows before BEEERNZ
movements in working capital BERERE (11,415) (3,035)
Decrease/(increase) in Z SRR ER LD
trade receivables (3 40) 13,620 (19,417)
Increase in deposits, prepayments  1%% - BRI & H Ab fE
and other receivables U R I8 38 0 (5,284) (12,579)
Decrease/(increase) in contract BHEE/ TEREFP
assets/amounts due from BHTEFRIE
customers for contract work B () 1,043 (4,088)
(Decrease)/increase in B 5 EMFECRD) S
trade payables H#n (6,753) 16,145
Increase/(decrease) in contract AHBE/ENEP
liabilities/amounts due to A TRRFE
customers for contract work #m, G 499 (352)
(Decrease)/increase in accrued FERT RS R HoAth B 5 5R0R
expenses and other payables R ) /1 (13,796) 24,749
Cash (used in)/generated from & (TR EE
operations Z2HRe (22,086) 1,423
Hong Kong tax paid BENBEERIE (1,710) (11,854)
Net cash used in BETBHFRAZCHERHE
operating activities (23,796) (10,431)

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

el TmER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE_T - \F+-A=+—HLFE

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE H=E
—E-N\F —T—tF
+=A=+—H +t=A=1+—~H
ILFEE IE+R@EA
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P 5T TET FHET
Cash flows from investing BRETHEENRERE
activities
Purchases of items of property, BEME FEX
plant and equipment REEE 14 (730) (4,943)
Bank interest received BERITH B 271 623
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - l‘r‘ﬁ%&%&fﬁz
property, plant and equipment FT15 37 150 139
Purchase of trading licence Eﬁﬁé&%ﬁi’ﬁ 1 - (10,000)
Net cash inflow from disposal HENBARZIREMA
of subsidiaries pEiE=E] 25 270 -
Acquisition of additional W RE B B A R 2 BB IME R
interest in a subsidiary 26 (4,900) -
Net cash used in investing BREETEHFMAMNRE&BHE
activities (4,939) (14,181)
Cash flows from financing METHELEHNRETE
activities
Capital contribution from JEIERER LA
non-controlling interest - 4,900
Net cash generated from MEEHEEZRSBHE
financing activities - 4,900
Net decrease in cash BeRAL£EEY
and cash equivalents WY RE (28,735) (19,712)
Effect of foreign exchange rate JMSEEEEZ FHE (6) 1
Cash and cash equivalents at the & "HiMIzHR&RH &
beginning of the year/period FED 134,524 154,235
Cash and cash equivalents at £ HERzZHERES
the end of the year/period EED 105,783 134,524
Cash and cash equivalents as FEMBRAEMRIIZ
stated in the consolidated BeRASEEDYD
statement of financial position 105,783 134,524

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

BEP M FERB R X F AR A

EMBIMR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

1.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Royal China International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Cayman Islands on 19
January 2015 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The Company’s registered office is located at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at 21/
F, Wyndham Place, No. 44 Wyndham Street, Central,
Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 8 September
2015.

The Company has changed its financial year end
date from 30 September to 31 December because
the Group would like to align the Company’s financial
year end date with that of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As a result of this, the final results covered
a period of fifteen months ended 31 December 2017.
The corresponding comparative amounts shown for
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows
and related notes cover the period of fifteen months
ended 31 December 2017 and therefore may not be
comparable with amounts shown for the current year.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
hereafter as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in construction and ancillary services which include
design, fitting-out, decoration, alteration and addition,
construction and other related businesses, aviation and
traveling services and financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise stated.

—REH

EFREBEERERAA ([XRAAR]) R
ERSHEHERRAFE2E (—AN—
FE=H KEEREFT)R_ZE—H
F-—ATNhBEHEBESTEMKILA
EREERAG - ARAl 2 FMPHSE
B2 FACricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands * X E & %
NN BEBPREREISRE R EE
2148 -

ARAEPBE-_T-—AFAANRE
EREBMEXZMARARE ([BRHM])
ERET e

AAREBEVBRFELELBANA
—tHE%AT-_A=+—8B ' REA
AEEBEBARNTRFEEFLEB
MEBEARBETWEBRARMN -
At REHE 2GRV BRRRER
2 TET—+HF+-_A=+—HIt+HE
BEAHE -ReBEMEM2mE K
R HEEREHR KABEERE
KRB ROMERELESEE
EHE_ZT—+tF+-A=1+—HI
T HEE A B - E ok % B ARF E AT
TRH S EE A ELL B ©

ARRZHREERAR - KRR REH
MBAR CATHRBEIAEE]) 2%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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N

VAR P e

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of the reporting period as
further explained below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in
HKAS 36.

(a)

(b)

2. FETHREK

aNEn
REMBHRERIDRBEFTE G
RE([EAEMAE]) B
BEMBHREEN (BB B R
EEA] - WM AER E R
BRAMBREEN BEEGFE
Al (BB EFER]) KRB A
RBEEEBRAZ G RAMR
o fih RAPMBRREEY
RPrEH EMARAAT ERHRAD
REB R BHERG (TR RMEGL) A
MEZBEREEER -

AEERNZETESFBRZM
ZHIIMT -

WREE
RAEPBRERDREBEELKAE
EHEHEHERRERRE TR
TARRAFENE) HFARE
RT3

LR —RRIER B E @ MR
BREZRFEME -

RFBERRAEEHRMSL2EE
REKFR 5 H HEEE /R
FERERBEASNZER WA
WmZERETEZABRENAE
REMGERMET - ETH2
HERNGHEANHEENEERE
ERNEEREEXRBZNE
AIXAEEREHEERABZR
FERSEEZEEHH - N&XF
HAEMBBRRPIEAER LR
BREZATFERILEEETE
W &8 B 15 s 2 R 25k # F
AABRDB/ERZNRR S &
BRI EANFITREEANZEE
R RERFEMELUEI FRFE
ZEE (PImEE S ERIE2R
AERFEAE LG ERIFEI6
S EREE) RN -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable for the asset
or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities (including structured entities) controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

- has power over the investee;

- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

(b)

(c)

2. ¥ESHBRKGE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to
give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

- the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of the other vote holders;

- potential voting rights held by the Group,
other vote holders or other parties;

- rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

- any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need
to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

(c)

2. ¥ESHBRGE)

mERER)
HARBREEHRZEREER
EHEAZH BRERZEERIN
ETASEERENAIESTEZE
EREHRZBEERRK K&
BAHREHREEES - T
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EE
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in other reserve in equity and attributed
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it (i) derecognises the assets (including any
goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their
carrying amounts at the date when control is
lost, (i) derecognises the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interests in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income
attributable to them), and (iii) recognises the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest,
with any resulting difference being recognised as
a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the
Group.

(c)

(d)

2. ¥ESHBRKGE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the
statement of financial position of the Company at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
board of directors that makes strategic decisions.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)
Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

(e)

(f)

(9)

2. ¥ESHBRGE)

PHEBLARZRE

RMBRAR ZRERRARER
FARERBE (W) RARRE 2
BRI RS ER

SEEE

REpM2ROTAERATELE
REEFEREANLBZHRAA T A —
H-IREERREAEIKE
BREFEREENMRR BEER
BENEERAR CEEEREE -

M BHREMS - BT SEER
EZRLENWMAH BIFXFD
MEBEUNEERHMAREE
mERBEMEE EETIFMEE -
EFEUKERE DHEEMARE
HIRBABZIEREERE
MEEFHEEMU - WENTER
ZREED BT A BB R
AR AHS—ERSE DB -

EFR &Mz (1R ¥ MY aE38Y
BEGXERAERAMBEEE
RSB 15%%)
RBELBWHREERE155 -
E(HN)MERNEBE A%
EERBUYA - IR EROER
F A8 B 7 am Bk AR TS RO 12 Y R B
TEPRMER

BB TR M LR (3

—HEEmIERT) LR E S
K KEAE R &9 AR 7%

Annual Report 2018 fE4R

77



78

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBE(E)
(Continued)

(g) Revenue from contracts with customers (9) EFE S ¥ zs (IR 15 B sE3/0

(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer. A contract asset
and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

BEGXEREEMBERESE
RISE155%) (#)

THIERER MBS - i m R BA
THEA-REZEE QmTI2R
TEmEHBRORHNERS
L BE Iy [ AR

. HAZEEL BFRBR
80 ¥ 7 4 B JB 40 B 1R 4
BR3¢

s AKEHEZEDHAIEIBRIE—
BE  ZEERAIZIRL
ZERIREFES 3k

s AKREMENLRELEHAE
SHEEARENEE B
AEEHESETHENZ
KRB AT ZHER -

BRI WEREFFPESERIR
BIE B R R R -

AHNEERAKERAZ PRI
RSB ¥ A 7 g SR A% MR
RAEEREH (AR R EGES)
HIREF B W5 IS ERFR
AEERE © AR - BRGRIRIE A
5 B AR A (B O B R AR A - BT
RENKE BAER S HER

BHBBERASERCEAEER
WEEE (LB BEP WY
B) MAEERRABHTE
Fe&BG BAaWBABENANE
ENGHBENFREIE -

HREEZN-—HENEBKNE
W AEENRYEREEEREE
REBRABHNEB IR HER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBHE(E)
(Continued)

(g) Revenue from contracts with customers (9) EFE S ¥ zs (IR 15 B sE3/0

(upon application of HKFRS 15 in BEGEXEREEMBRESE
accordance with transitions in note 3) RIEE158%) (#8)

(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(to specify), the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled using
either (a) the expected value method or (b) the
most likely amount, depending on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to
which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate
of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at
the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBE(E)

(Continued)

(g) Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following
major source which was recognised over the terms
of the service contracts as the work is performed:

(i) Provision of construction and ancillary
services
Revenue from the provision of construction
and ancillary services included design,
fitting-out, decoration, alternation and
addition, construction and other related
business is recognised by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction
at the end of the reporting period.
Progress towards complete satisfaction is
measured based on input method, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation (i.e. contract
costs incurred for work performed to date)
relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation
(i.e. total estimated contract cost), that
best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

(i) Provision of aviation and traveling services
Services include flight scheduling, aircraft
maintenance and crew management which
are recognised at a point in time when the
services are rendered.

(i) Provision of financial services
Services include dealing in securities,
advising on securities, asset management
and financing business.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January
2018)
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following basis:

(i)

(ii

(i)

(iv)

Project for design, fitting-out and decoration
service income is recognised based on
the stage of completion of the contracts,
provided that the stage of contract
completion and the contract costs of the
contracting work can be measured reliably.
The stage of completion of a contract is
established by reference to the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date bear to the estimated total
contract cost;

Design and/or decoration service income is
recognised upon services rendered;

Aircraft management service income,
commission income, financial advisory
service income and aircraft leasing ancillary
service income are recognised upon services
rendered;

Revenue from the sale of precious metal
is recognised on the transfer of risks
and rewards ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when the goods
are delivered to customers and the title has
passed; and

Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis taking into account the
principal outstanding and the interest
applicable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

Construction contracts (Prior to 1
January 2018)

Where the outcome of a construction contract
in relation to provision of design, fitting-out and
decoration services can be estimated reliably,
revenue and costs are recognised by reference
to the stage of completion of the contract activity
at the end of the reporting period, as measured
based on the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date relative to
the estimated total contract costs, except where
this would not be representative of the stage of
completion. Variations in contract work, claims
and incentive payments are included to the extent
that the amount can be measured reliably and its
receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred
that is probable to be recovered. Contract costs
are recognised as expenses in the period in which
they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will
exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses exceed
progress billings, the surplus is shown as
amounts due from customers for contract work.
For contracts where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract
work. Amounts received before the related work
is performed are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a liability, as
receipt in advances. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customers are
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under trade receivables.

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the dates of transactions.
At the end of each reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measures in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise except for:

o Exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under
construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets
when they are regarded as an adjustment
to interest costs on those foreign currency
borrowings;

° Exchange differences on transactions
entered into in order to hedge certain foreign
currency risks; and

° Exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

(k)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e.
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a
joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributable to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed through
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U]

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
“loss before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U]

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of each of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(m) Property, plant and equipment

2. EEEHHEGE)
(m) %3 - BRE RS

Property, plant and equipment is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

1 Office equipment 20%
2 Furniture and fixtures 20%
3 Motor vehicles 25% - 30%
4 Leasehold Over the shorter of the

improvement lease term and 20%

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. The carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Impairment of tangible and intangible
assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are
tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but as that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(n)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBE(E)
(Continued)

(o) Provisions (o) s

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount can be reliably estimated.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of each
reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (when the effect of the time value of money is
material).

When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to
be recovered from a third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBHE(E)
(Continued)

(p) Financial instruments p) £MIA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
since 1 January 2018. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived
from the financial assets and shareholders’ rights
are presented as other revenue and other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBE(E)
(Continued)

(p) Financial instruments (Continued) (p) &FTH (&)

Financial assets (upon application of

HKFRS 9)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of
initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in OCI if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(p) Financial instruments (Continued)

2. EEEHHEGE)
(p) £MIL ()

Financial assets (upon application of

HKFRS 9) (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

(Continued)

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset and is included in the “other
revenue and other gains” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBE(E)
(Continued)

(p) Financial instruments (Continued) (p) &FTH (&)

Financial assets (upon application of

HKFRS 9) (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade receivables, contract assets, other
receivables, time deposits and cash and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting period. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting period
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN & 3
iR BB R R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9) (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Financial assets (upon application of

HKFRS 9) (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e VRS

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(p) Financial instruments (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(p) Financial instruments (Continued)

2. EEEHHEGE)
(p) £MIL ()

Financial assets (upon application of

HKFRS 9) (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over 1 year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z—\F+-A=+—HLEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBE(E)
(Continued)

(p) Financial instruments (Continued) ) &MIA(MHE)
Financial assets (upon application of eHEE(FRATEMBEREE
HKFRS 9) (Continued) R sBosk %) (#&)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) FBHEEEEZFGER 5?5? (&)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or HMEREEEERREEEEHSS
cater for cases where evidence at the individual ‘szIJ./:MI BT B K& %F;R,W(?

instrument level may not yet be available, the EHER Bl T ERNTE

financial instruments are grouped on the following L‘Eﬁm;é

basis:

e Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the e SRITANE (AXAEEEH
Group’s trade and other receivables and SREMBEWRFIEARE L
contract assets are each assessed as a BESATABYER B
separate group. Loans to related parties are KT REEE 5 TR (A E‘Ji—.—;ﬁ
assessed for expected credit losses on an HEBEEESE)
individual basis);

e Past-due status; o EHRAROR

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and e EBAMMEE RERIT

¥R

e External credit ratings where available. o  INBEEFR(NAE) -

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBHE(E)
(Continued)

(p) Financial instruments (Continued) (p) &FTH (&)

Financial assets (before application of HKFRS
9 on 1 January 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are mainly
classified into loans and receivables. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective
interest basis for debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(p) Financial instruments (Continued)

2. EEEHHEGE)
(p) £MIL ()

Financial assets (before application of HKFRS
9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. At the end
of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables
and cash and bank balances) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each of the reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as
a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation;
or

° the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such
as trade receivables, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

ceHMEE (- N\¥—A—H

EREEMEEEERFMA)
(¥)
B R EWRFE

B R e B W R IR A B S B RE 3K A
BEMNK BXBEBHISHRE
ZIHTESREE - RNEREH
R L HERIE - B EWKIA
(BHRBZHREFR e hEM
R R IBIA KRS R IRTT 4G 8R)
5RO B RN OK 12 55 A AR
R B 51 Bk o

AEEREREPRIHEERE
ERGRENR -EETBERE
BARERMEEVIRRBEREE
ZHEEAZHEHMEBRERN
HEREREREXIFE A
BRTREE/MERRLIRBIE -

MEZTBERAIEEE -

s BUAIRZHUFHBAEK
PREE 3

o EBY MAREESIERIM
MBHARE 3L

o fERABHERARESLM
BEH %

e RMBRHEMEMEHETH
BETHBRERMS -

RETEINEREE (WES
R RIE) ME  BELFMHR
AMEHERIRE 8RR HEEETT
ERABRENS - BEFEAS
HERENTBERAEREAL
SEBERRER HEREaH
HEFOEEHHENEREE £
Ft - Bl [ AR OE AR 3R B



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBHE(E)
(Continued)

(p) Financial instruments (Continued) (p) &FTH (&)

Financial assets (before application of HKFRS
9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets that are carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the impairment loss
recognised is the differences between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is
reduced by the impairment loss directly for
all financial assets with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued
by the Group are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBE(E)
(Continued)

(p) Financial instruments (Continued) (p) &FTH (&)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discount)
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade receivables and
accrued expenses and other payables (excluding
receipt in advance)) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at
the date when derivative contracts are entered
into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risk and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liabilities derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks. Restricted
bank deposits are excluded from cash and cash
equivalents.

(p)

(a)

2. ¥ESHBRGE)

&MTI A ()

AR
AEEEREENDRBSREN
BRRMNERE XMx B
HECREEREERBRBA
2B o [ B K (2] 3 B BYUH 7 38 & &
BE - WASEEBRARERS
R 4B R BD o) B K% [0 3 I A A 47
HEEBREE ASERIAER
BEEZREBAE N EAIEAX
MeeBBERAREEE - HAK
ERECEZCREERAER
REP oy BB B[] 3 - AN 6% 8 A] 4
BHERTREE TR KR
ISR AEREEAEER -

REUEERREHERAFEZ S
MEER EEREEHECEKR
EEREzEMEZZ% 81

BaER -

AEBEREEAREENEIESR
- BUBSKE & IEE - 77 & BUH
BRERAE BIEERZE
MEBEZREERDONREMK
BRIEZHEGNIERER

BeRkBe®ED
REERERERME - RHER
ReEBEYERETFHEES EH
TR ARBAR-—RE=MA
Z R ] T 53R Ko A] e B e 4k
RENBHEASEBEZBRER
PTARZEMBERBERE - H
BARZKREBEIBRARERS
EIRZAREBD ZIRITIEX -

REAMBHRRRTE  RER
HeSENBEFARS RET
T - R RTERKAAR
SRASEEY -

Annual Report 2018 fE4R

103



104

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(r) Employee benefits

U]

(i)

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Share-based payments (Continued)
During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior
years is charged/credited to profit or loss
for the year under review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
share options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the
share option reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to retained
profits).

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are
classified as a separate allocation of retained earnings
within the equity section of the consolidated statement
of financial position, until they have been approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders
and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Trading licence

Trading licence with indefinite useful life represents
a membership in The Chinese Gold and Silver
Exchange Society and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z—\F+-A=+—HLEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. 8

(Continued)
(u) Related parties
() A person or a closed member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group, if
that person:

(@) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(b)  has significant influence over the Group;
or

(c) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group.

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(@) the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

(b) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(c) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

(d) one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

(e) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(f)  the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (i);

(9) a person identified in (i) (a) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(h)  the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESFBHE(E)

(Continued)

(u) Related parties (Continued)
Close family members of an individual are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The accounting policies adopted in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 are consistent with those followed in the
preparation of the Group’s annual financial statements
for the fifteen months ended 31 December 2017 except
as described below.

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the
first time, the following new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretations (collectively referred
to as the “new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the
HKICPA, which are effective for the Group’s financial
year beginning on or after 1 January 2018. A summary
of the new and revised HKFRSs applied by the Group is
set out as follows:
HKAS 7 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative
HKAS 12 (Amendments)  Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses
HKAS 28 (Amendments)  As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

HKAS 40 (Amendments)  Transfer of Investment Property

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)  Classification and Measurement of
Share-Based Payment Transactions

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)  Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new
and revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current year and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in the consolidated
financial statements.

The above new and revised HKFRSs have been applied
in accordance with the relevant transition provisions in
the respective standards and amendments which results
in changes in accounting policies, amounts reported
and/or disclosures as described below.

(a) Impact on the consolidated financial

statements

The following tables show the adjustments
recognised for each individual line item. Line items
that were not affected by the application of new
and revised HKFRSs have not been included. As a
result, the sub-totals and totals disclosed cannot
be recalculated from the numbers provided.
The adjustments are explained in more detail by
standard below.

3.

ERAMITREETEEME
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BEMBRELRAHAEERAFER
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(a) HEAHMBEERRZIRE

TRINFASEFHBBERZA
E-WEHITZEAMIER
M mEENTEZIRE - Bt
PR 2 /et R ARG R FT S
BFrEFHFE - -FRAABREE
AR T XFFAIE A -

Consolidated statement of REeMBRAE 31 December 1 January
financial position (extract) (BE) 2017 HKFRS 15 2018
E—t§ FEUBRE —Z-N\E§
+ZA=+—-H HE RIS 1558 —A—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#Rr FT#T TET
Current assets mODEE
Amounts due from customers for EWEF AL TiEFIA
contract works 5,007 (5,007) -
Contract assets BNEE - 5,462 5,462
Deposits, prepayments and other %4 ~ BN AR E
receivables JE Y ghia 16,344 (455) 15,889
Current liabilities REBRE
Amounts due to customers for ENEEANTIRTE
contract works 374 (374) -
Contract liabilities aHEE - 17,124 17,124
Accrued expenses and other FEE B R H o JE A
payables WIE 26,197 (16,750 9,447
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure

(c)

Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the
first time in the current year. The amendments
require an entity to provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. In
addition, the amendments also require disclosures
on changes in financial assets if cash flows from
those financial assets were, or future cash flows
will be, included in cash flows from financing
activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following
to be disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash
flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining or losing
control of subsidiaries or other businesses; (i) the
effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv)
changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, (2) expected credit losses
(“ECL”) for financial assets and (3) general hedge
accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance
with the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9,
i.e. applied the classification and measurement
requirements (including impairment under ECL
model) retrospectively to instruments that have
not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018
(date of initial application) and has not applied
the requirements to instruments that have
already been derecognised at 1 January 2018.
The difference between carrying amounts at
31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts at
1 January 2018 are recognised in the opening
retained earnings and other components of equity,
without restating comparative information.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

(c) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)
Accordingly, certain comparative information may
not be comparable as comparative information
was prepared under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of
HKFRS 9 are disclosed in note 2.

(i) Classification and measurement

HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into
three principal classification categories:
measured at amortised cost, at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) and at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”). These supersede HKAS 39’s
categories of held-to-maturity investments,
loans and receivables, available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets
measured at FVPL. The classification of
financial assets under HKFRS 9 is based on
the business model under which the financial
assets is managed and its contractual cash
flow characteristics.

Non-equity investments held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

- Amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. EHEHITREETTEEME

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING MELER (B

STANDARDS (Continued)

(¢) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (c) BEEMBHREERNER LM
(Continued) I A (&)
(i) Classification and measurement (Continued) () 7 ;ﬂ‘i (#&)

- FVOCI — recycling, if the contractual = ANFEFEHEEE
cash flows of the investment comprise @J.ﬁr?\ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%“*
solely payments of principal and interest ATEE . mRREN
and the investment is held within EHNHREREERE
a business model whose objective K& RFEWHXZ -
is achieved by both the collection BEHBERENERE
of contractual cash flows and sale. AEEBMNBAKIRAE
Changes in fair value are recognised in H]R M E &M

other comprehensive income, except EFEHN - -RFEEF
for the recognition in profit or loss EEWE%EW# e
of expected credit losses. When the RoEEHEERIE
investment is derecognised, the amount TEZANERR ﬁl\ o
accumulated in other comprehensive EIRERIEER
income is recycled from equity to profit £ E A2 I’ﬂ £
or loss; or e g N ERE
HEBGD K

- FVPL, if the investment does not - NUAFEH=EAEE
meet the criteria for being measured i AE BHiESE
at amortise cost or FVOCI (recycling). REEITENE

Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are Ef%ﬁﬁi%@)?rk,
recognised in profit or loss.

TﬁﬁnWﬁE 71 °

BuESREDBRARFER
ERHEHAAZTHES K
BaEREW LR S MEMHF
ﬁ LA&E@%MSEE%&EH% g

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment
is not held for trading purposes and on
initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate BEERBHEREEERUA

the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) ?Tﬁ AEHEEHTAEMEE
such that subsequent changes in fair value Y2k (Rl EleE) - LB A TFEY
are recognised in other comprehensive BBFHTEEMEEBREAER °
income. Such elections are made on an FHEREARBEEIEEL B

instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is
made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the
investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI
(non-recycling), are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-ZT-—N\F+A=1T—HILFE
3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)
(c) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

U

(i)

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

Classification and measurement (Continued)
There is no reclassification or remeasurement
of the financial assets, including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and retention sum
receivables, deposits and other receivables
for the adoption of HKFRS 9.

The measurement categories for all
financial liabilities remain the same. The
carrying amounts for all financial liabilities at
1 January 2018 have not been impacted by
the initial application of HKFRS 9.

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure ECL which uses
a lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets. Except for those which
had been determined as credit impaired
under HKAS 39, the remaining balances are
grouped based on internal credit rating. The
Group has therefore estimated the expected
loss rates for the trade receivables and
contract assets on the same basis.

Except for those which had been determined
as credit impaired under HKAS 39, ECL for
other financial assets at amortised cost,
including other receivables, time deposits
and bank balances, are assessed on 12m
ECL basis as there had been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. EHEHITREETTEEME

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING SR ()

STANDARDS (Continued)

(d) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with d FEMBEHEELERFISRF
Customers and the related amendments Fa#ikzRHERER

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time
in the current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS
18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
the related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following
major sources which arise from contracts with

AEERAFEEREREREY
BmEERE155 - BAVBR
HFEREISFEMA BB G LR
F185i Mz - BEAE G ERFE 1
MERAANEERE -

AEEEUTREEFANZE
B HORRE RIS

customers:

e provision of construction ancillary services o RHUHBEREERY
e provision of aviation and traveling services o REHMEIRERY

e provision of financial services o RRHESERBE

AEEBERKA LAFRHEP
ERkE AEAEERNEE
K &R &8 B 75 R 2 RIS 1557
EENEARRNERREE M
BRI 23 5 -

The Group recognises revenue from the above
sources which arise from contracts with
customers. Information above the Group’s
performance obligations and the accounting
policies resulting application of HKFRS 15 are
disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. EHHITREETETEEME

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

(d) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers and the related amendments
(Continued)
Except the reclassification, as the table shown
below, of amounts due from customers for
contract works and retention sum receivables
under deposits, prepayments and other
receivables to contract assets and amount due
to customers for contract works and deposits
received from customers for construction work
under accrued expenses and other payables
to contract liabilities and further disclosure set
as related note in the consolidated financial
statements, the directors believe that the
application of HKFRS 15 has no impact on the
amounts reported set out in the consolidated
financial statements.

WEER(|)
(d FEEMBEREEANFISREF

F&# s RAHREET ()

BRTMTRATEBKREFAHT
ERENRES - AN FERE
fEBRIB T 2 BRRE ZEHN
DRERANEENENERPEH
TRRAENREAX REME
NHRBETZEREFPZETER
CTEMDOBERANEAE  URKE
B BHmRAMM T 2 —
TRBEIN EEREERAELEY
BWmE LR F155% EERE KR
KT EBETELE -

Carrying
Carrying amounts under
amounts HKFRS 15 at
previously 1 January
reported at 2018
31 December RZE-N\F
2017 —A—H
T4 BERERE
+-HA=1—"H WEEE
JE$R%E 2 Reclassification F15%2
FEE EFNE REE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET TET TEL
Current assets wEBRE
Amounts due from customers for EWEFA#IRZA
contract work (note (i) (Bi0) 5,007 (5,007) -
Deposits, prepayments and other ’e - BAFEREMER
receivables (note (i) HIE () 16,344 (455) 15,889
Contract assets (note (i) BWEE(WH)) - 5,462 5,462
Contract liabilities nERAR
Amounts due to customers for contract JE{T B P4 4 T12 315
work (note (i) (Hz0) 374 (374) -
Accrued expenses and other payables [Ef 5 5 [ £ b fE (1 7008
(note (i) (i) 26,197 (16,750) 9,447
Contract liabilities (note (i), i) BRBEMH) - @) - 17,124 17,124
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)
(d) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers and the related amendments
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) In relation to construction contracts previously accounted
under HKAS 11, the Group continues to apply input
method in estimating the performance obligations
satisfied up to date of initial application of HKFRS
15. HK$5,007,000, HK$374,000 and HK$455,000 of
amounts due from/to customers for contract work and
retention sum receivables previously included in deposits,
prepayments and other receivables were reclassified to
contract assets and contract liabilities respectively.

(if) At 1 January 2018, receipt in advance of HK$16,750,000
in respect of construction contracts previously included in
accrued expenses and other payables were reclassified to
contract liabilities.

Significant financing component

For contracts where the period between the
payment by the customer and transfer of the
promised property or service exceeds one year,
the transaction price should be adjusted for the
effects of a financing component, if significant. The
Group has assessed that the financing component
effect was insignificant.

Disclosure of the estimated impact on the
amounts reported in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2018 as a result of the
adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2018

The following tables summarise the estimated
impact of adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018, by comparing the
amounts reported under HKFRS 15 in these
consolidated financial statements with estimates
of the hypothetical amounts that would have been
recognised under HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 if those
superseded standards had continued to apply to
2018 instead of HKFRS 15. These tables show
only those line items impacted by the adoption of
HKFRS 15:

3. ERWMITREECTEEME
WEER(|)

(d FEEMBEREEANFISREF

F&#ia: R AERMEET ()

HaE -

0] RERMBEBE B ST EAFEI1R
AENREEGNNS  AEEEE
RARAEGAREAERATEY
ERELREIGERCERNE
4 EfE - o Bl A5,007,0007% T *
374,000/ 7T }%455,000/8 7T 2 F& W
SENAH IR ERERRES
(AERF A S - B REREAME
WRE) DARETHERENE
EMANAEE-

(ii) RZZE—NF—A—B %z
ABHAIREMEMRBEOZE
A #) 2 B U3k E 16,750,000/ L B2
EFHEAGNARE -

EXRBHG
WMENRERELTREEB A
A MERIRT 2 BEBE—F
RHEFERABURKREE N
VEE(MBERXN) - AKEFE
MEHPOFELTEK -

REBEE—_2—-N\F+=-A=+—
ALFEREEAR_-T—/\F—
R—HEMEEMBEEEEANSE
155EMABHETZGE

TRUAEEBHE T N\F
TZA=1t—HBLEFENGEEH
BHRAMBSRAEEVHRE
ERIEIGHEOETEE TR
Rt EEAMBREFPREEM
B EERE 1R
HEARRILZE B SR ERIFE18% &
EREGENEIRERNBRE
SHRMGABFELR (HZEE
RERIMIEFE M B REERFR
155 —HEAR T —/\F) -
HEINREBTZEIRMAETR
SRR ELERIE15RF EHIAR ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A & =3

iR B Ig R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)
(d) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers and the related amendments

(Continued)

Disclosure of the estimated impact on the
amounts reported in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2018 as a result of the
adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2018

(Continued)

3. ERWMITRESTEEME
WEER(R)

(d FEEMBEREEANFISRKEF
F&# s R AEREET ()

RB8E-—2—N\E+=-RA=+—
ALEFEERSEEAR_-S—I\F—
A—HEMEEMBEEEENSE
1ISEMIBHEBAZAMARE
(#)

Difference:
Estimated impact
of adoption of

HKFRS 15 on 2018
Amounts reported Hypothetical (A) - (B)
in accordance with amounts under 28
HKFRS 15 HKASs 18 and 11 R-ZE-N&E
(A) (B) FMEE
BEBHE EAeiE BHBEE
BEE E18R 115 ERE15%50
F155%: 5148 THERE it 2
SEN %) (A)-(B)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TEL TEL
Line items in the consolidated RZB-N\F+ZB=1-
statement of financial position as AFaRERRERRH
at 31 December 2018 impacted by WEEMEBRE
the adoption of HKFRS 15: ERESREENER
Contract assets AEE 3,964 - 3,964
Amounts due from customers for EREFANIRTA
contract work - 1,714 (1,714)
Deposits, prepayments and other %e BNFEREMER
receivables A 21,613 23,863 (2,250)
Line items in the reconciliation of BEZE-\E
profit before taxation to cash +TZAZ+-HLEE
generated from operations for RiRaaTHRESEER
year ended 31 December 2018 BRECHERERNE
impacted by the adoption of BHBEREENE15H
HKFRS 15; MEMmETEHA
Decrease in contract assets AMEERD 1,043 - 1,043
Decrease in amounts due from BREFPAHIRIERD
customers for contract work - 3,293 (3,293
Increase in deposits, prepayments and e BOFEREMER
other receivables TIELE (5,284) (7,534) 2,250
Increase in contract liabilities alBEEM 499 - 499
Increase in amounts due to customers ERERANTIRIELN
for contract work - 499 (499)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material®
(Amendments)

HKAS 19 (Amendments)  Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

HKAS 28 (Amendments)  Long-term interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

HKFRS (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle!

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)  Definition of a Business?

HKFRS 9 (Amendments)  Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets
(Amendments) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

HKFRS 16 Leases'

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

2 Effective for business combination for which the acquisition date
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on
or after 1 January 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

ERAMITREETEEME
WEER (]|

7 4 (B30 4 32 2 fE A T 51 2 A 46 18
KEMMF T RGBT EBHERE
%8

BRGHERFIRR EXENESS
BRI ELS

(BETA)

BEGHENE 0% LT BARLE

(BE%)

BRGRAF0HE NBERARAEAT RS

(BE%) R’

ERUBREEN BRWBHREEN-FT-1F

(BE%) E-TLEEBCER
B

ERUBREEN XBEATH

F3% (BT A)

ERMBREEN ARAREZRREREN

FO% (BATA)

BREMHREERN REFHREBENAR
F10RREEGT ASELAZANEELE
BRFWH(BE]  TRAS

x)
ERmEmEEL HE
£165
BEVBREEN  RRAD
F175
BE(ERYBREREHER 2 THTE
EZEg)
- RRBR20%
* RoE—NGE— BBz GHEEE
HARS A 2

2 HWBEARE T _TF-A B2k
RIge B EFEHMMERR 2 BNEYR
BHFER -

8 R-B-TFE-A-—BRZ2EABZFE
HEAER -

4 R-B-—F—-—A-BRz2EABZFE
HEAER -

o REGEE B2 RFABZFEHB
ER e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS
16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts
on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled
by a customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales
and leaseback transactions to be determined based
on the requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the
transfer of the relevant asset should be accounted as a
sale. HKFRS 16 also includes requirements relating to
subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured
at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the
impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the
classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows
in relation to leasehold lands for owned use while other
operating lease payments are presented as operating
cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated
into a principal and an interest portion which will be
presented as financing cash flows by the Group.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 16.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of approximately
HK$2,809,000 as disclosed in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS
16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases
unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases

The application of new requirements may result in
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure
as indicated above. The Group intends to elect the
modified retrospective approach for the application of
HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative
effect of initial application to opening retained earnings
without restating comparative information.

Except disclosed above, the directors do not anticipate
that the application of other new and revised HKFRSs
will have a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and financial positions.

3.

ERAMITREETEEME
WEER (]|

EEMBEREENE16RELS (1)
RZZE-—NFE+-_A=+—H =K
EEBBE T MECEREREY
2,809,000/8 7t (M0 4R & B 7% 3R & BT =%
Q0TI EE) - MR RBZE LS
HFEMHENTEE REREBTHR
EREBIFEICTE A% AL B BEE
ZEMEHERRERAEEERARE
BE KRIKSEGERAREABAXE
HME -

RAMMETXGER LM E 25
REENES AEBEFEZLER
EWERAE BV HEREERNF165R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR B Ig R M A
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4,
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.

(a) Revenue recognition of contracts

The Group recognises contract revenue and
profit of a contract during the provision of design,
fitting-out and decoration services and design and
decoration services by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction at the end of the
reporting period. Progress towards complete
satisfaction is measured based on input method.
Estimated revenue is determined with reference
to the terms of the relevant contracts. Contract
costs which mainly comprise sub-contracting
charges and costs of materials are estimated by
the management on the basis of quotations from
time to time provided by the major subcontractors
or suppliers involved and the experience of the
management. Notwithstanding that management
reviews and revises the estimates of both contract
revenue and costs for the contract as the contract
progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in
terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher
or lower than the estimates and this will affect the
revenue and profit recognised.

Management reviews the contracts for foreseeable
losses whenever there is an indication that
the estimated contract revenue is lower than
the estimated total contract costs. The actual
outcomes in terms of total contract costs or
contract revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of each of the reporting
period, which would affect the revenue and profit
recognised in future years as an adjustment to the
amounts recorded to date.

The carrying amounts of contract assets and
current liabilities arising from contracts are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Provision of ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets
The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL
for the trade receivables and contract assets. The
provision rates are based on internal credit ratings
as groupings of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on
the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. In addition, trade receivables and
contract assets with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables and contract assets are
disclosed in notes 16 and 18 respectively.

o 8 Bt A I PUER (68)
(b) WHAEKRRLUREHEEZ

FRAEREGIRER
AEBFERBREREEAEESE
WFERENEENEREER
1B BEEIERRBEEENFR
AAEERUEREENTRIE
BAGHEATRER - B HER
EERAEENELEOER X
ZEREFTBERALE I MES
MAEBA XFRMATEEER -
REBRESEH ABENELE
HWERGEHE - LEEATE M
ERMES Ui BAEXRSE
BEEERENE S EYRIEAER
BHNEEREBHIGRBER
EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR RS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4.

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c) Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment
In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates
the useful lives of property, plant and equipment
to determine the amount of depreciation expenses
to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated at
the time the asset is acquired based on historical
experience, the expected usage, wear and tear
of the assets, and technical obsolescence arising
from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also performs
annual reviews on whether the assumptions made
on useful lives continue to be valid.

(d) Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in
Hong Kong. Significant judgement is required
in determining the worldwide provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

(e) Impairment of trading licence

Trading licence with indefinite useful life are
reviewed for impairment at the end of each
reporting period or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of the asset is the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL

RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments

5. EMIARBFRBETE
(a) &MIRZEHT

As at
®
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E—N\F —E—+F
+=ZA=+—8 +t=-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Financial assets: SMEE:
Measured at amortised costs WK AR 2 138,519 -
Loan and receivables (including B3 Y sk s
cash and bank balances) (BIERe RIBITHER) - 175,856
As at
®
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
+=-—R=+—H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 AT
Financial liabilities: SMAR:
At amortised cost birg: 1D 28,422 48,971

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

Market risk
() Interest rate risk

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
Group did not hold any assets and liabilities
which are exposed to significant interest risk.

(b) MERBREZERRBE

AEB A S E R Z R KRR -
™5 R B (B 5 F X & kA HNE
R  FEERBREITEEZME
@ o NEE AR E R E RS
AEEMTENTAERE &
K K2 2 o P (K 3 7K 5% [ B 7%
REMEEEETE -

H 4% W B

0 FEREE
R-B-NER_F—tF
TZA=+—B  XEEL
BB R E AR X [ R #
TAEENREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-ZT-—N\F+A=1T—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain portion of bank
balances and cash denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency
of the entities to which they related. The
Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period
to major currency risk:

5. eEMIARRFTARETE

(#)

(b) FAFEPREE B RERBR (&)

4% W B ()

(i)

S B
AEBEFA T ERA
HEERBDREERUINZE
BWRTHEBRLERE - A%
B A b 4 51 B R UK -
A EEESEEINER
b WHEEHREE B
BERINE R -

TREIINBERARANEE
PrE bR B E B RERAFS

Liabilities Assets

ffk aE

As at As at

® I

31 December  31December ~ 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-)\f S-+F ZE-)\fF “5-tF
+ZRZt+-B ft-A=+-B +ZB=+-R +-A=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TET T
British Pound (GBP") 25 ([%45)]) - - 20 21
Canadian Dollars (‘CAD") mgA () - - = 1
Euro ['EUR') B ([B7)) - - H 58
Japanese Yen (‘JPY’) AE(BE]) - - - 8
Renminbi (‘RMB’) AEB(ARE]) - - 46 1,758
Singapore Dollars (“SGD’) W (F ) - - = 2%
United States Dollars (‘USD") Enl%Em) - - 2,098 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

5. eEMIARRFTARETE
(#&)
(b) FAFSEPREE B RRBR ()

Market risk (Continued) 4% BB (#8)
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (i) ShEEJE B (A
The foreign currency sensitivity analysis S & 30 R SE 5T

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects
of fluctuation in GBP, CAD, EUR, JPY, RMB,
SGD and USD.

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (fifteen months ended 31
December 2017: 5%) increase and decrease
in HK$ against GBP, CAD, EUR, JPY, RMB,
SGD and USD. 5% (fifteen months ended
31 December 2017: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used in the current period when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary
items. If HK$ strengthen 5% against GBP,
CAD, EUR, JPY, RMB, SGD and USD
whiles a positive number below indicates an
increase in profit, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit as those
referred to in the table below:

AREBTZmMH RS M
LB BHE- AR
IR TT R RTUR B E

TREJIAREEE BT LR
g mx- BT BE-A
R~ 37 hns ot R 2T N
KR A% (BE-FT—tF
TZA=t—HILE+AHMEAA
HIRE : 6%) MVBURRE #F15 -
5% (HE-_T—tF+=A
=t+—Bilt+REAHE :
5%) RN AHE A X BEE
B A8 e ¥R & SN Rl Bz Y
8RR kR RE R
PE[E R A I A RE 2 B A Y
- BREIMBEAREER
ASNESHENEBIAR - [
ABITH RS - T BT
BE - AR #iNE TR
ETTETE% AT IE#
Borom M Bl T R A
A% i M 2 A R F 48 R A

o4 .
wa.

Impact of GBP
EFHRE
Fifteen

Year ended months ended

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

8E HE

—E—N\EF —E—+tF

+=ZA=+—8 +t=-A=+—H

ILLEE I+ HREA

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAT

Sensitivity rate B E 5% 5%
Profit or loss v 1) =X s 48 1 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTSANDCAPITAL 5. @B I AR SR =E

RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) (#8)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MERBREEERRBE (§)
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 4% BB (#8)
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (i) SRS (E)
The foreign currency sensitivity analysis S KSR E T (AE)
(Continued)

Impact of EUR
5 0f 3
Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
B8F HE
—E—N\FE —E—+F

+=A=+—B +-A=1—H
LEE T AEA

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Sensitivity rate R 5% 5%
Profit or loss i M 2k 18 2 3

Impact of JPY
HEmMESE
Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
8BE H=E
—E—N\EF —E—tF

+=A=+—8 t-A=1—AH
LEE LA

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FET

Sensitivity rate R 5% 5%
Profit or loss s A S S 1B = 4

Impact of RMB
ARBHTE
Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
BE 8=
—E-N\E T tF

+=A=+—8 +t-A=1—A
LEE LT HEA

HK$’°000 HK$’000

THET FAT

Sensitivity rate R K 5% 5%
Profit or loss i A 2k 5 18 2 88
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL ERMTARSEARAEER
RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) (#8)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BERIETEHERBE (&)
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) i (8)
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (i) ShEEE R ()
The foreign currency sensitivity analysis I B R 2 (A2 )
(Continued)
Impact of SGD
Fnig TR &
Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE HE
—E—N\EF T —+F
+=ZA=+—8 +t=-A=+—H
ILEE F+HEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Sensitivity rate BB K 5% 5%
Profit or loss s ) ok B 18 - 1
Impact of USD
EH:0k4 4
Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
gE HE
—E—-N\F —E—+F
+=ZA=+—8 T=-H=+—H
ILEE IE+HREA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Sensitivity rate R R 5% 5%
Profit or loss i K sk 5 18 105 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTSANDCAPITAL 5. @B I AR SR =E

RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
bank balances and deposits, trade receivables,
and deposit and other receivables. The carrying
amounts of these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit
risk is considered to be low as the counterparties
are reputable banks. The existing counterparties
do not have defaults in the past. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at bank is
assessed to be close to zero and no provision was
made as of 31 December 2018.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected credit loss provision for all trade
receivables and contract assets. To measure
the expected credit losses, trade receivables
and contract assets have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group
has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk
and expected credit loss. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables and
contract assets that are individually significant
have been separately assessed for impairment.
The Group makes periodic assessments on the
recoverability of the receivables based on the
background and reputation of the customers,
historical settlement records and past experience.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from
individual customers in relation to construction and
ancillary services. The Group’s trade receivables
arise from construction and ancillary services. As
at the end of the year, the top five debtors and
the largest debtor accounted for approximately
83.4% and 70.5% (2017: 91.2% and 69.2%) of
the Group’s trade receivables balance. In view of
the history of business dealings with the debtors
and the sound collection history of the receivables
due from them, management believes that there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from these
debtors saved for the debtor related to the
impaired trade receivable disclosed in the below.
Management makes periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables
based on historical payment records, the length
of overdue period, the financial strength of the
debtors and whether there are any disputes with
the debtors.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 7 to 45
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.

5. ?ﬁﬁ;li&i*ﬂﬁﬁﬂ

MERREETEERR R (&)

EEmRE (E|)
REEHAS D WEREERE
FHEXMEERS AEE®
EZrEFEREEZMEER
BeoHEFL ARKEBAR
BAEBAMGAEEE S BRI
T8 45 8 4983.4% K% 70.5% (= &
— £ F 1 91.2%K69.2% ) ° & R
HEBAETESERNBER
M EEEAREKRENE
U BT EREMREAER
JE Ut S BTSN 2 R E B IR
HEBITEERNEERR  EA
BTITXHEBEZEREEZERR
B2 EBARN - EEERIER
FXffetr BHHR - EBEA
MBBENUAREBEHEARST
EAERNFZ THIHESRE
tb, JE LR 3R T8 A9 AT 4R [ 1 o

HEZRBBE—T2ENEENM
BREFETERNEENG HE
FHEERTFBEMREFR
EEMNMERNZ N WEE
EPEBEMNERPEMURERE
AR MEEREGANER -
ZESREWREESE LIRS A H#E
FrZ7TEAS KR AR H - A EE R
BTERBFEESERR -

AEENEREHMBEHEEER
MERTEEHRUREAREN
BEBRBE 2R REHBE
EEEFE R AEENBERE
EFEBRERYRBTITIAEFE
MEBEEATEREEZE Bt
ERNBHRENBERE ISR
AEENTREFPETHE S

25 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A & 3
AR RS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL 5,
RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

rating Description

R EB{E E R it

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default

& [ b and does not have any past-due
amounts
REGVBFEHNRREK - B W EF(THH
TR

Doubtful There have been significant increases

xR in credit risk since intial recognition

through information developed internally

or external resources
BAABAEHNEEIIINBER

FERR B B RHERARBZEN

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
BB credit-impaired
ERBBETEEREERAE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the

b debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

ARBBRTERARRBRENMHRE
AEEERR LI U E R A B

130 Royal China International Holdings Limited £ ERERBFRA S

eMIARSFRARER
(#8)
(b) MERBREEERRBE (§)
EERME(E)
REBH AN I ERER TR
BIELATER :
Trade
receivables Other financial
and contracts assets at
assets amortised cost
BOBKRER RESRTHEZ
ENRE Htt &R EE

Lifetime ECL - not  12-month ECL
credit-impaired 12 AFEEHEE
2HEBEES B
B-Y3EEE
WA

Lifetime ECL - not  Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired credit-impaired

ZHIEHEE ZHEHEE
BE-TIHEE EE-TIEEE

BB HIE
Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit impaired credit- impaired

FHRAEER 2HESEERS
B-EERE B-EERE

Amount is written  Amount is written off
off BEMEERLE
EEMEEBSRE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTSANDCAPITAL 5 &I BRI FTEAKBER
(#&)

RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to

ECL assessment:

Internal credit rating

12-month or lifetime ECL

(b) FAFSEPREE B RRBR ()

ERmEE ()
TRFNAEECREENEE
Rk HREAZXBHEREEREF
3

Gross carrying amount

PR SR 12EALZHANEESR HIEEE
HK$'000
AT
Financial assets
at amortised
costs
BRESEFTE
ZEMEE
Trade receivables  Low risk (note (a)) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 2
(note 16) B (# i) PHRHEEEE (LHEERE)
B HEWE
(Hrit16)
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 43
PN PHEHEEEE (LHEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 157
B#E EERE
202
Other receivables  Low risk 12-month ECL 15

(note 19) KRR P2EAEHREERE
H e FIE
(B1i£19)
Note: et
(@) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified (@) B 5 EMHORM = - AR E A

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit
losses on these items on an individual balance basis.

R BREERNFIR B E
EHENEEBRZBRBHE X
SERERGEHRELEEE LSRR
ZEAEEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2= A & B
i A BTSRRI 3T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_T— \F+-A=+—HLEE
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL 5,
RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables
and other receivables as at 31 December 2018
reconcile to the opening loss allowances as

EMIARBTSTARETE
(#&)
(b) FAFEPREE B RERBR (&)

(EE M ()

EA_%T*)\¢+ A=+—8"
B 5 I8 WSk I8 K E A 8 WA
5K 5 18 Bt 18 58 B ) 65 4B R 10

follows: HERWT -
Other financial
assets at
Trade amortised
receivables cost
BOER RESARFTE
RE CHth1emEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FEIT
At 1 January 2018-HKFRS 9 RZE—N\F—H—H
— BBV B E LR LW N -
Increase in loss allowance FRRIERERZEE
recognised in profit or B 18 0
loss during the year 202 15
At 31 December 2018-HKFRS 9  R_ZE—NE+_A=+—
— BB EER R 202 15

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period
greater than 60-90 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

The credit quality of the deposits has been
assessed with reference to historical information
about the counterparties default rate and financial
position of the counterparties. The directors are
of the opinion that the credit risk of deposits is
low due to the sound collection history of the
receivables due from them. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of deposits is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made as of 31
December 2018.

For other receivables relating to accounts that
are long overdue with significant amounts,
known insolvencies or non-response to collection
activities, they are assessed individually for
impairment allowance. The Group recognised the
allowance for expected credit losses by assessing
the credit risk characteristics of debtor, discount
rate and the likelihood of recovery and considering
the prevailing economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL

RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk management includes
maintaining flexibility by keeping sufficient cash
and cash equivalents generated from operations.
The Company regularly reviews its major funding
positions to ensure that it has adequate financial
resources in meeting its financial obligations.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivatives financial
liabilities which are included in the maturity
analysis provided internally to the key management
personnel for the purpose of managing liquidity
risk. For non-derivative financial liabilities, the table
reflects the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows.

5. eEMIARRFTARETE
(#8)

(b)

MERREDERR R (]&)

i B 39 & B
AEEEERDERARE SR
FEAE ETAREREEE
AR eRENBERBECEFE
Yo RARREMBERETEES
A EREBREM HETH
B&ER

TRAJNAKEFRTESREE
MBTANEIHA XERAAS
EIEREE T E A AR
TEEEHERASNIIOMNF -
METTESRABBEMS - ZKA
RBNASERAIHEREERR
MEEAMNERAEZRITER
RERE -ZREREANEEAE

AR~ —1
fﬁﬂiﬂwz °

Weighted
average
effective Total Total
interest Within Over undiscounted carrying
rate 1 year 1year  cash flows amount
£ 1]
mEFy HaRg BEE
ERil® —-%h -ELE an an
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
% THET T THT FHET
As at 31 December 2018 R-E-N\E+ZA=1-A
Non-derivative financial FiEEMAR
liabilities
Trade payables BSEMNE - 16,021 - 16,021 16,021
Accrued expenses and BRI RAENFE
other payables - 12,401 - 12,401 12,401
- 28,422 - 28,422 28,422
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A & 3
i & B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-ZT-—N\F+A=1T—HILFE
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL 5,
RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted
average
effective

interest
rate

MEFs
ERME
%

EMIARRFTEARER
(#&)
(b) MBEBREZBFERBE (K)
o B3R & WP (#8)
Total Total
Within Over undiscounted carrying
1 year 1year  cash flows amount
AR
RERg REE
-7 —#lE 2% 28
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

% TER TER TER TAL
As at 31 December 2017 R-E—t£+ZR=1+-8
Non-derivative financial EERMAR
liabilities
Trade payables BHERFA - 22,774 - 22,774 22,774
Accrued expenses and JESTR S R E MR
other payables - 26,197 - 26,197 26,197
- 48,971 - 48,971 48,971
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) EMIRZLFE

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

(i) the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions
and traded in active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market
bid and ask prices respectively; and

(i)  the fair values of other financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR IS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL
RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)
The carrying amount of other financial assets and
liabilities carried at amortised cost, approximate

their respective fair values due to the relatively
short-term nature of those financial instrument.

For financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
and 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the input to the fair value
measurements in its entirety.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels
1 to 8 based on the degree to which the fair value
is observable:

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active market for identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
and

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those
derived from valuation techniques that
include inputs for the assets or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

No analysis is disclosed since the Group has
no financial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value at the
end of the reporting period.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
year.

5. eEMIARRFTARETE
(#&)
(c) &MIRZLFHEE)

HRZEERMITAZAEERGE
BER BURE B AT IR ZH
fheRmEERBERAERLS
BRAFEMESE -

M BHEMS - A FEFER
BAFEFEBABE ZATBRR
BELRFEAEGABBEZE
BEZUHIN/RF— F_RE
=M

EERR/REAVBRRARZ
TREENERAEGBECREER
HRAFERES -

THREHRVPERERZRAFE
HEZEMIEZDN  BHEA
FEZABREENAE—HRE
B=4

s FMRAFEFEERER
BESREREEMEZR
BORERE)EHE

s F_ARFEEEREE
HBBEZEE (BER) X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR RS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CAPITAL 5,

RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Capital risk management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to fund
its construction business, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

There was no change in the Group’s approach to
capital management during the year.

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision-makers, review the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Information reported to the chief operating
decision marker, for the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment, focuses on the types of
goods or services delivered or provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WSR3 EFH (8)
(Continued)

The Group has three reportable segments under HKFRS NEEBRE ST BREERFESFEIAE T

8 as follows: E-EEATHRED BT -

(@) Construction and ancillary services — design, (a) BERIREERSE—FZ& FHE&-
fitting-out, decoration, alteration and addition, - MEBARN - ERREAM
construction and other related businesses. MEEER-

(o) Aviation and traveling services — aircraft (o) Mz IR ARG —REEIERS -
management service, service of aircraft sales and REHEERBE EREBERER
aircraft leasing ancillary service. 7% o

(c) Financial services — precious metal trading ) =B EcBETXEBRHM
business and financial advisory service. R IRFS -

Segment revenue and results PR ERER

Construction Aviation
and and
ancillary traveling Financial
services services services Total
Bx 2 g
REERS R &R AR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FTET FTET FET
Year ended 31 December BE_Z-)\F+ZA
2018 =+-HLEE

Segment revenue o EE 150,832 36,482 - 187,314

Segment results HELE 22,077 3,432 (2,834) 22,675

Unallocated corporate income Ko Bl E WA 258

Unallocated corporate expense A9 Fe b 2R % (37,081)

Loss before taxation bR B A 1B (14,148)

Taxation HIE (2,478)

Loss for the year FREE (16,626)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(Continued)

Wik S BEH (&)

Segment revenue and results (Continued) SR EE (8)
Construction Aviation
and and
ancillary traveling Financial
services services services Total
£ i 2 Bk 3
REERS k% AR Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FTET FTiET FTiET
Fifteen months ended BE-_Z—t5+=A
31 December 2017 =+—HLT+EER
Segment revenue A EM 128,270 28,010 1,117 157,397
Segment results DEEE 20,416 8,152 (3,832) 24,736
Unallocated corporate income R A B A 620
Unallocated corporate expense KA ERT (31,646)
Loss before taxation B Tt Al &S 18 (6,290)
Taxation WA (2,982)
Loss for the period HNEE (9,272)

Segment results represent the profit earned by or loss
from each segment without allocation of unallocated
corporate income and unallocated corporate expense.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue

generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales in the year/period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B AE R P A

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

AN
N

6.

(Continued)

6. BRI WBEH ()

Segment assets and liabilities SHEBERARE
Construction Aviation
and and
ancillary traveling Financial
services services services Total
B
REERE MZRERE R @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FTERT FTET FTET
As at 31 December 2018 RZB-\F
+=A=+-A
Assets gE
Segment assets NEEE 49,083 6,694 27,026 82,803
Unallocated assets AOEBE 77,202
Consolidated total assets GAEERE 160,005
Liabilities =X
Segment liabilities paR=iy== 8,722 19,060 51 27,833
Unallocated liabilities *OEEBE 1,462
Consolidated total liabilities ReaREES 29,295
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(Continued)

Wik S BEH (&)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) SHEERERE(B)
Construction Aviation
and and
ancillary traveling Financial
services services services Total
REERYE MEKRERS AR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
AL TAEL FTHEL FTAEL
As at 31 December 2017 R-2—t&£+=A
=+-—H
Assets gE
Segment assets NHEE 56,342 30,527 22,851 109,720
Unallocated assets *oEREE 91,867
Consolidated total assets GRBELE 201,587
Liabilities =2
Segment liabilities NEaE 26,434 17,889 1,440 45,763
Unallocated liabilities KPERARE 3,582
Consolidated total liabilities GABEESR 49,345

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated corporate assets
(mainly comprising cash and cash equivalents and
deposits and prepayments); and

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments

other than unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly
comprising other payables and accruals).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. ISR 9T HE ()

(Continued)
Other segment information Htha I HE
Construction Aviation
and and
ancillary traveling Financial
services services services  Unallocated Total
B
REERE HZiEEkE SRS AR At
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TER TR TER
Year ended 31 December BE_Z-N\E+ZH
2018 S+-HLEFE
Capital expenditure BERRER - - 376 354 730
Depreciation & 869 133 56 1,879 2,937
Gain on disposal of property, ~ HENE  BER
plant and equipment B A (150) - - - (150)
Construction Aviation
and and
ancillary traveling Financial
services services services Unallocated Total
REERE MERERS E RAR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TEL TEL TER TAR
Fifteen months ended BE_Z-t£+ZH
31 December 2017 =+—-BLE+EEAR
Capital expenditure BAEY 1,473 796 125 2,549 4,943
Depreciation g 1,459 83 15 1,062 2,619
Impairment loss recognised BHRMTEL
on trade receivables BERAEES 1,001 - - - 1,091
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BER
plant and equipment RELER 168 - - - 168
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Revenue from major services

The Group’s revenue from its major services during the

year/period is as follows:

6. WERSWBEH ()

EFERHF KIS
REBRF HRE E ZRE WK
T~

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE BHE
—E-)\f —E—tF
+=-A=+—H +ZA=+—H
LLEE LETHEA
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET TAET
Design and/or decoration service income et &/ HE R RA 16,271 33,546
Design, fitting-out and decoration service RE BB MEMHRBE WA
income 134,561 94,724
Aircraft management service income TR E 22 AR A WA 36,482 20,041
Commission income from acting as EIEELKHEMAEA
an agent for purchasing business jet RPN - 7,735
Aircraft leasing ancillary service income REAEREERB WA - 234
Financial advisory service income 75 R R AR A M A - 500
Sales of precious metal ESBHE - 617
187,314 157,397
The reconciliation of revenue from contracts with EEAAWE ZHEMT
customers is as follows:
Year end
31 December 2018
BE_Z-N\#F
+-A=+—FH
HEE
HK$’000
TAET
Recognised over time: BE Z B ) RS M RERR
Design and/or decoration service income AT RS E RS MR 16,271
Design, fitting-out and decoration service FE - REREMRBUKA
income 134,561
150,832
Recognised at a point in time: AR 2R
Aircraft management service income TR E 22 AR A A 36,482
187,314
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR BB R R M EE

6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its construction
contracts such that the Group does not disclose
information about revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the construction contracts as all
contract works have an original expected duration of
one year or less.

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong,
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Macau.

The Group’s geographical segments are classified
according to the location of customers. There are three
customer-based geographical segments. Segment
revenue from external customers by the location of
customers during the year/period is as follows:

Revenue from external customers

6.

Wik S BEH (8)

ELXHEREAMRAGEERMATS
Pl z: > AR A @R

AEEE K EEMBHREERIFE165%
FI2IBNEREETFRANRERA
W Wit AEBBTIREEAAE
B (ERETERSNNG RO T
Bﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁwm% s B BAAE
BHNIREAE—FHIUTHRERES
%ﬁo

#

mihEMEREZRH
AEEBLBHHUNEE FEAR

HANE (TR RORFT -

AEBERBEFUEE D HIED -
B ENESRBERENME D - B
F/HARBIINBEF D U (R
EPREZ )M :

kBHBERBES

Fifteen
months ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018 2017

BE BHE

—ZE-N\E —T—tF

+=—A=+—H +t=-A=+—8H

ILEE 1+ A E A

HK$’000 HK$’000

TFHET TET

Hong Kong BB 182,428 111,336
PRC # 4,886 44,561
Macau B P = 1,500
187,314 157,397
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

6.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

The Group’s geographical segments are also classified
by the location of assets, information about its
non-current assets by geographical location are detailed
below:

Wik S BEH (&)

minEMERMZEH (&)
AEENREBEEEMEME S D iR
DR ARBERBEENHBEEN
(RWIBLAES D) FBEWT

Non-current assets ERBEE
As at
3
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\EFE —E—+F
+-—A=+—H +=-A=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Hong Kong BB 13,688 15,895
Information about major customers EREEEZFRHEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year/ REEEE /BB AREFEEKZ R
period contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the 10%HE P T -

Group is as follows:

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
BE HE
—E—N\EF e

+=A=+—8 +t-A=1—A
LEE LT HEA

HK$’000 HK$’000

THERT FAT

Customer A* ZEA 45,887 -
Customer B =PB 63,384 18,535
Customer C* BFEC* - 22,607
Customer D* ZBD* - 21,520
Customer E* ZPEE* - 16,721
Customer F BPF 36,482 20,041

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for the respective year/period.

HERSEAEERBFEHH 8K
B TBE10% °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS

7. Hfthlrss 5K H 2 F

Fifteen

Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE HZE
—E—\F —E—tF
+=—A=+—H +t=-—HA=+—H
ILEE E+HEA
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET

Other revenue H it 0 25
Bank interest income HRATH B A 271 623
Other operating income Hfth 42 & A 851 823
Sundry income HMIE A 46 -
1,168 1,446

Other gains Htt =2 F)

Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEK&

plant and equipment Rtz W 150 -
Net exchange gains b 5 U a2 5 58 75 77
Total %] 1,393 1,523
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR RS R M T
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

8. MRIRAIEGIA

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE =
—E—)\F —E—+tF
+=A=+—H +t-—A=+—H
IEEE IE+HEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FAT
Loss before taxation has been BRELBIES BTN,
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (5t AN) IO EBER
Directors’ emoluments (note 10) ZEME (KizE10) 9,654 11,081
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHMBET
(excluding directors’ emoluments) (TEFEESEHE) 20,332 13,251
Pension scheme contributions RARSFEIHER (T REE
(excluding directors’ emoluments) BEME) 537 412
20,869 13,663
Auditors’ remuneration Z SR B
Audit services TR 880 850
Non-audit services IEEF R 155 63
Impairment loss recognised on trade BRI RBEZOER
receivables BB E 1B - 1,091
Allowance for expected credit losses ~ FEHB{= B &5 18 B % 217 -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BMEM
plant and equipment Bz (W) KR (150) 168
Depreciation of property, WE BMERSBINE
plant and equipment (note 14) (F$sE14) 2,937 2,619
Minimum lease payments under ERARRIGEMZEE
operating leases in respect of ME s &EBEEKE
office premises 9,957 9,684
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

9. TAXATION

]

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
8BE H=E
—E—N\EF T F

+=A=+—R t-A=1—H
LEE O ETT(EA

HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Current tax: BOEARR IR -
Hong Kong BB
Provision for the year/period FEREE 2,424 3,062
Under/(over)-provision in VARTEAfE, S E R
previous period/year TR/ (FBERE) 54 (80)
Current tax expense BN EAFR 18 F 2 2,478 2,982

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is calculated at 8.25% (fifteen
months ended 31 December 2017: 16.5%) of the first
HK$2,000,000 and 16.5% (fifteen months ended 31
December 2017: 16.5%) of the remaining estimated
assessable profits for the year, taking into account a
reduction granted by the Hong Kong SAR Government
of 75% of the tax payable for the year of assessment
2018-19 subject to a maximum reduction of HK$20,000
for each business (fifteen months ended 31 December
2017: a maximum reduction of HK$30,000 was granted
for the year of assessment 2017-18 and was taken into
account in calculating the provision for the year ended
31 December 2018).

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group
is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands
and the BVI during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The subsidiary of the Group established in the PRC is
subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax on its taxable
income at an income tax rate of 25%.

No provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has
been made as the subsidiary operated in the PRC had
no assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2018 (fifteen months ended 31 December 2017: nil).

et R BBEFRTRERFH#ELSN =
E-NE-NFABFERNBIETS%
R (M E B/ &= N EE A£20,000
ETEHE-ZE—+tF+-_A=+—8
Ft+AR@EA: —E—+E— \FFH
FE AT E /) & = 1 5 58 £30,00078
TV EFEEE-_ZE-NFE+ A
—t+—HILEFENBHERTR)) &
HE—_Z—N\F+_A=+—8BLHF
[E& B ME R 52,000,000 7T128.25%
(Hz—2—+F+=-_A=+—HL1Lt
+HEA :16.5%) sHR B E KB TE
TSR TF WG A AI1E16.5% (B = =
ET—+F+-_A=+—HBHIE+RHMEA:
16.5%) 5T -

RERSEHEREBREREHE (X8
BEESDNRUERY AEER
BE_ZT-N\F+-_A=+—HL#HF
EEREHEREBRERHESEAY
RS -

REBEFBEKLZZMERRERHE
& &R B gt M| }25% FfT 15 B2 75 = B 4
B XMEH -

HREREZENHBRAANEE
E-N\E+-_A=+—"HLFELE
JERB G A - E I Ept p B XA
GHRELBEE BE_ZT—tF+-A
=t—BitREAHE: 8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

9. TAXATION (Continued) 9.

No deferred tax has been provided for as there were no
material differences.

The income tax expense for the year/period can be
reconciled to the loss before taxation per consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as follows:

RIA (&)
MR EEAER R &5t RIS
ERIE S -

FE/RANMBHAIATREGEAEZ
MEM 2R KR A AR ATEE -
E3 N

Fifteen

Year ended months ended

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

HBE HE

—E-\E —T—tF

+-A=+-B +=ZA=+—H

LEE H+aEA

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FHT

Loss before taxation B BiR B 1R (14,148) (6,290)

Tax expense at rates applicable to BFEANEEREEER ST

profits in the jurisdiction concerned ZHEHEOBERS (2,498) (1,044)
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBGBRANRE T E

for tax purpose (205) (1,431)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AAMBRAT NG E

for tax purpose 2,241 1,070

Tax effect of temporary differences TREBEARBYE 165 (98)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERZHEEBENREYE 2,721 4,807

Tax loss utilised BEHACHEEE - (242)
Under/(over)-provision in previous period/year FHEIfE /EERBT R,/

(BEEREE) 54 (80)

Income tax expense for the year/period F/BNAMERAS 2,478 2,982

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has estimated tax
losses arising of approximately HK$22,584,000 (fifteen
months ended 31 December 2017: approximately
HK$6,933,000). Tax losses arising in Hong Kong are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 10. EEM &
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the mpzs == \E=as = B = o = (5] [[5 45
directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 and EXHE_ZE—+tHF+_A=+—H
the fifteen months ended 31 December 2017 are as IF+HRBEA ENENEENHNE
follows: HEBEWMT
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BEE_ZEZ—-N\E+-A=+—HL
£E
Salaries,
allowances,
bonuses and Pension
benefit in scheme Total
Fees kind contributions remuneration
A
2B TEHR B
e EMiEdl AEIHR Mewa
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET
Executive directors BTEER
Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff 2ERERE (FF)
(Chairman) - 2,730 18 2,748
Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong ARt (THER)
(Chief Executive Officer) (R=Z-N\ERmE+H
(resigned on 10 April 2018 and BERN-_Z-N\F
re-appointed on 27 August 2018) NAZ+EHEEZMA) - 1,748 12 1,760
Mr. SHIH Steven Chun Ning BREEE(RZE-N\F
(appointed on 27 August 2018) NAZ+EREZA) - 293 6 299
Mr. DENG Kui (resigned on BEib(R-F-N\E
26 September 2018) NAZTRAEE) - 3,072 14 3,086
Mr. LIU Yong Sheng AkEEERZE-NE
(resigned on 10 April 2018) MA+BET) - 605 - 605
Mr. ZHOU Hucheng BARBEE(RZE-NF
(resigned on 10 April 2018) mA+AET) - 325 - 325
Independent non-executive directors BIFHRITES
Mr. LEE Frank King-ting FHREERZE-NF
(appointed on 27 August 2018 and NAZHHREZER
resigned on 31 December 2018) RZE-N\%&
TZA=ZtT—HEHE) 83 - - 83
Mr. HO Hin Yip AiTEEE(RZT-N\F
(appointed on 27 August 2018) NAZTHREZA) 83 - - 83
Mr. GHAN Kwong Ming Johnny BRYALE (RS- N\F
(appointed on 27 August 2018) NAZTHREZA) 83 - - 83
Mr. LIU Gang AMEE(RT-N\F
(resigned on 26 September 2018) NAZTRBET) 134 60 - 194
Mr. YU Haizong REREE(RZT-N\F
(resigned on 26 September 2018) NAZ+RAEE) 134 60 - 194
Ms. AN Yiging ZYPERLT(RZE-NF
(resigned on 26 September 2018) AAZ+HEL) 134 60 - 194

651 8,953 50 9,654
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the fifteen months ended 31 December 2017

10. ESM & ()
BE-_FT—t¥+-A=+—-AL

+H{EAR
Salaries,
allowances,
bonuses and Pension
benefit in scheme Total
Fees kind  contributions  remuneration
EE AR g/ N
e EmEH FEIfR [
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL T FEL T
Executive directors RTEER
Mr. DENG Kui (Chairman) BEiA (FR) (Rt
(appointed on 6 July 2017) E+RARBEZE) - 1,470 9 1,479
Mr. LIU Yong Sheng AkERE(EEHIE)
(Chief Executive Officer) (RZT—tF
(appointed on 28 March 2017) ZAZTN\REZA) - 1,758 - 1,758
Mr. ZHOU Hucheng BARELE(RZE—+F
(appointed on 28 March 2017) ZAZTN\REZA) - 917 - 917
Mr. LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff REELE - 2,984 23 3,007
Ms. CHEW Christina Mooi Chong EliEE S N - 3,017 23 3,040
Mr. YANG Yong BERE(RZT—t4F
(appointed on 10 February 2017 ZRATREZER
and resigned on 28 March 2017) RZE—+F
ZAZTN\BEHE) - - - -
Mr. ZHAO Diangjng BEELE(R-Z—+4
(appointed on 10 February 2017 “RTREZAR
and resigned on 28 March 2017) RZE—+F
ZRAZ+N\REE) - - - -
Mr. SHIH Steven Chun Ning BRELE(RZE—tF
(resigned on 10 February 2017) —AtHET) - 290 8 208
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Mr. LIU Gang HMEE (RS —+4F
(appointed on 10 February 2017) “ATREZA) 107 - - 107
Mr. YU Haizong FEREERZE—LF
(appointed on 10 February 2017) “ATREZA) 107 - - 107
Ms. AN Yiging ZRERT (KT —+F
(appointed on 10 February 2017) “ATREZA) 107 - - 107
Mr. TANG Hamilton Ty BHETER-_E—+F
(resigned on 10 February 2017) ZAT AR 87 - - 87
Mr. LEE Frank King-ting FHREE(RZT—+F
(resigned on 10 February 2017) ZATREL) 87 - - 87
Mr. HO Hin Yip T ERE(RZT—+F
(resigned on 10 February 2017) ZATREL) 87 - - 87
582 10,436 63 11,081
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 10. EE#M& (&)

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and fifteen
months ended 31 December 2017, no emolument was
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

There were no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year ended 31 December 2018 and fifteen months
ended 31 December 2017.

REZE_ZE—N\F+=ZA=+—HL
FEMBE_T—tE+_A=+—
HEt+REA AEEBMERESY
NEMME EEREEMALEH
Bk W EEMAREBHER - sk
ERKREBBHEE -

RBE-_FT-N\F+-_A=+—H81L
FEMBE-_T—tFt-_A=+—
BEt+H@EA IYEEERELCAL
BRELRBREREAME

11. EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 1. EEMERAEREEHF AT
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Five highest paid individuals TEmEHFAL

The five highest paid employees of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 included three (fifteen
months ended 31 December 2017: four) directors,
details of whose remuneration are disclosed above.
The remuneration of the five highest paid individuals is
analysed as follows:

AEERHE-_FT-N\F+_A=1+—
FLEEzhAZEaFTALTEBE=4
(BE_ZT—tF+t-_A=t+—HLt
THEA MB)EF REIHFMF
BIOREXBEE AEESHFALZ
FMOMT

Fifteen

Year ended months ended

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

BE HE

—E—N\EF —E—tF

+=ZA=+—8 +t=-—A=+—H

ILLEE -+ HREA

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Directors 2% 7,594 9,284
Non-directors EEH 2,936 1,063
10,530 10,347
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

11. EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
Details of the remuneration of the above non-directors,
highest paid employees during the year ended 31
December 2018 and fifteen months ended 31 December

2017 are as follows:

11. EEMERAGBERETFAL
(48)
AEBEFAL R
BE—T—\FE+-_A=+—-AILt%F
ERBE-E—+&+-A=+—8
t+EER rhkEERSHES
THEHBERT

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
BE HE
ZE—N\F —E—+F

+=A=+—8 t-A=t—~
EEE Lt REA

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Salaries, allowances and bonuses e RBNIEA 2,912 1,048
Pension scheme contributions BRIRE TR 24 15
2,936 1,063
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

11. EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 1. EEMERABEESHF AL
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued) (#8)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued) IgEEHALT(E)
The number of these non-directors, highest paid MeB TNy SENEEIIEEESS 5
employees where remuneration fell within the following, EBEZABWMT :

and is as follows:

Number of individuals

AB

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
BE HE
—E—N\F —E—+F

+=A=+—A +t-A=1-A
LEE T HEA

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7L E
2,000,000/ 7T 2 1
2 1
Senior Management of the Group XEECEREEREB
The remuneration of the senior management (other than REBSHREEE (TRREEE)Z2H
directors) of the Group is within the following band: BHE R 5 & F -
Number of individuals
AR
Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE H=
ZE-N\EF —E—tF
+=-—R=+—H +=ZA=+—H
IEEE IE+ A 1EA
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %=1,000,0007% 7T = -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 T &
2,000,000/ 7T 2 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

11.

12.

13.

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
Senior Management of the Group (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2018 and fifteen
months ended 31 December 2017, no emolument
was paid by the Group to non-directors, highest paid
employees and senior management as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. None of the non-directors, highest
paid employees and senior management waived or
agreed to waive any emolument during the year ended
31 December 2018 and the fifteen months ended 31
December 2017.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not propose any payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (fifteen
months ended 31 December 2017: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share for the
year ended 31 December 2018 is based on the loss
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$17,373,000 (fifteen months ended
31 December 2017: loss of HK$10,193,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue of
500,000,000 (fifteen months ended 31 December 2017:
500,000,000).

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2018 and the fifteen months ended 31 December 2017
were the same as the basic loss per share as there were
no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during
the year/period.

11.

12.

13.
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EEMeERTRmEHFAL
(#8)

FEEZEREER (W)
RBEE-_ZF-N\F+-_A=+—HBL
FERBE_Z—tF+R=+—
RE+h@EA AEEMERALIFE
EZBREFREEARSRERENE
ME  EAERESFMAREEE K
Wol W EMAREENER  KIER
REBRBHHEE RBE-_T-N\F
TZA=+-BLFEERBE_Z
—tF+-_A=+—HiI+HEAH"
VTEYFEEZHRSHFRERSRE
BEMRARERRTAME -

Bz B
EETEARNBE_ZT-N\F+=
A=t —BLEFENEARMEE (B
E-F—tFt+-A=+—HLETH
@A : &) -

BERBR

HE-_ZT - \F+-A=+—-HLF
EZEBREAEBEBINERARRESR
A JEARF A B 18 #917,373,00058 7T (&
E-_ZT—+HF+-_A=+—HIt+HE
& A : #54810,193,000/ 7T) & 2 317
B A% 2 ANHE 7 15 £500,000,0000% (&
E-FE—+H+-A=+—HI1tt+TH
8 A : 500,000,0000% ) 5+ & o

BE_ZT-N\F+-_A=+—HILF
ErRBE—_FT—tHF+t-_A=+—H
F+aBEAZEREEEREGRE
AEEER RESNEHEFEH
R |ERTEEEE T RK -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. YK - BER &R
Furniture
Office and Motor Leasehold
equipment fixtures vehicles improvement Total
AR #HE
N BERE BHE PREE “a

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER

Cost: BE:
As at 1 October 2016 RZE-R"F+A-H 2,187 55 8,989 - 11,281
Additions NE 400 - 1,994 2,549 4,943
Disposal & - - (509) - (509)
As at 31 December 2017 RZB—+F
and 1 January 2018 +-A=+-HBk

—T-\5-HA—H 2,587 55 10,474 2,549 15,665
Additions NE 152 - - 578 730
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBRR (#7225

(note 25) (408) (19) - - (427)
Disposal & - - (906) - (906)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE—)\fF

+ZA=+—-H 2,331 36 9,568 3,127 15,062

Accumulated depreciation: BiHTE :
As at 1 Qctober 2016 RZE-"F+HA—-8H 2,023 55 5,275 - 7,353
Charge for the period R 137 - 1,420 1,062 2,619
Written back on disposal R ER#ERD - - (202) - (202)
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+&
and 1 January 2018 +-A=+-HBkK

“F-\¥—H—H 2,160 55 6,493 1,062 9,770
Charge for the year FRTH 132 - 1,330 1,475 2,937
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR (Hiz2s)

(note 25) (408) (19) - - (427)
Written back on disposal R E R - - (906) - (906)
As at 31 December 2018 RZB—)\f

+ZA=+—-H 1,884 36 6,917 2,537 11,374
Net book value: BESE:
At 31 December 2018 RZB-\%§
+-A=+-H 447 - 2,651 590 3,688
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+%F
+ZR=1+-1 427 - 3,981 1,487 5,895
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

15. TRADING LICENCE 15. XHEE
As at
»
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E—\F —F—+tF
+=—A=+—H +t=-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Cost of membership for a seat at SREZESE([E55])
The Chinese Gold and Silver @ 8 ERAKAK
Exchange Society (“CGSE”) (W it(a)

(note (a)) 10,000 10,000

Note: Biat -

(a) During the fifteen months ended 31 December 2017, the (a) RBEE-_T—+E+-_A=+—HIt+H
Group has acquired ordinary membership of the CGSE from an & A EAfS - 2N % @ LA10,000,000/% 7T &9 1K
independent third party at a consideration of HK$10,000,000. BR—2BYE-FRBEZIS LB

BEE -
The above trading licence has indefinite useful life and LA F R SRR R E ] A FH KR
was stated at cost less any impairment losses. B A AT ()R B B 18 51 BR o
16. TRADE RECEIVABLES 16. EH B RIE
As at
3
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E—\F —E—tF
+=—A=+—H +t=-—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Trade receivables E 5 WA 14,982 28,602
Less: Allowance for expected o TBHREE R G
credit losses (202) -
14,780 28,602

The Group’s credit term with its customers is, in REBBKTEREFNERE—MRATR

general, 7 to 45 days. The Group seeks to maintain 45K o 7N 52 B B A o ) 2R (B IR B IR

strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue DIE - ShEEETHEMB A -

balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A\ Bt ¥k & Ea

iR e ISR IR

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE-ZT-—N\F+A=1T—HILFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 16.
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of
allowance for expected credit losses, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

R7EUWRIEA ()
RBEAMLIINE S KA NR
BHEEBRRR OREATMT

As at
»

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E—\F —F—+tF
+=ZA=+—8 +t-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current to 30 days BN HE =30k 7,338 12,738
31 - 60 days 31 —60X 1,563 11,773
61 — 90 days 61—90XK 4,476 1,425
Over 90 days 90K A F 1,403 2,666
14,780 28,602

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses/
impairment loss on trade receivables, is as follow:

EHRKRE 2 BHBEERE RHE
BEiRREESWT

As at
»®
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
+=-—R=+—H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET FET
Balance at the beginning of F B
the year/period = -
Allowance for expected credit losses BERzEHEESE
recognised B 202 -
Impairment loss recognised on trade & 5 EUW A 2 2R
receivables WEEE - 1,091
Amount written off as uncollectible 3 QEINTiTE i Pl O = - (1,091)
Balance at the end of the year/period 4 HIK 4 84 202 -
Impaired trade receivables BERSEKRRE

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables,
the Group considers any change in the credit quality
of the trade receivables from the date credit was
initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the directors believe that there is no further
credit provision required in excess of the provision for
impairment on trade receivables.

BTEESREFENAREMEE K
SEZREEARLEEZAEER
EMRELEZREFENEEERN
T2 Hit E=TRREANRE
HE SRR KB EREE - TEL
EERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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iR ISR IR

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE-ZT-—N\F+A=1T—HILFE

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Impaired trade receivables (Continued)
The Group’s policy for impairment loss recognised
on trade receivables is based on an evaluation of
collectability and ageing analysis of the receivables
which requires the use of judgment and estimates.
Provisions are applied to the receivables when there
are events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be collectible. The management
closely reviews the trade receivables balances and any
overdue balances on an ongoing basis and assessments
are made by the management on the collectability of
overdue balances.

Details of allowance for expected credit losses
assessment under expected credit loss model of trade
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018 set
out in note 5(b).

Past due but not impaired

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances
are debts with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$17,120,000 as at 31 December 2017 which were
past due at the end of the reporting period.

Age of receivables that are past due but not
impaired

16. B BB HRIA (1)
i 8 B8 5 B e 5% R ()
R EE 5 8RR 2 O R R R RS
BB Ty B OB P B R A 5
iR T {1 ) T M (81 B £ % BR 6 5
WHIE - iR AR EE KRG 2
0 B8R 7R — 7 AT U (B 4 84 85 - BB
FEMCHURIE R - ERER AT Y)
TR E 5 I8 U 5K OB 4 68 T AT 0 BB
B+ 30 90 B 45 B 10 T B 1 1 5T
fis e

HE-F—\F+-A=+—RLF
B 5 U AR 0 9 A 45 AR 9 4
NETHRHEEBERFEZRERS
A 3ES(D) °

8 i B {8 i #% iRk (8
AEBESRERRFBESKBER =
E—+F+_A=+—HEEEY
17,120,000 7t i 1A ¥k 45 HA R £ 460 2B
MER

CaRAE I s B Z B RIRZ RS

As at
3

31 December
2017
—E—+tF
+—-A=+—8H
HK$'000
FAET

Less than 1 month past due
1 to 3 months past due
Over 3 months past due

BN —{EA
BH—=={EA
e =EA

10,919
4,288
1,913

17,120

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a
good track record with the Group. The management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in
respect of these balances as there have not been a
significant change in credit risk and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold
any collateral over those balances.

EE B E Y ERENERRIRRE T
HEASEARIERTHENBELRP
ER - -ANGEERRREBEEANEH N
REBERDERATAZRKE - A
It & 72 B R A 4 ZR A AE R A R 1 R
ERGE AKBTEIZSERTE
EAE MR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS 17. [l BN EF S I

17.

FOR CONTRACT WORK

®IR

As at
»
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
+=-—R=+—H +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET FH&T
Amounts due from customers BREERAHIERE
for contract work
Contracts costs incurred plus FrEE Z & #IR A N
recognised profits less B 1 R0 AR
recognised losses B R EE =* 8,933
Less: Progress billings received BRI W S K
and receivables = (3,926)
—* 5,007
As at
»
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
+=-—A=+—H +=-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
Amounts due to customers for ENERAHIERE
contract work
Progress billings received and B WORN FE Ul 2 3 T2 R
receivables —* 22,980
Less: Contract costs incurred W FTEE 2B KR
plus recognised profits less INE #ERE TR
recognised losses ERREBIE =* (22,606)
—* 374

All gross amounts due from/to customers for contract
work are expected to be recovered/settled within one
year.

Due to the adoption of HKFRS 15, effective on 1 January 2018,
the balance of amounts due from/to customers for contract work
were reclassified to contract assets and contract liabilities (note
3(d) and 18).

FiA R ENEE S TIRNE S
EHEHE—FRKE B -

MmN ERAE R B E ERIF165 (R =
E-N\F-A-HER  BR/ENEP
EHIRFRAZEBEENIREANE
ERAHEE (HE3(d)R18) °

Annual Report 2018 £E3R 159



160

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z—\F+-A=+—HLEFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

18. A EE AR

As at
®
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
ZE-N\E —E—+F
+=ZB=+—-B +tZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FEr
Contract assets: ENEE:
Construction services BERR% 1,714 -
Retention receivables [ (R 2 2,250 -
3,964 -
Contract liabilities: EHEE:
Construction services 2% AR 873 -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the

cumulative effect method and adjusted the opening
balances as at 1 January 2018 (note 3(d)).

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s
rights of consideration for work completed but not yet
billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The contract liabilities primarily relate to
the advanced consideration received from customers,
for which revenue is recognised based on the progress
of the provision of related services.

The balance of contract assets and contract liabilities
are expected to be recovered/settled within one year.

The terms of some construction contracts stipulate
that the customers withhold a portion of total contract
sum (usually 5%) and will be settled in accordance with
the terms of the respective contracts. The terms and
conditions in relation to the release of retention vary
from contract to contract.

AEBEEURHTELENERS
B EREENFISHY D AER =
T-NF—A—BZHEH (M
3(d)) °

EHEETERAKERNKEEH
En%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ% 2 HY T A2 i YER
REZEFN B - E A SE RS
B E2NEEBBREESRERKFA-
EHEREXERLERPUBMNEMK
BAME HbamHREEHEBERS
B E TR o

>

AHNEBERGHNABEBEZERENE—
FRkEEE -

D ERAE W B IEKETHE P Al {4
BRRTEN s (AT /%) M
ERFEBRBEMEBE DN GRFETT
BE - BEENRE © H R RT
HAEHMmE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)
Movement in the contract assets balances during the
year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

SNHRE ARGGR)

BE_ TN+ _HA=+t—HL*F
€ ANBEERHRNEHNT

Contract assets: SHEE:
HK$’000
FHET
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+F+-_A=+—H -
Reclassification from amounts due from REMNEBPEREELFE15501%
customers for contract work upon the WEWRPAENIRIEETDE
adoption of HKFRS 15 5,007
Reclassification from deposits, prepayments 7R 40 & 78 B 15 R &5 X B 51555 18
and other receivables WIS ~ FETFRIE K E A e R IE
upon the adoption of HKFRS 15 il 455
As at 1 January 2018 RZZE-NF—H—H 5,462

Rights of consideration for works
completed but not yet billed
Transfers from the contract assets

METREHARBELEEZNTE
i Y HR X (B 2 1 A 1,714
HREMRBENEEERZES

recognised to trade receivables FE W R IE (5,007)
Retention receivables released BEMIERRE S (459)
Retention receivables recognised ERRZIERIRE & 2,250
As at 31 December 2018 R_ZE-N\F+_A=+—H 3,964

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for
contract assets as at 31 December 2018 is as follows:

BHE_Z-N\F+ZA=+—H &
Ok EEANEENTAARKBERTHEN
I

HK$'000
TET

Within one year —F R

3,964

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract assets recognised are as follows:

Construction contract works

The Group’s contract works include payment schedules
which require stage payments over the construction
period once milestones are reached. These payment
schedules prevent the build-up of significant contract
assets. A deposit is typically payable up front and this
has resulted in a contract liability at early stages of
the project. This amount is included in contract assets
until the end of the retention period as the Group’s
entitlement to this final payment is conditional on the
Group’s work satisfactorily passing inspection.

HERABRANEESHEBREEN—
MRS fRFR T

ExanhIE
AEBGHNIRBREERYEAERS
BEEMNRONRAR(—BERER)
HENRERHUEBREAEGNEE -
BE—RETAS LEEEE VN
EEANARE RAKEESIEER
RENENRNAEETRETHEBR
BMETAEE B BRFTAEGHNE
E BEEREMERRL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES 18. BV EE &AfFE ()
(Continued)
Movement in the contract liabilities balances during the HE—_ZEZ—-NE+-_A=+—HI%F
year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows: B aHaEEHRNESHIOT
Contract liabilities: SRR :
HK$’000
FH&T
As at 31 December 2017 RZZE—+F+=ZHAH=+—H -
Reclassification from amounts due to RN E A IS ERIE1557R &K
customers for contract work upon the ERNEFPANIRREET»LE
adoption of HKFRS 15 374
Reclassification from accrued expenses and R ER 40 7 B 75 3R &5 22 B 51557 2 4
other payables upon iR REMEMNREESN S E
the adoption of HKFRS 15 16,750
As at 1 January 2018 RZE—NF—H—H 17,124
Consideration received from customers BEEFPREBBEEAKZSRE
over the amounts of revenue recognised 10,967
Revenue recognised during the year FABEERM = (10,468)
Deposits received from customers for EERCREPRBERIREZS
construction work released (16,750)
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZZE—NF+—_A=+—H 873

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Construction contract works

When the Group receives a deposit before the contract
work commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised
on the project exceeds the amount of the deposit. It is
common practice on the Group’s construction contracts
to require a deposit before work commences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

19. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 19. ¥ & FAf S ER EMEK

RECEIVABLES =i
As at
®
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
ZE-\E —E—tF
+=ZB=+—-B +tZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEL
Deposits Be 9,945 12,252
Prepayments B IR 3,657 3,614
Interest receivables FEUF B = 23
Other receivables Hofth fE W FRIE 8,026 -
Retention receivables EWRES =* 455
21,628 16,344
Less: Allowance for expected W BHEEEBEE
credit losses (15) -
21,613 16,344
Due to the adoption of HKFRS15, effective on 1 January 2018, * HRENE BT BREERFE155 (R =
the balance of retention receivables were reclassified to contract ET-NE—A—B&EWN)  BEWREBEL 2
asset (note 3(d) and 18). HREEHDEEEHEE (K300 R T
18) °
As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group’s RZE-NF+—ZA=+—"H K&
deposits mainly comprise reserve fund paid to BAA BriweTFTEBRES R MGE (B2 -
who is a related party of HBA until 20 April 2018 for E-N\NFOA-Zt+HAERA KK
aircraft management amounting to approximately ) SN EBAREUEIB2HER
HK$2,340,000 (31 December 2017: HK$4,680,000) & #72,340,0008 L (ZE—+F+ =
and deposits paid to subcontractor for construction H=-+—H 4,680,000/ jt) &M\ &
work amounting to approximately HK$5,000,000 (31 RIS BmE I 2% #5,000,000
December 2017: HK$5,000,000) respectively. BT (ZE—+HF+_A=+—8":
5,000,000/ 7C) °
The movement in the allowance for expected credit BAAEREMEWRZBBHEE
losses in respect of the Group’s other receivables is BREEBEEZEESEINMT
summarised as follows:
2018
—E-N\E
HK$’000
TET
As at the beginning for the year REH -
Allowance for expected credit ERAEHCEBRRE
losses recognised 15
As at the end of the year REL 15
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z—\F+-A=+—HLEFE

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. e RBITHE
Cash and bank balances comprise cash at banks and Re RRITEBLBIERT Eﬁ S BARE
cash on hand held by the Group. Bank balances earn FHEEAEN iﬁ £ RITEBEED g
interests at floating rate based on daily bank deposit B iR 1717 3R = LU B FI & gﬁﬂiﬂ
rates and is placed with creditworthy banks with no WHEBRRIHEENRLHE E ﬁt7r
recent history of default. ERIT ©
As at
»
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E—)\FE —E—+F
+=—A=+—8 T=-HA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 THET
Cash and bank balances B e KIRTTH 39,283 54,495
Bank deposits (note) RITF (M) 66,500 80,029
Cash and bank balances in the ERAE M BARR R WZ
consolidated statement of Be RIRITH
financial position 105,783 134,524
Note: Byt -
Deposits with bank carried interest at market rate which was RIBOZHERETHBANE (REBEE=Z2—N\F
approximately 1.2% to 2.3% (fifteen months ended 31 December 2017: +ZA=+—HLEFEHRETF1. 2%i2 3% (&
0.6% to 1.2%) per annum for the year ended 31 December 2018. irz%/ ))tﬁzf A=+—BL+HMEA :06%
Included in cash and bank balances in the consolidated HAGEASBMBIRRENIR S RIETTLHE
statement of financial position are mainly the following BIEBETNIABBEEZS 2 E
amounts denominated in currency other than the W AAN 7 EEREH{E 2 3RA -
functional currency of the entity to which they relate:
As at
3
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
— I\ —E—+tF
+-—R=+—H +=ZHA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FHAT
EUR BT 41 58
GBP e 20 21
RMB (note) AR (FFzE) 46 1,758
CAD mit = 1
JPY = - 88
SGD Frnig ot - 25
usD ETT 2,098 -
2,205 1,951
Note: Biat -
The amounts in RMB are not freely convertible into other currencies and ANEERIBEBAN B B %A H &8I = 348
subject to the foreign exchange control. PEE & | o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

21. TRADE PAYABLES

21. BHEMARIA

As at
»

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E—N\EF —F—+tF
+=ZA=+—8 +t-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Trade payables B 5N IR 16,021 22,774

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the
invoice date is as follows:

EOENFTEBERNBEZBHZEED
Wi

As at
»

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E—)\F —E—tF
+=ZB=+—H +-—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Current to 30 days BENERZ 30K 955 12,502
31 - 60 days 31—60X 2,703 7,384
61 — 90 days 61—90XK 788 1,764
Over 90 days 90K M F 11,575 1,124
16,021 22,774

The credit period on purchases of certain goods and
services is within 7 to 90 days.

E"f% Em kiR 2 IEERR/TEN
AR e

H R
SZ
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

22. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER 22 Bt RHEMEMTIE
PAYABLES
As at
i3

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—tF

+ZA=+—-0 T-A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FiET

Other payables H AT 50R 7,362 178

Accrued expenses [EEtB X 5,039 5,545

Receipt in advances U =* 20,474

12,401 26,197

As at 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s
receipt in advances mainly comprise deposits received
from customers for construction work amounting to
approximately HK$16,750,000.

Due to adoption of HKFRS 15, effective on 1 January 2018, the
balance of deposits received from customers for construction
work was reclassified to contract liabilities (note 3(d) and 18).

R-Z—+tF+-_A=+—H it A
AEEBERFREBEEZPERLETE WE
ER IR 4 4916,750,00078 7T °

HRRME BB REERFE155 (R =
- NF-F—BER  #EFUREESR
IRREZEHBCENHEEAHNAE (I
FE3(d) R i FE18) ©

23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. I &
Number of Nominal
Shares value
BRipE B H{E
HK$’000
FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SZREE0.018 T2
As at 1 October 2016, W-—ZE—XE+A—H -
31 December 2017 and —Z2—+t5¥+ZAR
31 December 2018 ZE+—HRZZE—I\F
+=-HA=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FRE1E0.018 70,2 ZHIK
As at 1 October 2016, R-—E—XRE+A—AH
31 December 2017 and —Z2—t%£+=AR
31 December 2018 E+—HRZE—I\F
+ZHA=+—H 500,000,000 5,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 24. BREREHE

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted on 13
August 2015 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Company
may grant share options to any directors, employees,
consultants, customers, suppliers of goods or services
to any member of the Group or any entity in which
the Group holds any equity interests who, in the
sole discretion of the board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the
Group so as to provide incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the success of the Group’s operation.

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of shares in issue from time to time. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue as
at the date of listing of the shares unless the Company
obtains the approval of the shareholders in general
meeting for refreshment.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options (whether exercised or
outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to (i)
each eligible participant must not exceed 1.0% of the
total number of shares in issue; and (i) a substantial
shareholder of the Company or an independent
non-executive director must not exceed 0.1% of the
total number of shares in issue and not exceed HK$5.0
million in aggregate value.

The exercise price must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant;
(i) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

RER-_ZFT-—AF/\AT=AKHZ
mAHER S (TR E) - A2A
AREZEE2ERNBER/ECHHHAX
SEZEERERFHERONAEH
ERK B QA RAKE A AR
WEMERNERNEZESE &8 - BF -
BP - Ems R BRI B AE
VABL I 55 75 5= [ 2 @ A D0 1F B BR
TR EZE s @ 3R -

RAR 18 8 P i 5t B S AN X RME (]
BREGFSCREMAFITENZH
WARITEBREETEMA TAER
BITNREERNEE A RXTEEB
TR E TN B EDN30% - RIFE
P #E 5t 8 Jo AN 1 B AE fa] H B8 A R At
SR RER KB IR FT S KRB (D 48
g IABEENKD ETHEBE ET
Pty B EE10%  RIFEADRBERK
RRE LEBRRBLETF -

PMERN218 A B3R R A P % B A AR
(T BT R ARTTEE) AT M %
TTRBETZROEE : (HASEE
R2EARL  AINSEBEBE HTKR
BB 21.0% : R)fdmARAEE
BRREBIFRTESTRE - BTE
BEEHTRNDEBZ01%EBET
BBELBEBT-

AIEBXAZL ARG R LB
EHBLEBRRERAY Z W MHE
WO REEREBHIIAER S B
EHMRAEBRARKERMY ZFH KM
B R EBEzZZSE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

24.

25.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Share Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will
expire on 12 August 2025 unless otherwise terminated
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

From 8 September 2015 (date of Listing) to 31
December 2018, no share option was granted by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in the
section headed “Directors’ Report” on pages 22 to 24.

DISPOSAL

LCL Limited

The Group disposed of LCL Limited during the year
ended 31 December 2018. On 20 April 2018, Smart
Builder Holdings Limited (“SBHL”) and an independent
third party entered into a sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which SBHL agreed to transfer the entire
issued share capital of LCL Limited at the consideration
of HK$100 to the independent third party. Since LCL
Limited was inactive, the disposal of it will not affect
the Group’s financial performance and business. The
net assets disposed of HK$112 which included cash
balance. As a result, there is a loss on disposal of a
subsidiary HK$12 and net cash outflow from disposal of
a subsidiary HK$12.

24,

25.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE

RRBR HE RS (4F)
B AR 5T B2 F 10 SN =

T_AFN\A+-BRHMERD KE
AT B RERT 8 2 IR LE -

RZE—RAFAANB(LEWHE)E
—E-NE+_A=+—8 ' ARQF
7 AR A B IR R 5T B IR () B R o

BRI E 2F BN FE2E248[E=F
SWE] —AWE -

HeE

LCL Limited
AEBEREZ2-_ZT—N\F+=A
=+— B EFEHELCL Limited ° A
—Z—)\FWMA=+8 ' Smart Builder
Holdings Limited ([ SBHL |) 81 — % &
NE=ZAFMUEBEEWHE - B ILSBHLEA
ERAE1008 T BLCL Limited#) 2 36
BETRAEETZBELE =T -H
FLCL LimitedE fF 1EE & - U HSLCL
Limitedi§ T2 g £ K& B M B 5K
MEB -FMBEEEZFERI2BT
EnpiERedsn Al DEWB
RAIMEBEARI2ETRLERE QA
REMHFEABIZBTT °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE-ZT-—N\F+A=1T—HILFE

25. DISPOSAL (Continued)
LCL Decoration Limited
The Group disposed of LCL Decoration Limited during
the year ended 31 December 2018. On 30 April 2018,
SBHL and an independent third party entered into a
sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which SBHL
agreed to transfer the entire issued share capital of LCL
Decroation Limited at the consideration of HK$91,000
to the independent third party. Since LCL Decoration
Limited was inactive, the disposal of it will not affect the
Group’s financial performance and business.

25. HE (i)

LCL Decoration Limited

AEEBERBE-ZE-—NF+=A
=+ —HB It FE HELCL Decoration
Limited e R=Z—N\FHA=+H -
SBHLEE —ZBUE=-FTLEEW
# B ILSBHLRA E & X {891,000/ 7T
#LCL Decoration Limited) & &5 2 3
TR AREETZBYE =7 - BHRLCL
Decoration Limited2 1% [FiE % @ 1
£LCL Decoration Limitedi§ 1~ & 5 £

AEBMMBERRLES -

(i) Consideration receivable (i) EEFE
2018
HK$’000
TFHETT
Total consideration received in cash and UIRERBEEEEY
cash equivalents WE 2 @8 91

(i) BEXLZHHEHREEERA

(ii) Analysis of asset and liability over which

control was lost 42
2018
HK$’000
FT#ET

Current assets mEEE

Cash B -
Tax recoverable AT Y B £ 18 92
Net assets disposed of BEHECEEFE 92

(iii) Result on disposal of a subsidiary

(iii) tHE&E—RIM B LB Z R

2018

HK$’000

T#ExT

Consideration received BRARE 91
Net assets disposed of BEHECEEFEAE (92)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWBARZEE (1)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

25. DISPOSAL (Continued)
LCL Decoration Limited (Continued)
(iv) Net cash inflow from disposal of a

25. H& ()

LCL Decoration Limited (&)

(iv HE—/MB 2 EZRLKA

subsidiary V-4 ]
2018
HK$’000
T#ERT
Total consideration received BUER 2 BR(E 91
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B EHECReERBESEE
disposal of @ -
Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMWEBARZESRA
F R 91
LCL Construction Limited LCL Construction Limited
The Group disposed of LCL Construction Limited AEBERBEEZE_ZE—N\E+ A
during the year ended 31 December 2018. On 31 May =+ —HILFEHELCL Construction
2018, SBHL and an independent third party entered Limited e "= — \FRHA=+—8 -
into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which SBHLEE —HZBIYE=AHFVLEEWH
SBHL agreed to transfer the entire issued share capital & 0 1B LSBHL[E & % £ {8180,000/%
of LCL Construction Limited at the consideration of 7T BLCL Construction Limited&) & &
HK$180,000 to the independent third party. Since LCL BRTRAEETZBIE =1 -H
Construction Limited was inactive, the disposal of it JALCL Construction Limited® 1% 1 &
will not affect the Group’s financial performance and % - B H ELCL Construction Limited#
business. TEREREENPBERIANLERS -
(i) Consideration receivable () EgfE
2018
HK$’000
T#ET
Total consideration received in cash and R MBS EEY
cash equivalents WE 2 8RB 180
(i) Analysis of asset and liability over which (i) HELIHHIZFIESETERA
control was lost &Z 5
2018
HK$’000
THET
Non-current asset ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WEREE -
Current assets RENEE
Cash " 1
Tax recoverable AT Y =l Fi 18 178
Net assets disposed of BHECEEFE 179
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

25. DISPOSAL (Continued)
LCL Construction Limited (Continued)
(iii) Result on disposal of a subsidiary

25. HE& ()
LCL Construction Limited (#§)

(iii) HE—EHB L B2 #E

2018

HK$’000

F#ET

Consideration received BURE 180
Net assets disposed of BEHECEEFEAE (179)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWBARZEE 1

(iv) Net cash inflow from disposal of a

(iv)] HE—RMELEZHLHA

subsidiary BEE
2018
HK$’000
FExT
Total consideration received BUER 2 R (E 180
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances BoBEHEZESR
disposal of ReEEMEH (1)
Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary HE—HERBATZES
AR 179

26. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP OF SUBSIDIARY 26. i B /A 5] 5k 15 48 1 Bj

On 12 July 2017, Smart Empire, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, BAA and
HBA, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a subscription agreement,
pursuant to which Smart Empire and BAA shall
subscribe for, and HBA shall allot and issue, 5,099,999
shares and 4,900,000 shares, respectively, at the
aggregate subscription price of HK$5,099,999 and
HK$4,900,000, respectively. Upon completion of the
share subscription, the Group’s equity interests in
HBA were reduced from 100% to 51%, resulting in an
increase in non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$4,170,000 and an increase in other reserve of
approximately HK$730,000.

On 13 April 2018, Smart Empire, BAA and HBA entered
into an acquisition agreement, pursuant to which Smart
Empire agreed to acquire 49% of equity interest in HBA
from BAA, for a cash consideration of HK$4,900,000.
Upon completion of the share acquisition, the Group’s
equity interests in HBA were increased from 51%
to 100%, resulting in a decrease in non-controlling
interests of approximately HK$5,838,000 and an
increase in other reserve of approximately HK$938,000.

R-ZE—tF+EA+=-8 EEIRK
(BARAzEEZ2EWNBAR) - &
BREMABEK (BERAAzcHESR
EWMB AR FTLRBGE B B
B3R Bk J% 90 B 95 Bl A5,099,9997%8 7T K
4,900,000 T2 BREBERE M=
A TS 9 Bl M) 5 B AR Bk K o B A
2 K %% 175,099,999 % K 4,900,0000%
R - RRBESFETKE  FEER
EMABEARAEZD B100%H 2=
51% » < FEVE f% # 2 32 I0 494,170,000
78 70 N L b 5% 8 38 AN £9730,000/8 TT ©

RZFE-NFOA+T=RA BEHR
BR-GBEEMABEHEEZLWER
& BRIt BERXFAER DB KRB
EMABHAONNERZ  RERER
4,900,000/ 7T ° 74 A% 17 W i 55 18 52 A
®BAEEREMLABEAORED B
51%IE I E100% » < FFEE R = %
4 #95,838,0007% JT K H il {7 45 18 0 4
938,000/ 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 27. HE AT
(@) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 @ MN-ZTE—N\EFE+-—_A=+—H=F
December 2018 are as follows: EWBRRZFBHOT
Issued and Proportion of
Class of fully paid  ownership interest and
share/ share capital/ voting rights held
Place of registered registered or by the Company Principal activities
Name of Company incorporation capital held  paid-up capital Directly  Indirectly  and place of operation

ERTR  FLURRKREEER
ik BRRE/ it 33 F4:4:

KEEE ERMAIME RA/EREF  EREMERS Ef Mg IERBREEHE
% %
SBHL BVI Ordinary 1 Share of 100 - Investment holding,
EBENES LER US$1 each Hong Kong
1RBRIZETRR REBK B
LCL Design Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 200,000 shares - 100 Provision of design,
A L&k of HK$1 each fitting-out and decoration
200,0008% services, Hong Kong
BRI TR REFE  REREHRY -
ik
LCL Interior Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 200,000 shares - 100 Provision of design,
ik Tak of HK$1 each fitting-out and decoration
200,0008 services, Hong Kong
BRIETRG RERE  REREHRS -
ik
LCL China Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 shares - 100 Provision of design,
Y EER of HK$1 each fitting-out and decoration
10,0008 services, Hong Kong
BTG RER  REREHRS -
&k
LCL Architects Limit ed Hong Kong Ordinary 3 shares of - 100 Provision of design,
HERREMARA Eh Lak HK$1 each fitting-out and decoration
SRERIB TR services, Hong Kong
}I{/\DXFI #ﬂk& ﬁﬁﬁhﬂ '
Eh
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

27.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
(@) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2018 are as follows: (Continued)

27. BB A F)FETS (1)
@ RZE—NF+ZHA=+—H=

ZMBREIZFRBOT - (&)

Issued and Proportion of
Class of fully paid  ownership interest and
share/ share capital/ voting rights held
Place of registered registered or by the Company Principal activities
Name of Company incorporation capital held  paid-up capital Directly  Indirectly  and place of operation
BRTR  soFREREHER
Frsk i #ERE/ REREZILA
ACER ERMAINE RA/EREF  EREAMERS Ef M TERBREEHE
% %

Thousand Profit BvI Ordinary 1 share of 100 = Investment holding,
International Limited KERUEE LER US$1 each Hong Kong
(note (i) 1RERIETRE REARK &

THRERARAA
GE)

Himalaya Business Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000,000 shares - 100 Provision of aircraft
Aviation Limited A &R of HK$1 each management services,
(note (i) 10,000,008 Hong Kong

ERURABNZEER BRIBTRA RUERKERRE &5
AN

Royal China Decoration Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 shares of - 100 Provision of construction
Engineering Limited BE AR HK$1 each and ancillary services,
(note (i) 10,000% Hong Kong

EREHIRERAFA BRUBTRR REREREERY TA
GE)

Royal China Bullion Hong Kong Ordinary 6,000,000 shares - 100 Trading of precious metal,
Investment Limited Bk LER of HK$1 each Hong Kong
(note () 6,000,000/% E¢EEE R

EPEERERRAA BR1BTRE
GE)
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HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

27.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

27. B 2 B (])

(@) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2018 are as follows: (Continued)

(a)

RZE—N\F+_A=+—H=E

ZMBRBIZFRBOT - (&)

Issued and Proportion of
Class of fully paid  ownership interest and
share/ share capital/ voting rights held
Place of registered registered or by the Company Principal activities
Name of Company incorporation capital held  paid-up capital Directly  Indirectly  and place of operation
BRfTR FOFMBAAEED
Frsk i #ERE/ REARELA
NEEHR ERMAINE RA/EREF  EREAMERS Ef ME IEXEBREEHE
% %

FIEFAEREREE  the PRC Registered capital  Registered capital - 100 Provision of aircraft

RAE (M) th SRER  RMB1,000,000 management services,
HMERARE the PRC
1,000,000 RERKEERS  PHE

Royal China International Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000,000 shares - 100 Provision of financial
Asset Management BE LR of HK$1 each senvices, Hong Kong
Limited (note ) 10,000,008 RELERRE BF

SREREEER BR1AETRG
BERAw ()

Royal China International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 shares of - 100 Provision of aircraft leasing
Aircraft Leasing Limited & AR HK$1 each and ancillary services,
(note (i) 1RERIBRN Hong Kong

EPERREEE RERERERRERS
BRAF (W) &k

Note: Wit -

0] These companies were incorporated during the fifteen (i) WERBRBE=T—tF+=

months ended 31 December 2017.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has (b)
material non-controlling interests:

(b)

The table below shows details of the non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group that have material

non-controlling interests:

27. B 2 B (])

BEAFRRES 22 ANE
AT ZHE -

TRETEBEAFERERZ
AEBEF2EMBRRZFIE:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting Profit allocated to Accumulated
and principal rights held by non- non-controlling non-controlling
Name place of business controlling interests interests interests
FRRERREE AET
ERETHER ZFREELR RS
£ IEERME RREZLH il RitknRED
As at Fifteen As at
I Yearended  months ended iy
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
BE HE
~E-N\E ZE-tf
ZE-\f ZT-+F F+IREt-B tZAZT-B ZB-NE ZEtF
tZAZ+-8 tZA=T-H L% IR +ZAZ+-B tZA=T-H
% % HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TiEn TERL
Himalaya Business
Aviation Limited Hong Kong
ESARABMERRAT BA - 49 1] 958 - 5127

Summarised financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interests is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

BREEEAERERZFE
BB AR M BENEEHD
WH-ATHMBENRERERE
BARRREMER S8R -
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27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 27.

(Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has
material non-controlling interests: (Continued)

Himalaya Business Aviation Limited

B B 2 B RE 18 (48)

b) BERFEEEDRZIFZEHNE
REZFHE  (8)

ERABAOEMERRAF

As at

®

31 December

2017

—E2—+tf

+=A=+—-H

HK$’000

FHET

Current assets MEBEE 29,686
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,863
Current liabilities nEEE (21,085)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company &2 1A A5 % 5,337
Non-controlling interests FERER 5,127
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BE_ZT—

NETZA=Z+—BLEE
27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has

(0)

material non-controlling interests: (Continued)

Himalaya Business Aviation Limited

(Continued)

27. B 2 B (])

BERGERERZIFZENE
REZFHE  (8)

ERANEAEMETRLAF (&)
Fifteen

months ended
31 December

2017
BE
—2-t¥
+ZA=+—-H
It+5EA
HK$’000
FTERT
Revenue WA 20,041
Profit for the period H 79 %5 7 465
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AR A #EE AE(LERE (493)
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests  JE12 AR 1 25 FE {5 35 7 958
Profit for the period H 79 %% 7 465
Other comprehensive income attributable to AN G A AL 42 @z -
owners of the Company
Other comprehensive income attributable to  JEEREREEE M2 BN -
non-controlling interests
Other comprehensive income for the period  Hi R E 4b 2 w25 -
Total comprehensive loss attributable to AARBEANELEEABRLESE (493)
owners of the Company
Total comprehensive income attributable to ~ EIRMRERSEE 2 E L8 958
non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income for the period HALEWEEE 465
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B FEERES R R -
Net cash outflow from operating activities Sy Dk (19,128)
Net cash outflow from investing activities WEEE e R R (796)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEH RS REATRE 25,131
Net cash inflow BERNFE 5,207
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A = =3

A B SRR T

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE-ZT-—N\F+A=1T—HILFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY
(a) Statement of Financial Position of the

28. FLFZ MK R R o 0
3]

(@) FL2FZMBRAR

Company
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
ZE-N\FE RZZET—LF
+=-—BR=+—H +=ZA=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 THERT FAT
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% « WE & & E 246 1,487
Interests in subsidiaries RIB AR Z R - -
246 1,487
Current assets mENEE
Prepayments and TE RO R E M
other receivables JFE U FR 18 1,910 1,925
Amounts due from subsidiaries J& Wi B A 7 B 68,549 15,624
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHE % 64,212 82,070
134,671 99,619
Current liabilities mERE
Accrued expenses Bt 1,163 2,590
Amounts due to subsidiaries &1 i B A 7K IE 55,164 8,424
56,327 11,014
Net current assets REEERE 78,344 88,605
Total assets less HWEER
current liabilities mE A | 78,590 90,092
Net assets HEPRE 78,590 90,092
Equity B
Share capital &% A< 23 5,000 5,000
Reserves 18 28(b) 73,590 85,092
Total equity attributable to ZF2T#EHA
owners of the Company Bz 78,590 90,092

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 26 March 2019.

On behalf of the board

LEONG Hing Loong Rudoff
REE

Director

EF

RZE-NEFE=ZAZ_+BEEEZ
e R AT o

RREFZS

CHEW Christina Mooi Chong
R gH
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 28. AN FIZHERIEZR#E iR
AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE S8 (8
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) FATFZGHiEEE
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
BB E RitEE e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET FET
As at 1 October 2016 RZE—R"F+H—H 109,834 (1,496) 108,338
Loss and total comprehensive  BRREIE N2 MH
loss for the period BB AR - (28,246) (23,246)
As at 31 December 2017 and RZEE—+F
1 January 2018 +=-A=+—H8xX
—=—N\&E—A—A 109,834 (24,742) 85,092
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREE LK EH
loss for the year BB AR - (11,502) (11,502)
As at 31 December 2018 R-E2—N\%F
+=-B=+—H 109,834 (36,244) 73,590
29. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 20 EEHERKIE
The Group as lessee XEREEESERBA
The Group entered into commercial leases on certain AEBERETHABFRESEESR]
office buildings and directors’ quarters. These leases VT HEHERE - ZSHETYH AEEHMm
have an average life of 2 years. None of the leases FoHEBTBESAEE -
include contingent rentals.
At the end of reporting period, the Group had total REERAR > NEBBENTREZ
future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable KEHETHREMN RIEHEERE
operating lease falling due as follows: N
As at
w®
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\EFE —T—+tfF
+-—BA=+—H +=-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Within one year —F K 2,809 10,912
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEERF
(BRERMF) - 2,438
2,809 13,350
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE_Z—\F+-A=+—HLEFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30.
TRANSACTIONS
Disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had entered into the following
material transactions with related parties during the
year/period:

(a) Transactions with related parties

ERMBLXS

BEAUBBRAERBEN A%
BB 9 SR 2T A T E A
%5

(a) BRRMBFEITIULZRR

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
B8F HE
— I\ —E—tF

+=A=+—8 t=A=1—§
LEE b TE(ES

HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET TETT
Rental expense paid to Well INTREBRAAFZ
East Limited (note(a)) e (@) 53 66
Rental expense paid to Pacific SN TERBRARZ
East Limited (note (b)) & 5z (Kt (o)) 1,459 1,824
Rental expense of the directors’ Xt F @ M AR
quarters paid to World Pioneer NAIZEBEEMER
Asia Limited (note (c)) X (M 3E(c)) 1,486 1,857
Aircraft management expenses ¥ H BEEL N YR
paid to BAA Jet Management NEIZ RETEERX
Limited (note (d)) <|3ﬁ #E(d) 16,340 13,009
Commission income received BEEFRE BRAZ %
from Royal China Group BRATKBRZAE
International Holdings Limited WA (M 5E(e))
(note (e)) - 7,735
Service income received from BBEREBERAA
Lucky Huge Investment WER 2 R 7 Mg A
Limited (note (e)) (P 3E(e)) - 234
Notes: Vokza
(a) Mr. LEONG and Ms. CHEW are the common directors and (@) s i&ﬂﬁti’jﬁz}g FIREERARA
shareholders of the Company and Well East Limited. Az HREEREE
(b) Mr. LEONG is the common director and shareholder of the (b) PEEABRNANGIRERERAR Y EEE
Company and Pacific East Limited. ERRE o
(c) Mr. LEONG and Ms. CHEW are the common directors (© DEERBALTHYARATRETREMNEG
and shareholders of the Company and World Pioneer Asia BAFZ HRESERRE -
Limited.
(d) The transaction constitutes continuing connected (d) EEXSBR IITHNEFNAZSE T2
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please BEBESS - NELE[EseRE R
also refer to “Continuing Connected Transactions” under (BB S | —58
“Report of the Directors”.
(e) National Business Holdings Group Co. Limited is the () Rt egaRATNAE T \F+
common shareholder of the Company and Royal China BH-tHBAA G EEhEEmBEEERE
Group International Holdings Limited and Lucky Huge fRA T e B s A AR A F LRI

Investment Limited until 20 July 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= - 23

N lb e bl N

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-ZT-—N\F+A=1T—HILFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Key management personnel compensation
Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the directors and certain
of the highest paid employees, as disclosed in
notes 10 and 11 are as follows:

30. ERRMBA X » ()

(b) EEEBARTH
BEBABME  BENMTE
ExHETEaFHFEE Z2FE (0
MIsE10 R 11 FRH EE) #HI T -

Fifteen
Year ended months ended
31 December 31 December

2018 2017
BE HE
ZE—N\F —E—+F

+=A=+—B t-A=+-H
LEE LT EEA

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#ET FATT

Fees e - -
Other emoluments, salaries EMe  FHaek

and other benefits H b 18 F 11,680 11,484

Pension scheme contributions RIKE B 79 78

11,759 11,562

Annual Report 2018 fE4R

181



182

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_Z-—N\F+-A=+—HILFE

31.

32.

33.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 31.

On 23 January 2019, Thousand Profit International
Limited (“Thousand Profit”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into the sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party pursuant to which Thousand Profit and the
independent third party agreed to acquire the entire
issued share capital of Smart Empire Global Limited
(“Smart Empire”) for an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$13,579,000. The completion of
the sales and purchase agreement has been taken
place on 28 January 2019 (the “Completion”). Upon
the Completion, Smart Empire had ceased to be an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the Company had ceased to have any interests
in Smart Empire and the results of Smart Empire and
its subsidiaries had been no longer be consolidated
with results of the Group. For details of the sales and
purchase agreement, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 23 January 2019.

On 28 February 2019, Sincere Sword International
Limited (“Sincere Sword”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and a borrower entered
into the loan agreement pursuant to which Sincere
Sword has agreed to grant the loan in the amount of
HK$40,000,000 to the borrower for a term of twelve
months from the effective date. For details of the loan
agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 February 2019.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS
9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition methods,
comparative information is not restated. Further details
of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in
note 2 to consolidated financial statement.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved

and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26
March 2019.

32.

33.

Royal China International Holdings Limited 2 ERERHRAE
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R-ZE—-—HNF—A=-+=H THH
BERAR([FT&]) (BEARRIZEE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M E

A summary of the published results and of the assets,
liabilities and equity of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018, fifteen months ended 31 December 2017

and the three years ended 30 September is as follows.

AEBREBEE_FT-N\NFEF+=_HA=1+—8
IFE HE-_T—tF+-A=+—H01
+TEEARBE-_ZTE—A"FNLA=FTHILE=
EFEMNETIREEREE  BEURER

BEAan R o

Fifteen
Year months
ended 31  ended 31 Year ended 30 September
December December HENLA=1THIEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
gE HE
+=A +=ZA
=+—8 =+—81Lt
ILEE THEA
ZE—N\F T+t ZT—XF —T—aF —T-@OF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Results & THET FAT FAT FAT FAT
Revenue U 55 187,314 157,397 116,021 159,527 113,786
(Loss)/profit before M FT1E R Al
income tax (E518) /% 7 (14,148) (6,290) 28,279 25,053 28,107
Taxation I8 (2,478) (2,982) (4,098) (4,103) (4,756)
(Loss)/profit for £,/HR
the year/period (6i#8),/ /&% (16,626) (9,272) 24,181 20,950 23,351
Attributable to: P57 88 -
Owners of the Company AR RIEA A (17,373) (10,193) 24,181 21,255 23,200
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F 1% fR 4 2% 747 921 - (305) 151
(Loss)/profit for £,/#R
the year/period (i) /&% (16,626) (9,272) 24,181 20,950 23,351
Annual Report 2018 fE4R
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
URLLE S

As at As at
31 31 As at 30 September
December  December RAA=FH
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
+=8 +=A
=+-8 =+-R

ZE-\E —ZT—+tF ZT-RF ZET—HF —ZT—NWNF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiHT FET FET FET

Assets gE
Non-current assets FERBEE 13,688 15,895 3,878 1,775 2,830
Current assets TEEE 146,317 185,692 169,195 162,434 81,207
Total assets BEME 160,005 201,587 173,073 164,209 84,037
Liabilities afA
Current liabilities mEBE 29,295 49,345 16,460 31,777 33,539
Total liabilities BELE 29,295 49,345 16,460 31,777 33,539
Net assets BERE 130,710 152,242 156,613 132,432 50,498
Capital and reserves BEXEHiE
Share capital P& A 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 621
Reserves i 125,710 142,151 151,613 127,432 47,423
Equity attributable to EREEB A

owners of the Company ~ JE{5#E % 130,710 147,151 156,613 132,432 48,044
Non-controlling interests  FF4Z% I 25 - 5,091 - - 2,454
Total equity Bigs 130,710 152,242 156,613 132,432 50,498
Note: Hiat -

The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 30 AREFHEE _ZT—"NFAA=ZTHIEIMEAFESFEN
September 2014 and of the assets, liabilities and equity as at 30 September BAEBELN - Z—NFEANA=ZTHNEE BELIE
2014 have been extracted from the Company’s prospectus dated 21 August HEENEHEARAARNBSHA-_S—AEN\A=-+—H
2015. ZHRER -

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial PR ET TR EEZGET BRI —D -
statements.
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